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BFIM LIMITED Page 1
DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors submit their report and the audited financial statements of BFIM Limited (“the Company”) for the
year ended 30 June 2010

Principal activity and review of the business

The principal actwvities of the Company are, and will continue to be, the holding of investments and to provide
finance to the Brambles Group

The Company berrows from and makes loans to businesses within the Brambles Group The Company Is
expected to continue this activity for the foreseeable future

The Company I1s a wholly owned subsidiary of the Brambles Group The Brambles Group is a global group
comprising Brambles Limited, a company incorporated 1n Australia and listed on the Australian Secunties
Exchange, and all its subsidiary undertakings

Key performance indicators

The Company 1s an investment holding company and all financing activities are with fellow group undertakings
within the Brambles Group The directors consider that key performance indicators for the Company are neither
relevant nor appropnate for an understanding of the development, performance or position of the business of the
Company, or Brambles

Results and dividends
The results for the year are set out in the profit and loss account on page 5

The Company has not paid an interim dvidend during the year (2009 € ni) The drectors do not recommend
payment of a final dividend (2009 € nil)

Financial nsk management

The Company 1 exposed to a vanety of financiai and market based nsks, including expasure to fluctuating
nterest and exchange rates  Standard financial derivatives are used to manage financial exposures in the
normal course of business in accordance with Brambles Group policies Dealings in financial derivatives are
restricted by Group approved delegated authorties No denvatives are used for speculative purposes
Derivatives are transacted predominantly with relationship banks, with individual credit imits assigned to those
banks thereby imiting exposure to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by a counterparty

Funding and iguidity

The Company's role within the Group 1s to provide funds for operations, primarnly from internal borrowings within
the Brambles Group Borrowings and lending are pnmarily in US dollar and euro  To minimise foreign
exchange risks borrowings are arranged in the currency of the relevant operating asset to be funded

Interest rate nsk

The Group's interest rate nsk policy 1s designed to reduce volatiity in funding costs through prudent selection of
hedging mstruments This policy compnises maintaining a mix of fixed and floating rate instruments within a
target band over a certain time horizon

Feoreign exchange nsk

The Group's foreign exchange exposures are managed from the perspective of protecting shareholder value
Under the Group foreign exchange policy, foreign exchange hedging is mainly confined to hedging transaction
exposures where they exceed a certain threshold, and as soon as a defined exposure arises  New expasures
may arnise with external parties or by way of cross-border inter-company transactions Forward foreign
exchange contracts are pnmarily used for these purposes

Other nsks and uncertainties

The prnincipal nsks and uncertainties facing the Company and the Brambles Group are described in the
Brambles Limited Annual Report 2010 page 13
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The following served as directors throughout the year

P Bruford
P Huart
R A Warren

Approved by the Board of directors
Signed on behalf of the Board

Ml

R A Warren
Director

Becember 2010
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BFIM LIMITED Page 3
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are responsible for prepanng the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under company
law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and
farr view of the state of affars of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period 1In
prepanng these financial statements, the directors are required to

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropniate to presume that
the Company will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting recards that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company's transactons and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors

So far as each director 1s aware, there is no relevant audit infformation of which the Company's auditors are
unaware and each director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make
himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that
information

Approved by the Board of directors
Signed on behalf of the Board

e

R A Warren Urut 2 Weyhridge Business Park
Director Addlestone Road
Addlestone, Surrey
December 2010 KT15 2UP
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BFIM LIMITED Page 4
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BFIM LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of BFIM Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010 which comprise
the Profit and Loss Account, the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses, the Balance Sheet, and
the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied in therr preparation 1s applicable
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Prachice)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibiities set out on page 3, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
far iew Our responsibility 15 to audit the financial statements in accordance with apphicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, Including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, in
giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom
this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent In
writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of
the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements
e gwve atrue and farr view of the state of the company's affairs as at 30 June 2010 and of its profit for
the year then ended,
+« have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, and
s have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion
» adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
recewved from branches not visited by us, or
+ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
certain disciosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

—
W wwaens
K Turner (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

| D“‘Decem ber 2010

Company Registration Number 5963809




BFIM LIMITED Page 5

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
For the year ended 30 June 2010
Note 2010 2009
€ €
Administrative expenses (346) {340)
OPERATING LOSS 2 (346) (340)
Foreign exchange gains 45,444 1,124,660
Interest recewable and similar income
- externat deposits - 130,939
- from fellow group undertakings 17,185,712 11,478,132
Interest payable and similar charges
- bank loans and overdrafts {45,017) (30,488}
- to fellow group undertakings {9,165,360) {15,508,137)
PROFIT/(LOSS) ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE
TAXATION 8,020,433 (2,805,234)
Tax on profit/{loss) on ordinary activities 3 (2,276,356} 759,116
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 6 5,744,077 (2,046,118)

The notes on pages 8 to 13 are an integral part of these financial statements A statement of movements on
reserves 1s set out in Note 6

All amounts in 2010 and 2009 derive from continuing operations

There 15 no difference between the profit/(loss) on ordinary actwvites before taxation and the retained
profitf(loss) for the year stated above and therr historical cost equivatents

Company Registration Number 5963809




BFIM LIMITED

Page 6
STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
For the year ended 30 June 2010
Note 2010 2009
€ €
Profit/{loss) for the year 5,744,077 (2,046,118)
Foreign currency translation differences
- on fixed asset investments 4 90,427,219 61,252,857
- on related loans {67,185,496) (46,403,499)
6,7 23,241,723 14,849,358
igIaL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES FOR THE 28,985,800 12,803,240

Company Registration Number 5963809




BFIM LIMITED Page 7
BALANCE SHEET
As at 30 June 2010
Note 2010 2009
€ €
FIXED ASSETS
Investments 4 1,47 1,390,960 1,380,963,741
CURRENT ASSETS
Amounts owed by fellow group undertakings 567,202,033 300,891,996
Cash at bank 759,592 -
567,961,625 300,891,996
CREDITORS amounts falling due within one year
Bank overdraft - (9,330,093)
Group relief payable (1,427,721} (1,135,737)
(1,427,721) (10,465,830)
NET CURRENT ASSETS 566,533,904 290,426,166
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,037,924,864 1,671,389,907
CREDITORS. amounts falling due after more than one
year
Amounts owed to fellow group undertakings (917,938,680) {580,389,523)
NET ASSETS 1,119,986,184 1,091,000,384
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capitai 5 110,351 110,351
Share premium 6 1,103,379,722 1,103,379,722
Foreign currency translation reserve 6 9,519,098 (13,722,625)
Retained earnings 6 6,977,013 1,232,936
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 7 1,119,986,184 1,091,000,384

The financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 7 December 2010

Signed on behalf of the Board of directors

P Bruf(;rd
Director

The notes on pages 8 to 13 are an integral part of these financial statements
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BFIM LIMITED Page 8

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2010

1 Accounting policies B

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis, under the historical cost convention and in
accordance with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards and the Companies Act 2006 The principal
accounting policies which have been adopted are set out below The functional and presentation currency is
euro

a) Basis of consolidation

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 from the
requirement to prepare and deliver group accounts as it 1s a wholly-owned subsidiary of Brambles Limited, a
company incorporated in Australia, which prepares group accounts

b) Income from shares in group undertakings

Income from shares In group undertakings 1s accounted for on the basis of dividends received In line with the
requirements of Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 16 ‘Current Tax', dividends received have been stated
excluding the related tax credit

c) Finance income and expenditure
Finance income Is recognised as income n the year in which it 1s earned Finance expenditure I1s recognised as
an expense in the year in which it 1s incurred

d) Financial Instruments

Dernvative instruments used by the Company, which are used solely for hedging purposes (ie to offset foreign
exchange and interest rate nsks), comprise interest rate swaps, caps, collars, forward rate agreements and
forward foreign exchange contracts Such derivative instruments are used to alter the nisk profile of the
Company's existing underlying exposure

As such instruments are used solely for hedging purposes, the Company defers the instrument's impact on
profit until it recognises the underlying hedged tem in the profit and loss account Interest differentials under
interest rate swaps, caps and collars are recognised by adjustment of the underlying interest recewable or
payable over the term of the agreement and as such are accrued to the profit and loss account on a time
apportioned basis Currency swap agreements and forward foreign exchange contracts are valued at closing
exchange rates Resulting gains and losses are offset against foreign exchange gams or losses on the related
borrowings or, where the instrument I1s used to hedge a committed future transaction, are deferred until the
transaction occurs and shown within debtors or creditors as approprate

The Company has derivative financial instruments with fair values at the end of the year of €102,559,566 (2009
- €119,407,929)

e) Investment in group undertakings

The investment in group undertakings 15 stated at cost less provision for any impairment An imparrment loss i1s
recognised when the recoverable amount of an investment is less than its carrying amount The Company's
investments are wholly owned subsichanes of the Brambles Group

f) Foreign currency translation

The Company applies net investment hedge accounting in accordance with SSAP 20 “Foreign currency
translation” to its fixed asset investments and related borrowings denominated in US dollars  Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation to closing rates are unrealised and are recognised through the statement
of total recognised gains and losses and the foreign currency translation reserve

Profit and loss account transactions n foreign currencies are translated into euro at the exchange rate in
operation on the date of the transaction Assets and llabiites denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into euro at the closing rate  Except as noted above, all revaluation differences and realised foreign exchange
differences are taken to profit and loss

Company Registration Number 5863809




BFIM LIMITED Page 9

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2010

g) Distributions

Dmdends to the Company's shareholders are recognised as liabilites in the period in which the dividends are
pad, in the case of intenm dividends, or approved by the Company's shareholders, in the case of final
dividends

h) Deferred taxation

In accordance with FRS 19, ‘Deferred Taxation’, deferred tax 1s fully provided in respect of tming differences
that have onginated but not reversed by the balance sheet date These are based on average tax rates that are
expected to apply at the time of the reversal, which will be the rates that have either been enacted, or
substantally enacted, by the balance sheet date No deferred tax 1s provided on permanent timing differences
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are regarded as more lkely than not, to be
recoverable Deferred tax on un-remitted earnmgs of foreign subsidizrnies 1s only provided If dividends have
been accrued as recevable or there 1s a binding agreement to distnbute past earnings in the future Deferred
tax balances are not discounted

i} Cash flow statement

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption permitted by FRS 1 {revised 1996) ‘Cash Flow
Staternents’ not to produce a cash flow statement on the basis that the ultmate parent undertaking, having a
100% contraoling influence, produces consolidated financial statements which are avalable to the public

2 Operating loss

The audit fees for the Company have been borne by Brambles Holdings (UK) Limited, a fellow group
undertaking, during the current and preceding years

The Company had no employees during the year (2009 nil) All admimstrative duties are performed by
employees of Brambles Holdings (UK) Limited and Brambles Limited {an Australian company), at no cost to the
Company

None of the directors received any emoluments or any other benefits as described in Schedule 5 to The Large
and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reparts) Regulations 2008 from the Company duning
the year (2009 nil)} All of the drrectors receive remuneration from Brambles Holdings (UK) Limited as
employees of that company and, due to the non-executive nature of their services, it 1s not appropriate to make
an apportionment of their emoluments in respect of the Company

Company Registration Number 5963809




BFIM LIMITED Page 10

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2010

3 Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities 2010 2009
‘€ €

UK current tax charge/{credit) on income for the year at

28% (2000 28%) 2,245,721 (785,466)

Adjustment in respect of prior years 30,635 26,350

Total tax charge/(credit) 2,276,356 (759,116)

The standard rate of taxation for the year, based on the UK standard rate of corporation tax, 1s 28% (2009
28%) The actual taxation charge for the current year differs from the standard rate for the reasons set out
below

Prcfit/{loss) on ordinary achvities before taxation 8,020,433 (2,805,234)
0,

;'g;;oa)tlon on profit/(loss} on ordinary activities at 28% (2009 2,245,721 (785,466)

Effect of

- adjustment in respect of prior years 30,635 26,350

Current taxation 2,276,356 (759,116)

4 Investments 2010 2009
€ €

Shares in group undertakings

Cost

At beginning of financial year 1,419,550,341 1,329,709,834

Additions - 28,587,650

Foreign exchange differences 90,427,219 61,252,857

At end of financial year 1,509,977,560 1,419,550,341

Provisions

At beginning and end of financial year {38,586,600) (38,586,600)

Net book value 1,471,390,960 1,380,963,741

Brambles U K Limited (BUK) 1s an investment holding company incorporated in England and Wales At 30
June 2010, the Company held 100% of the ordinary shares and voting nights of BUK and 100% of the US dollar
denominated non-voting preference shares of BUK

A full hsting of group undertakings as at 30 June 2010 i1s provided in Note 10

In the opmion of the directors the value of the investments are not less than their book value

Company Registration Number 5963809




BFIM LIMITED Page 11
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2010
5 Called up share capital 2010 2009
€ €
Authonsed
(13225000,000 (2009 100,000,000) ordsnary shares of €1 100,000,000 100,000,000
Allotted and fully paid
110,351 (2009 110,351) ordinary shares of €1 each 110,351 110,351
6 Movements in reserves Foreign
Currency
Share Translation Retained
premium Reserve Earnings
€ € €
At beginning of financial year 1,103,379,722 {13,722,625) 1,232,936
Foreign currency translation - 23,241,723 -
Profit for the year - - 5,744,077
At end of financial year 1,103,379,722 9,519,008 6,977,013

The foreign currency translation reserve arises from the revaluation at balance sheet rates of the Company's
investment In the US dollar preference shares of Brambles U K Limited, partially offset by exchange differences
arising on the Company's related US dollar borrowings Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) are recognised
through the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses n accordance with SSAP 20 “Foreign currency

translation”

7 Reconcihiation of movements in shareholders’ 2010 2009
funds

€ €
Forexgn currency translation 23,241,723 14,849,358
Profit/(loss) for the year 5,744,077 (2,046,118)
Net increase in shareholders’ funds 28,985,800 12,803,240
Openting shareholders’ funds 1,091,000,384 1,078,197,144
Closing shareholders’ funds 1,119,986,184 1,091,000,384

3 Related party transactions

]

In accordance with FRS 8 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, fransactions with other group undertakings of Brambles
Limited have not been disclosed in these financial statements as the Company 15 a wholly owned subsidiary of
a parent publishing consolidated financial statements There are no other related party transactions

Company Registration Number 5963809




BFIM LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2010

Page 12

| 9 Ultimate parent undertaking

-

The parent undertaking of the largest, and smallest, group for which group financial statements are prepared,

and the ultimate controfing party, 1s Brambles Limited, which 1s incorporated in Australia

The Company's immediate parent undertaking 1s BFIS No 2 Limited, which 1s incorporated in England and

Wales

Copies of all group financial statements are avaiable from Unit 2 Weybndge Business Park,
Addlestone Road, Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2UP

10 Group undertakings

Place of incorporation Holding Class of Shares

investment Holding Companias
Brambles U K Limited England and Wales 100%* Ordinary

100%* Preference
Brambles Europe Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Brambles Holdings (UK) Limited England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Brambles Investment Holdings Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Brambles Nominees Lid England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Cyan Logistics Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Miscellaneous activities
Brambles Enterpnses Lid England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Brambles Finance plc England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Brambles Investments plc England and Wales 100% Ordinary

100% Income
CHEP Internaticnal Inc USA 100% Ordinary
Technological and Management Services Ltd England and Wates 100% Ordinary
Pallet Pooling
CHEP UK Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
CHEP Ireland (branch) Ere 100% Branch
CHEF Maroc Sarl Morocco 100% Ordinary
CHEP Magyarorszag kft Hungary 100% Ordinary
CHEP do Brasil Ltda Brazil 100% Ordinary
CHEP Konteyner Ve Palet Ltd Sirket Turkey 100% Ordinary
CHEP Japan KK Japan 100% Ordinary
CHEP Taiwan Ltd Tawan 100% Ordinary
CHEP Argentina SA Argentina 100% Ordinary
CHEP Uruguay SA Uruguay 100% Ordinary
CHEP Osterreich GmbH Austna 100% Ordinary
CHEP SKSro Slovakia 100% Ordinary
CHEP (Thailland) Ltd Thailand 100% Ordinary
CHEP Automotive Logistics (Thailand) Limited Thalland 100% Ordinary
CHEP {Shanghat) Logistics Services Company Ltd China 100% Ordinary
CHEP Saudi Arabia Ltd Saudi Arabia 100% Ordinary
CHEP Canada Inc Canada 50% Ordinary
CHEP Chile SA Chile 50% Ordinary
CHEP Malaysia Sdn Bhd Malaysia 50% Ordinary
CHEP Mexico SA de CV Mexico 50% Ordinary
Services Corporativos CHEP SA de CV Mexico 48% Ordinary
CHEP Middle East FCZO UAE 100% Ordinary

Company Registration Number 5963809
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2010

10 Group undertakings {continued)

Page 13

Place of incorporation Holding Class of Shares

Information Management

Recall Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Recall Total Information Management Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Recall GQ Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Recall London Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Recall Shredding Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Recall Total Information Management (India) Pvt Ltd India 100% Ordinary
Recall India Information Management Pvt Ltd India 9% Ordinary
Recall Tawan Ltd Tawan 100% Ordinary
Brambles Holdings Sweden AB Sweden 100% Ordinary
Recall Holdings Sweden AB Sweden 100% Ordinary
Recall Sweden AB Sweden 100% Qrdinary
Recall Finland OY Finland 100% Ordinary
Recall AS Norway 100% Ordmnary
Recall A/S Denmark 100% Ordinary
Recall Deutschland GmbH Germany 100% Ordinary
Darec GmbH Germany 100% Ordinary
Recall Becker GmbH & Co KG Germany 50% Ordmary
Recall Becker Verwaltungesellschaft GmbH Germany 50% Ordinary
Inactive

BIS UK Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Brambles Secunties Lid England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Econofreight Heavy Transport Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Polybulk Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Rail Car Services Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
TMG Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Lastra GmbH Germany 100% Ordinary
Wrekin Roadways Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary

Holdings marked * are held directly by the Company All other holdings are held by subsidiary undertakings

Company Registration Number 5363809
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LETTER FROM THE
CHAIRMAN AND THE CEO

rambles’ performance for the 2010

financial year highlighted the Group's

resilience in challenging conditions.
Sales revenue was up 3% over the 2009
financial year, while free cash flow after
dividends increased strongly. Our operating
profit was up 1% and we continue to generate
a strong return on capital.

It has been a vear of leadership transition for Brambles InOctober
2009 the Board appointed Tom Gorman as CEQ after the retirement of
Mike Ihlein The Company has reorganised its leadership team to drive
devetopment of profitable growth opportunities and shareholder
returns in the years to come Qur two primary husinesses CHEP and
Recall prowvide a solid foundation on which we can build as they have
strong customer bases, market positions, competitive strengths and
graowth prospects

Brambles' financral position ts robust We strengthened cur funding
position during the year by completing a USS750 mtlion 1ssue into
the US 144A bond market and we have USS1 9 billion in commutted
undrawn credit facilities

Brambles’ net new business wins far the 2010 financial year were
USS53 million as we continued to expand our existing businesses and
enter into new sectors and geographies CHEP's expansion in regions
such as China India, Central and Eastern Europe and Latin America
was a highlight, as was the consistent growth in the Document
Management Solutions service line that underpinned Recall s strong
sales revenue Increase

In October 2009, we announced the Better Everyday program in CHEP
USA This program is now well underway The program represents a
significant upgrade in quality and service in the CHEP USA business

It 1s generating positive feedback from customers and net new
business wins since it began The program deals with three key areas
for CHEP USA building on our previous imtiatives o improve pallet
quality making it easier for customers to do business with us and
realigning our sales and marketing organisation

IMAGE OF GRAHAM KRAEHE
AND TOM GORMAN

DIVIDEND

The Board has declared a final dividend of 12 5 Australian cents per
share, 20% franked and payabte on 14 October 2010 to shareholders
on the Company s register on 22 September 2010 This took the total
dividend for the 2010 financiat year to 25 Australian cents per share
compared with 30 Australian cents per share for the 2003 financial
year, when there was a higher intenim dividend prior to the onset of
the global economic downturn The Board has retained the Dividend
Reinvestment Plan for the 2010 final dividend

BOARD AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In November 2009 John Mullen joined the Board as a Non-exacutive
Director John brings significant international logistics and business
experience from 15 years at DHL Express including five years as CEQ
Our thanks go to David Gosnell who retired from the Board in March
2010 after four years as g Non-executive Director to concentrate on
his executive role at UK-based premium drinks company Diageo plc

The Board reviews best practice in corporate governanee on an oagoing
basis Please refer to the Corporate Governance Statement on pages
18 to 30 for more details In lUne with its commitment to sustainable
bustness practices, Brambles will publish its 2010 Sustainability
Report on its website before the 2010 Annual General Meeting

SAFETY

Brambles' safety performance continued to improve during the 2010
financial year The 12-month rolling Brambles Injury Frequency Rate
(a combined measure of lost-time injuries modified duties and medical
treatments} was 21 9 per million man hours at 30 June 2010 This was
animprovement of 5% from 30 June 2009 There were no fataliies in
the period The Group remains committed toits goal of Zero Harm and
has developed a new three-year strategy focused on further improving
our overall safety performance

OUTLOOK

We have considerable opportunities to grow our business and
anticipate an increase 1n beth sales revenue and profit as economic
growth returns in our key markets

Moot A

GRAHAM KRAEHE AD
Chatrman

TOM GORMAN
Chief Executive Officer
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PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY

Resilient sales revenue performance
across all regions amid ongoing
challenging economic conditions.

B] SALES REVENUE BY BUSINESS UNIT

Strong cash flow reflects disciplined
capital controls and the underlying strength
of our CHEP and Recall businesses.

B Robust balance sheet position and
responsible financial management.

L4 bt

Net new business wins! of US$53 million,
reflecting strong performance of
established and emerging businesses.

B T s S R L L
S Y e

e s 2 2 A

Ve +

Bl Better Everyday program launched in
CHEP USA, delivering improved service
and quality standards.

%% CHEP Asia-Paciic USS391IM Bl CHEP Americas USS1.534M
s
B Recall US$740M CHEP EMEA US$1,483M

2009 % CHANGE % CHANGE
|G| e
RATES)
Continutng operations
Sales revenue 40186 3% -
Operating profit 7182 1% {31%
Profit from continuing operations 4340 2% %
Profit from discontinued operations 186
Proftt for the year 4526 (1)% [S5)%
Earnings per share (EPS) (US cents)
Basic EPS from continuing cperations 313 1% [3)%
Basic EPS 326 (2)% (6}%
Cash flow and balance sheet
Cash flow from operations 7224
Free cash flow after dvidends 1419
Net debt 21434
Net debt/EBITDA {times) 1B
EBITDA/net finance costs (times) 100
Gearing (net debt/{net debt plus equity}) 60 0%
Brambles Value Added (at fixed exchange rates} 2974
Total dwvidend (Australian cents per share} 300

1 Brambles defines net new business wins as the change in sales revenue in the period resulting from business wen ar lost in that perod and the previous 12 months

Net new business s calculated on a constant currency basis
2 Brambles calculates constant currency by transiating results inte US dollars at the exchange rates applicable during the prior correspanging period
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OPERATIONAL AND
FINANCIAL REVIEW

GROUP OVERVIEW

Brambles reported sales revenue of US$4 146 8 mullion for the
financial year ended 30 June 2010 up 3% on the prior corresponding
period Operating profit before finance costs and tax was

USs724 5 million up 1% Prafit after tax from continuing operations
was US5443 8 million, up 2%

Cash flow was strong, reflecting tight financial controls and a
reduction in capital expenditure Cash flow from cantinuing operations
ingreased USS159 9 millon to US$882 3 million Free cash flow after
dividends increased US$202 2 mullien to US$344 1 mitlion

The result n particular the strong cash flow performance and robust
balance sheet, highlighted Brambles’ stability and resilience during a
period of continued challenging economic conditions The Groupis
focused on driving the next phase of growth

Growth in sales revenue in the 2010 financial year of 3% was driven by
CHEP Europe Middle East and Africa (EMEA}, CHEP Asia-Pacific and
Recall, which offset the impact on the Group's financial results of a
decline in sates revenue in CHEP Americas Brambles delivered a 6%
increase in second-half sales revenue compared with the same period
n the 2009 financial year as established and developing regions
generated new business, balancing subdued underlying conditions

in some regions

Developing CHEP regions including China India Central and Eastern
Europe and the Middle East delivered particularly strong growth rates
Investment mn these CHEP regions is ongoing along with other growth
initiatives throughout the Group

The Better Everyday program has delivered a higher pallet quality
standard to CHEP USA customers This imtiative which began in
October 2009, has positioned CHEP USA for future profitable growth
and enabled it to regain positive sales momentum

Recall delivered strong prafit growth and an impravement in return
on capital Recall benefited from new sales conversion cost efficiency
programs undertaken in the prewious financial year and angoing strong
demand i 1ts Document Management Solutians service Line

Earnings per share of 31 8 US cents was down 2% This was lower
than the increase in profit from continuing operations due to the
inclusion of higher profits from discontinued operations in the 2009
financial year

NEW BUSINESS WINS

Brambles’ net new business wins in the 2010 financial year were
USS52 mullion reflecting a solid win rate in CHEP EMEA and CHEP
Asia-Pacific and a strong contribution from Recall The annuatised
value of net new business won during the period was positive in all
business units, totalling US575 millon Since the introduction of the
Better Everyday program n October 2009 the annualised value of net
new business wins for CHEP LUSA has been US518 rmillion

DIVIDEND

The Board declared a final dividend of 12 5 Australian cents per share
20% franked and payable on 14 October 2010 to shareholders on the
Company's register on 22 September 2610 Including the interim
dividend of 12 5 Australian cents per share total dividends declared
in the 2010 financial year were 25 0 Australian cents per share
(2009 30 0 Australean cents per share)

The Board kept the Dwidend Reinvestment Plan {DRP} active during
2010 The Board has set the price at which Brambles atlots shares
under the ORP as the anthmetic average of the daily volume-weighted
average sate price of all Brambles shares traded on the Australian
Securities Exchange in the ordinary course of trading during a
nominated 10 trading days less a discount of 2 5%
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SALES AND PROFIT SUMMARY

% CHAMGE % CHANGE
{ACTUAL [CONSTANT

EXCHANGE CURRENCY)
RATES)

Sales revenue

CHEP Americas 15336 15569 11}% (31%
CHEP EMEA 148286 14528 2% 1%
CHEP Asia-Pacific ase9g 3234 21% 3%
Total CHEP 34071 3,2329 2% {1}%
Recalt 7387 6857 8% 2%
Total sales revenue 41468 40188 3% -

Operating profit

CHEP Americas 2352 2290 3% {11%
CHEP EMEA 3249 2865 13% 11%
CHEP Agia-Pacific 778 579 4% 9%
Total CHEP 6379 5734 11% 6%
Recall 1231 959 28% 19%
Brambles HQ {365} 489

Operating profit 7245 7182 1% 31%
Net finance costs {109 6) {1209) 9% 11%
Profit before tax 6149 5973 3% (2)%
Tax expense (1710) (163 3} (5)% 3%
Profit from conttnuing operations 4439 4340 % 1)%
Profit from discontinued operations 49 186

Profit for the year 448 8 4526 (1)% (5)%
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 14113 13883

Basic EPS! (US cents) 318 326 (2)% 6)%
Basic EPS! (Australian cents) 361 437 (17)% (6)%

L Farnings per share ncludes discontinued operatians
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OPERATIONAL AND
FINANCIAL REVIEW
CONTINUED

Underlying profit?

% CHANGE
{ACTUAL
EXCHANGE

RATES)

Underlying profit

% CHANGE
(CONSTANT
CURRENCY)

CHEP Americas 2371 434 4 (45)% (47)%
CHEP EMEA 3285 3275 1% (1}%
CHEP Asia-Pacific 784 611 28% 5%
Total CHEP 6450 8230 (22)% {25)%
Recall 1246 104 3 19% 11%
Brambles HO (36 2} (267) {36}% (9%
Underlying profit 7334 800 6 {19)% (22)%
Net finance costs {109 6) {120 9} 9% 11%
Underlying profit before tax 6238 7797 (20)% (24)%
Tax expense (173 6) {245 4) 29% 4%
Underlying profit after finance costs and tax 4502 5343 (16)% (19)%
Underlying EPS {US cents) 319 s {17)% (201%
ROCI 17% 21%

Brambles Value Added (BVA) at fixed exchange rates 2154 2974

Reconciiation of Underlying profit to operating profit
UsSsM

010

—

REFORE TAX BEFORE TAX

Undertying profit 7334 4502 9006 53413
Significant items
CHEP USA - pallet quatity program - - (77 4) {471)
CHEP USA - Walmart net transition impact - - (290 (177)
Restructuring
Facilities and operations rationalisation (11 4} {78} (54 3) (46 0}
CHEP USA accelerated scrapping of 7 million surplus pallets 25 15 (99 0} (60 3}
FX gain on capital repatriation from foreign subsidiary - - 773 773
Other - - - (65}
Total Significant items {89) {6 3) (182 4) (100 3)
Operating profit 7245 4439 7182 4340

Signuficant items

In response to the chaltenging economic environment in 2009, Brambles implemented a number of initiatives to improve Its cost structure
underpin future operating performance and meet customer reguirements The casts incurred n 2010 represent the conclusion of these initiatives

2
{US$8 9 million in the 2010 financial year US$182 4 mullion in the 2008 financial year)

The difference i growth rates between operating profit and Underlying profit reflects the impact of Sigmficant items recognised outside of Underlying prafit
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BUSINESS UNIT OPERATIONS REVIEW

CHEP AMERICAS
2008 | % CHANGE | % CHANGE
USsM (ACTUAL | [COMSTANT
EXCHANGE |CURKENCY)
RATES]
Sales revenue 15336 15569 {1}% (3%
Operating profit 2352 2290 3% {1)%
Operating profit margin 15% 15% Opp Opp
Sigrificant items
Pallet quolity program - 774
Walmart net transition impact - 230
Restructuring - focilities and
apergtions 44 -
Accelerated pallet scrapping {2 5) 930
19 205 4
Underlying profit 2371 4344 (45)% {47)%
Underlying profit margin 15% 28% {13jpp {13)pp
Cash flow from operations 2857 2670
ROCI 14% 26%
SALES

CHEP Americas sales revenue was USS1 533 6 million, down 1% on
the prior corresponding period as continued growth in CHEP Canada
CHEP Latin America and LeanLogistics partially offset a decline in
sales revenue in CHEP USA

CHEP USAs sales revenue was down 5% reflecting a reduction in
pricing and mix {2%) and pallet 1ssue valumes {3%) The lower pallet
1ssue volurnes comprised a decline in organic 1ssue volumes (2%} and
the impact of tost business {1%}

CHEP Canada’s sales revenue was up 12% as 1ssue volumes rose
CHEP Latin America s salas revenue was up 7% on volume growth
throughout the region LeanLogistics delivered a 9% increase in sales
revenue as (t continued to expand

CHEP Americas net new business in the year was negative

USS9 million However the annualised value of business won in the
2010 financial year was positive at US$2 million CHEP USA wan
new or expanded business during the year with more than 1,000
customers as it extended its reach with small and medium-sized
customers CHEP USA won business during the year with major brands
including consumer lLawn and gardening products company Scott s
Miracle-Gro and fresh fruit and vegetable praducer Del Monte The
annualised value of net new business in CHEP USA since the
introduction of the Better Everyday program in Qctober 2009 has
been US518 miltion

PROFIT

CHEP Amenicas eperating profit was US$235 2 mithion up 3% from the
2009 financial year Underlying prefit was USS$237 1 milbon down 45%
on the prior corresponding period The difference between operating
profit and Underlying profit primarity reflects the impact of the
LUS5205 4 nullion of Significant stems that CHEP Americas recognised
in the 2008 financial year from CHEP USA quality investments
Walmart transition costs and accelerated pallet scrapping In the 2010
financial year, CHEP Americas recognised quality investments within
Underlying profit, rather than as Significant items Quality investments
in CHEP USA in 2010 totalled US$108 5 mitlion comprising

US537 0 million of investment under the USA pallet quality program
and USS71 5 million of investment under the Better Everyday program
US$8 5 million below the October 2009 estimate

Oirect costs rose in the 2010 finaneial year, primanly as aresult

of a US$19 3 miluon increase in costs from storing handling and
transparting dle pallets in CHEP USA The average number of idle
pallets for the year was approximately 4 million There were also costs
assoclated with converting customers from new to repaired pallets

Costs associated with the irrecoverable pooling equipment pravision
{IPEP) were higher than trend in the first half of the 2010 financial
year reflecting the outcomes of audits cempleted in the period
These costs returned to trend in the second half

CHEP USA has completed the accelerated scrapping of 7 milion excess
pallets that Brambles announced in February 20409 This was 12 months
ahead of schedule and US$2 & million below management s oniginal
estimate

CASH FLOW AND RETURN ON CAPITAL

CHEP Americas increased its cash flow from operations by

US$18 7 muldion aver the prior corresponding period to US$285 7 millien
This reflected favourable working capital movements and lower capital
expenditure mare than offsetting the lower Underlying profit

CHEP USA further reduced its commitment to buying new pallets
during the period The higher quality of the repaired pool enabled more
customers that had previously required new pallets to transfer their
volumes to repaired pallets CHEP USA atso reduced the proportion of
impaorted customer volumes that used new pallets

Return on capital invested was 12 percentage points lower at 14%
reflecting the reduction in Undertying profit

QUALITY INITIATIVES

The Better Everyday program to imprave quality and service within
CHEP USA is driving an improved performance reflected in the positive
win rate since the program began and an ongoing reduction in customer
pallet rejections CHEP USA 1s now delivering 100% of all1ssues at

the US Plus repair specification or higher altheugh demand for the
higher US Premium repair specification remains lower than originally
anbicipated As aresult Brambles expects ongoing costs of the Better
Everyday program from the 2013 financial year to be US$25 million

per annum
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OPERATIONAL AND
FINANCIAL REVIEW
CONTINUED

CHEP EMEA

% CHANGE | % CHANGE
{ACTUAL | {CONSTANT

EXCHANGE | CURNENCY)

RATES)
Sales revenue 14826 14528 2% 1%
Operating profit 3248 286 5 13% 11%
Operating profit margin 22% 20% 2pp 2pp

Significant items
Restructuring — fociities

CHEP ASIA-PACIFIC

% CHANGE % CHANGE
{ACTUAL | [CONSTANT

EXCHANGE | CURRENCY)
RATES)

Sales revenue 809 3234 21% 3%
Operating profit 778 579 34% 9%
Operating prafit margn 20% 18% 2pp 1pp

Significant iterms
Restructurmg - foolities

and gpergtions 46 410 ond operations 06 32

Underlying profit 3295 3275 1% 1}% Underlying profit 784 611 28% 5%
Underlying profit maorgin 22% 23% {1)op {1)pp Underlying profit morgin 20% 18% 1pp Opp
Cash flow from operations 4117 3727 Cash flow from operations 941 98

ROCI 23% 23% ROCI 21% 19%

SALES SALES

CHEP EMEAs sales revenue was up 2% compared with the prior
corresponding period at US$1,482 6 millen CHEP Europe s sales
revenue was in line with the prior carresponding period as net new
business wins offset a decline in pallet sales revenue n the UK and
Spain and a slow rate of recovery in the automotive sector

CHEP Central and Eastern Eurcpe delivered a 24% increase In sales
revenue as a result of ongoing business expansion CHEP Middie East
and Africa increased sales revenue by 28% as volumes continued to
grow strongly

CHEP EMEASs net new business wins were US$30 mitlion In June
2010 CHEP announced its fiest major pallet supply contract in Turkey
with Unilever CHEP has also reached agreement on cammercial terms
to supply Procter & Gamble i Turkey During the 2010 financial year,
pallet business expansion included British Sugar In the UK as well a5
paper product manufacturer Sofidel and oils distributor Bunge n
Poland The annualised value of net business CHEP EMEA won during
the period was US$39 million

PROFIT

CHEP EMEASs operating profit was U$5324 8 million up 13% reflecting
the cost impact of faciities and operations rationatisation in the 2008
financial year Underlying profit was up 1% to US$329 5 milllon Cost
efficiencies largely affset increased investment in the quality of the
European pallet pool Costs associated with the IPEP returned to trend
in the second half having been higher than normal in the first hatf

CASH FLOW AND RETURN ON CAPITAL

CHEP EMEASs cash flow from operabions was US$411 7 million up
1S538 0 million from the prior corresponding period reflecting lower
capital expenditure and strong warking camtal controls Returnon
capital Invested was in ling with the 2008 financiat year at 23%

CHEP Asia-Pacific s sales revenue was US$390 8 million up 21% on
the prior correspending period, reflecting the strength of the Australian
dollar and strong sales growth in China Sales revenue from China was
US$5 8 mullion higher on Increased sales volumes to both the fast-moving
consumer goods and automotive sectors In CHEP Australia there was
continued expansion of the reusable plastic containers and disptay
pallet businesses Sales revenus from both the pallets and automative
contamner businesses increased in CHEP India and CHEP South East Asia

CHEP Asia-Pacific's net new business wins for the perod were
US515 million reflecting ongoing wins throughout the region The
annualised value of net business CHEP Asia-Pacific won duning the
penod was USS11 mullion Custormners with which CHEP Australia
secured new or extended business n the period included Primo Small
Goods and drinks manufacturer Fryers

PROFIT

CHEP Asia-Pacific’s operating profit was US577 8 million up 34%
compared with the prior cerresponding period, reflecting higher sales
revenue and the cost of Sigmificant rtems from facilities and operations
rationalisatton in the 2009 financial year The benefit of this
rationabisation In cost efficiencies and reduced overheads in the 2010
financial year largely offset higher depreciation costs in Austratia and
China resulting from capital nvestment in recent growth initiatives
Undeslying profit was US$78 4 million, up 28%

CASH FLOW AND RETURN ON CAPITAL

CHEP Asia-Pacific's cash flow from operations was US$94 1 million
up US584 3 million compared with the prior correspanding period
This reflected the increase in profit and lower capital expenditure
given the rollout of reusable plastic containers contracts in the 2008
financial year Return on capital invested increased 2 percentage
points 10 21% reflecting the increased profit
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RECALL

% CHANGE % CHANGE
[ACTUAL { {CONSTANT

EXCHANGE | CURRENCY)
RATES)

Sales revenue 7387 6857 8% 2%
Operating profit 1231 959 28% 19%
Operoting profit morgin 17% 14% 3pp 2pp
Significont items

Restructuring - focilibes

and operations 15 g4

Underlying profit 1246 104 3 19% 11%
Underlying profit margqin 17% 15% 2pp 2pp

Cash flow from operations 1217 10649

ROCI 13% 12%

SALES

Recall's sales revenue was US5739 7 million, up 8% compared with
the prior corresponding period Carton volume growth was 6% in

the Document Management Soluttons {DMS} service line This was
partially offset by a decline in volumes in the Secure Destruction
Services {SDS) service ine Sates revenue excluding SDS was up
10% At 30 June 2010, world paper prices had returned to pre-Global
Financial Cnsis levels, which improved SDS recycled paper revenues
in the second half of the 2010 financral year

Recall s net new business for the peried was US$17 million reflecting
strong sales momentum, paritcularty in the DMS service line The
annualised value of Recall s net business won in the 2010 financial
year was US523 million

PROFIT

Recall's operating profit was US5123 1 million up 28% compared with
the prior corresponding period reflecting the higher sales revenue the
cost of facilities and aperations rationalisation in the 2003 financial
year and the benefits of this rationabisation in the 2010 financial year
Investments in infarmation technolagy and marketing were higher

in the 2010 financial year Underlying profit was US$124 6 million,

up 19%

CASH FLOW AND RETURN ON CAPTITAL

Recall's cash flow frem operations was USS121 7 million up
US$14 8 million compared with the prior corresponding period
reflecting the .ncreased profif Return on capital invested increased
1 percentage point to 13%

ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment
(accruals basis)

USsM 2010 l 2008 | CHANGE
CHEP Americas 2045 2908 863
CHEP EMEA 1732 2344 612
CHEP Asia-Pacific 670 927 257
Totat CHEP 4447 6179 1732
Recatl 538 524 {14)
Brambles HQ 03 21 18
Total capital expenditure 488 8 6724 1736

Capital expenditure was US$498 8 million down US$173 6 million
compared with the prior corresponding period This predominantly
reflected a reduction in pallet purchase requirements in CHEP USA
and CHEP Europe and the investment in the prior correspending period
n the Australian reusatie plastic container business

Tota! pallet capital expenditure was USS349 7 millon compared
with US5462 1 million in the prior corresponding peried Other capital
expenditure related primarily to supperting growth in Recall and
CHEP s expansion into developing regions

Cash flow
I Y T )
Underlying profit 7334 9006 (16772)
Significant items within ordinary

activities — {106 4) 106 4
Depreciation and amartisation 4440 4184 256
EBITDA 11774 1,2126 (35 2)
Caprtal expenditure (486 5} 683 8) 1873
Proceeds from disposals 880 1046 (16 6)
Working capital movement 147 258 (11 1)
Irrecoverable pooling equipment

provision 1112 978 134
Provistons/other {12 5) {34 6) 221
Cash flow from operations 8823 7224 1599
Sigruficant items outside erdinary

actvities (521} (499} 22)
Cash flow from operations

(incl Significant items) 8302 6725 1577
Financing costs and tax (281 6} (253 0) (28 6)
Free cash flow 54886 4195 1291
Dmidends paid {204 5) (277 6) 731
Free cash flow after dwvidends 3441 1419 2022

Cash ftow from operations increased US$159 9 million to

USS$882 3 million as lower capital expenditure maore than offset the
reduction n EBITDA Free cash flow was up U$$129 1 million to
US5$548 6 millton This was more than sufficient to cover dividends
paid of US5204 5 million, leaving free cash flow after dividends of
US$344 1 million up USS202 2 mitlion
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OPERATIONAL AND
FINANCIAL REVIEW
CONTINUED

Lower proceeds from disposals reflected a reductian in compensations
from customers for irrecoverable equipment

Brambles continues {o manage working capital tightly Average
debtors days fell to 45 days in the year from 46 days in the prior
corresponding period

Significant items included spending on facilities and operations
rationalisation throughout Brambles and accelerated pallet scrapping
in CHEP USA

Brambles Value Added (BVA)

In 201C Brambles continued to focus on the use of BVA which ferms
the core component of short term incentive arrangements for atl senior
executives Including Executive Directors

USSM AT FIXED JUNE 2009 FX RATES 2010 m

CHEP Americas 381 1385 {100 4)
CHEP EMEA 1653 1598 55
CHEP Asia-Pacific 2872 262 20
Total CHEP 2316 3245 (92 9)
Recall 90 64 154
Brambles HQ (252) (207) {4 5}
Total BVA 2154 2974 (82 0)

BVA for continuing operations was US$215 4 million in the 2010
financtal year, a decrease of USS82 O million on the 2009 financial year
at fixed June 2009 exchange rates The reduction primarily reflected
the decline in profitability in CHEP Americas

In CHEP Amencas BVA was LS$38 1 million, down US5$100 4 rrutlion,
hecause of a reduction in sales increased costs gssociated with pallet
storage and quality initiatives and an increase 1n the irrecoverable
pooling equiprment provision expense Average Capital Invested
increased bacause of the impact of excess pallet holdings in CHEP
USA This increase, combined with the lower profit resulted 1n ROCL
of 14% for CHEP Americas, down from 26% in the previous
correspondirg period

In CHEP EMEA, BVA grew USS5 5 million to US$165 3 million This was
primarily due to a reduction in Average Capital Invested driven by a
reduction in pallet haldings and tight working capital management
CHEP EMEA s ROCI remained at 23%

CHEP Asia-Pacific s BVA increased L1552 0 millien to US28 2 million
driven by the growth in new business in Australia, Chwna and India
ROCI increased to 21%

The largest increase in BVA was in Recall where BVA increased by
US3$15 4 million to LSS D mullion as sales growth and the benefits
of restructuring drove an increase in Underlying profit Recall s
ROCI increased to 13%

Finance costs

Net finance costs were US5108 6 millon down from US$120 9 nilion
in the 2009 financial year The reduction in net finance costs reflected
lower borrowings and lower benchmark interest rates, partially offset
by higher borrowing margins and fees on debt refinanced during the
2009 financial year

Tax

Brambles' effective tax rate apply:ng to both operating profit and
Underlying profit for the 2010 financial year was 27 8% This was
broadly in ine with the 27 3% rate that applied to operating profit and
lower than the 31 5% rate that applied to Underlying profit in the 2009
financial year The reduction in the effective tax rate on Underlying
profit was primarily a result of the net reversat of tax provisions
following the receipt of a tax ruling and the resolution of an open tax
1ssue, which allowed the Group to benefit prior year tax losses
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STRATEGY AND GROWTH

As 1t moves into the 2011 finangial year Brambles has increased its
emphasis on innovation and has a number of areas of strategic focus
to pursue profitabie growth opportunities that are expected to deliver
strong returns for shareholders

These areas of focus include

— further expanston in all regions into new praducts and platforms

- opngoing investment in CHEP tn emerging regions,

— utilising CHEP s extensive network in the USA to increase
penetration with small to mid-sized customers

- expansion of CHEP's automotive business into unpenetrated regions
and intercontinegntal flows,

- expansion of LeanLogistics, inctuding internationatly, and

= continued growth in Recall's document management business
and digital capatility

Emerging regions have been an increasingty important contributor to
CHEP s sales revenue over recent years The business plans to continue
to increase its investment in these regions to participate in high-growth
econormes worldwide

CHEP USA 15 building upon recent initiatives that addressed some
1ssues with 1ts products and services to existing customers and
entering a renewed growth phase A key focus will be on small to
mid-sized customers, which are underserved today CHEP's network
scale and experience positions it strongly to address this cpportunity

CHEP will cantinue to explore opportunities to roll out vaniations to
its existing pallet offerings and non-paltet platforms m all its regions
This opportunity 1s particutarly clear in those regions in which CHEP
has historically been focused on ane or two products only

CHEP can also leverage the global position of its existing multi-
domestic businesses — particularly those in which inter-country or
inter-continental flows play a brg part The first step in this effort 15
the establishment of a global automotive business to link the existing
domestic automotive businesses that CHEP has around the world

Brambles is also expanding the global footprint of LeanLogistics,
the transport management business it acquired in 2008, and further
integrating LeanLogistics into the logistics functions across CHEP

Recall has successfully accelerated its growth and improved its
performance over the past three years Its compound annual sales
revenue growth rate 1s 6% over the past six years and all regions are
contributing to that growth This is expected to continue into 2011

In particular organic volume growth in the Document Management
Solutions service line has heen the underpinning driver for Recall in
recent years This service line remains a significant opporturity for

Recall as it I1s under-penetrated

Today there s also a significant complementary opportumty for Recall
to work with clients to meet their digitat needs - as there has been an
explosion Iin the volume of data that needs to be managed
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TREASURY AND
RISK REVIEW

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Brambles manages its capital structure so as to maintain a solid
wvestment grade credit rating At 30 June 2010 Brambles held
investment grade credit ratings of BBB+ from Standard & Poor s
and Baal from Moody's Investor Services

In determiming its capital structure Brambles considers the
robustness of future cash flows, potential funding requirements for
growth opportunities and acquisitions the cost of capital and ease of
access to funding sources Initiatives available to Brambles to achieve
its desired capital structure include adjusting the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, returning capital to shareholders, buyng-back
share capital 1ssuing new shares selling assets to reduce debt and
varying the matunty profile of borrowings

Brambles has adopted a financial policy to target a net debt to EBITDA
ratio of less than 1 75x to 1 At 30 June 2010 the ratio was 1 5xtol

During the year ended 30 June 2010 (Year] Brambles continued to
operate a Dividend Reinvestment Plan The participation rate for each
of the 2008 finat dvidend and the 2010 interim dividend was 37%,
which resulted in US$120 million of cash being retamned within the
business in the Year

TREASURY POLICIES

Brambles' treasury function is responsible for the management of
certain financial risks within Brambles Key treasury actwities include
Liquiehty management interest rate and foreign exchange risk
management and securing access to short and long term sources of
debt finance at competitive rates These actwvities are conducted on
a centralised basis in accordance with Board policies and guidelines,
through standard operating procedures and delegated authorities
These policies provide the framework whereby Treasury arranges
and implements lines of credit from its financiers, selects and deals
in approved financial dervatives for hedging purposes and generally
executes Brambles' financial strategy

Brambles' policies with respect to interest and exchange rate risk
and appropriate hedging instruments are described below and further
information 1s contained in Note 29 (pages 96 to 103} including a
sensitivity analysis (page 98 and page 100) with respect to these
financial instruments

Standard financial derivatwes are used by Brambles to manage financial
exposures in the normal course of business No derivatives are used for
speculative purposes Derivatives are transacted predominantly with
relationship banks which have a reasonable understanding of Brambles
business operations Individual credit Limits are assigned to those
banks thereby limiting exposure to credit-related losses in the event

of non-performance by a counterparty

Treasury prepares formal reports each month, which are circulated to
the Chief Financial Officer and ather senior finance executives These
reports include key Treasury statistical and sensitivity analysis funding
utilisation/capacity and commentary on other sigmficant matters

FUNDING AND LIQUIDITY

Brambles funded its operations during the Year through existing equity
retained cash flow and borrowings Funding 1s generally sourced from
relationship banks and debt capital market mvestors on amedium to
long term basis Operating leases are also entered into for office and
operational locations and certain plant and eguipment

Bank borrowing facilities are generally structured on a mulb-currency,
revolving basis and currently have maturities ranging to December
2013 Borrowings under the facilities are floating-rate unsecured
obligations with covenants and undertakings typical for these types
of arrangements

Net debt at 30 June 2010 was US551,759 3 million down

US$384 1 mitlion from 30 June 2009 reflecting the significant cash

generated from the business and lower divicend payment Net debt

has now reduced by USSE66 3 million over the last two financial years

which provides added financial flexibility for the Group i

To further diversify funding sources and lengthen maturities Brambles

raised USS750 million in the Urited States 144A bond market in March

2010 The note issue compnsed USS500 million ten year notes and }
US$250 million five year notes and the proceeds were used to repay

bank borrowings

The average term to maturity of total credit facilities increased from
33 years at 30 June 2009 to 3 6 years at 30 June 2010

Key financial ratios continue to reflect the strong balance sheet position
and remain well within the financial covenants inctuded in Brambles
major financing agreements with net debt to EBITDA at 1 5x (2009

1 8x} and EBITDA interest cover at 10 7x to 1 {2008 10x to 1}

At 30 June 2010 the Group had committed credit facilities including
oonds and notes totalling USS3 8 bilbon Undrawn borrowing capacity
totalled USS1 9 billion

The maturity profile of the Group's borrowing facilities and outstanding
bonds i1s shown in the table below

MATURITY PROFILE OF BORROWING FACILITIES
AND OUTSTANDING BONDS
{US$ BILLIONS)

10—

i

05—

W Undrawn facihibes

trrtb bttt bbbt bbb bbb

+ +

b b1 ] Bonds/notes
v L3

4+ Bank debt

Db+ttt rrrdtrrrrdbbtrii s

1-2yrs 2-3yrs 3-4yrs 4-5yrs >hyrs

INTEREST RATE RISK

Brambles’ mnterest rate risk policy i1s designed to reduce volatility in
funding costs through prudent selection of hedging instruments This
policy incluges mamtaining a mix of fixed and floating-rate instruments
within a target band over a certain time horizon In some cases
interest rate dervatives are used to achieve this result syntheticalty
The present policy requires the level of fixed rate debt to be within
40% o 70% of total forecast debt arising aver the immediate 12 menth
period, decreasing to 20% to 60% for debt maturities of one to two
years, 10% to 50% for debt matunties of two to three years and 0% to
50% for debt maturities extending beyond three years
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As at 30 June 2010, 62% of Brambles weighted average interest
bearing debt aver the next 12 months was at fixed interest rates
(2009 41%) The weighted average matunty period was 4 9 years
(2009 36 years} The fair value of all interest rate swap mstruments
was USSE 8 million net gain (2009 US$18 1 rmllion net oss)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign exchange exposures are managed from a perspective of

protecting shareholder value Exposures generally arise in either

of two forms

~ transaction exposures affecting the value of transactions translated
back to the functional currency of the substdiary, and

- translation exposures affecting the value of assets and Liabilities
of overseas substdianies when translated into US dollars

Under Brambles’ foreign exchange policy foreign exchange hedging 1s
mainly confined to hedging transaction exposures where they exceed
a certain threshold, and as soon as a defined exposure arises Within
Brambtes, exposures may arise with external parties or, alternatively
by way of cross-border intercompany transactions Forward foreign
exchange contracts are primarily used for these purposes Given the
nature of its operations these expesures are not significant

Translation exposures are mitigated by matching the currency of debt
with that of the asset Except for a small amount of balance sheet
hedge borrowing in euro Brambles does not hedge currency exposures
an foreign currency profits and net investment balances

At the end of the Year, the far value of foreign exchange instruments
was USS52 & mution net gain (2009 WSSO 5 million net gain)

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The significant risks and uneertainties facing Brambles are

described below These are “net” risks, rated as the mast significant

for the Group as a whole after taking into account current mutigating

actions The strategies and processes applied for managing these risks

are described in section 7 of the Corporate Governance Statement on

pages 25to 27

- Economic cycle ~ Brambles has operations spread across a diverse
range of countries and territories Itis subject to risks related to
global economic and business conditions These may affect among
other things, profitability demand for 8rambles services and
solvency of counterparties

- Business environment changes - Brambles has operations spread
across a diverse range of countries and territories Itis subject
to risks related to rapid and sustained changes in the business
environment, which may invalidate aspects of its current business
models These changes could inciude fuel prices lumber supply and
the structure of customers supply chains These may affect among
other things, profitability and demand for Brambles' services

- Competition and retention of major customers - Brambles operates
1N 3 competitive environment Many of the markets in which
Brambles operates are served by numerous competitors and are
subject to the threat of new entrants In addition the concentration
of distributors in certain areas could lead to shifts in bargaining
position and intensity of competition The above risks could have
animpact on market structure penetration, revenue profitability
economies of scale and the value of existing assets

Insufficient growth — Brambles is subject to the risk of not selecting
the optimal corporate strategy business model, financial structure
or capital allocation including the pace of expansion inte emerging
markets As these are central to the value of shareholders
investment and protection of Brambles assets Brambles may

be unable to capture the full value of its growth opportunities
Obsolescence of pallet platform - New technologies in patlet design
or components could influence alternative supply chamn solutions
This would over time have an impact on revenue, cost base
economies of scale and the value of CHEP's existing assets
Innovation = Brambles i1s subject to the risk of not being able

to optimise innovations in its services products processes and
commercsal sotutions, ncluding capturing the full value of any
innovations that support its growth apportunities This could have
an smpact on revenue profitability, ecenarmies of scale and the value
of existing assets

Operational improvement - Brambles I1s subject to the risk

that it may be unable to capture the full value of operational
improvemnent opportunities This could result in a reduced ability

to control costs or a reduction in control of CHEP's equipment pool
Egquipment gquality ~ Satisfaction of CHEP customers may fluctuate
with the customers perceved views of equipment quality which in
turn, 1s Influenced by the effectiveness of the quality standards that
CHEP employs in its equipment pool Brambles is subject to the risk
that it may not optimise these standards, thereby adversely
affecting customer satisfaction with the CHEP service offering and/
or the operating and capital costs of the equipment pool

People capability = Brambles is subject to the risk of not attracting,
developing and retaining high performing individuats in the optimum
organisational structure which could result in it not having
sufficient guality and quantity of people to meet its growth and
business objectives

Market communication — Brambles 1s subgect to risks relating

to market expectabions, which may lead to a loss of investor
confidence In the busingss and its management

Systems and technology — Brambles relies on the continuing
operation of its information technolegy and communications
systems including those in CHEP s global data centre Failure

to opbimise these systems to successfully implement new systems,
or an extended systems interruption event, could impair Brambles'
ability to provide its services effectively This could deamage its
reputation and in turn, have an adverse effect on its ability to
attract and retain customers

Regulatory compliance — Matenal changes in the regulatory and
legal emvironments in which Brambles businesses operate may give
rise to the risk of an adverse impact on aspects of its current
bustness models These may affect among other things licences to
operate profitabiity and a reduced ability to control costs Materal
changes in Brambles ability tocamply with the regutatory
environment mcluding competition laws and cross jurisdictional
laws, could give nise to titigation and, in turn affect reputation
profitability and Licences to operate
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

01 TONY FROGGATT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

02 TOM GORMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

03 GREG HAYES
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

04 STEPHEN JOHNS
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

05 CAROLYN KAY
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

06 GRAHAM KRAEHE AOQ
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

07 LUKE MAYHEW
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

08 JOHN MULLEN
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

03 BRIAN SCHWARTZ AM
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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01 TONY FROGGATT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

{INDEPENDENT)

Member of the Nominations Commuttee ond the Remuneration Comrmittee
Jomed Brambles as a Non-executve Oirector 1 June 2006 Currently a
ron-executive director of AXA Asia Pagific Holdings Limited and Billabong
International Limited Previously he was Chief Executive of Scottish &
Newcastle ple from May 2003 to October 2007 Tony began his career
with the Gitette Cornpany and has held a wide range of sales marketing
and general management positions in many countries with mayor consumer
goods companies including HJ Heinz Diageo and Seagram He holds a
Bachelor of Law degree from Queen Mary College London and an MBA
from Columtia Business School, New York Age 62

02 TOM GORMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman of the Executive Leadership Teom

Joined Brambles as Group President, CHEP Europe, Middle East and
Africain March 2008 and became Chief Executive Officer in Novernber
2009 Prewiousty Tom had a long career with the Ford Motor Company,
and served as Pressfent Ford Australia from March 2004 until January
2008 Before joining Ford he worked for the Bank of Boston Tom holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and International Retations from
Tufts University and an MBA with distinction from Harvard Business
School Age 50

03 GREG HAYES CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Member of the Executive Legdership Teom

Jomined Brambles as Chief Financtal Officer in November 2009 Previously
Greg was the Chief Executive Qfficer and Group Managing Director of
Tenix Pty Limited, and prior to that Chief Finangial Officer and later,
Interim Chief Executive Officer of AGL He has also held senior executive
roles at Westfield Holdings Limited and Southcorp Limited Greg holds a
Master of Applied Finance degree from Macguarie University and a
Graduate Diploma in Accounting and Bachelor degree in Arts from
Flinders University Greg is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountantsn Australia and has attended the Advanced Management
Programme at Harvard Busmess School Age 52

04 STEPHEN JOHNS NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

{INDEPENDENT)

Chairman of the Audit Commuttee ond member of the

Nominatians Comerittee

Joned Brambles as a Non-executive Director in August 2004 He s
currently a non-executive director of Letghton Hoidings Limited and the
Westfield Group, Charrman of Spark Infrastructure Group and a director
of Sydney Symphony Lirmited Prewvigusly Stephen had a long executive
career with Westfield where he held a number of senior positions
inctuding that of Finance Director from 1985 to 2002 He has a Bachelor
of Economics degree from the University of Sydney andis a Fellow of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and a Fellow of the
Institute of Company Directors Age 63

05 CAROLYN KAY NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

(INDEPENDENT}

Member of the Audit Commuttee

Joined Brambles as a Non-executwe Director in June 2006 Sheisa
director of Commonwealth Bank of Australia and The Sydney Institute
and an External Board Member of Allens Arthur Robinson Carolyn has
had extensive experience in international finance at Morgan Stanley in
London and Melbourne, JP Morgan in New York and Melbourne and
Linklaters & Paines in Londen She holds Bachelor degrees m Law

ang Arts from the University of Melbourne and a Graduate Diploma in
Management from the AGSM Carolyn s a Fellow of the Australtan
Institute of Company Directors a member of Chief Executive Women
and was awarded a Centenary Medal for services to Australian society
in business leadership Age 49

06 GRAHAM KRAEHE AO NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
(ENDEPENDENT)

Chairman of the Nermingtions Commuttee ond member of the
Remuneration Commuttee

Rejoined the Board in December 2005 was appointed Deputy Chasrman in
October 2007 and Chairman n February 2008 He is currently a member
of the Board of the Reserve Bank of Austratia, Chairman of Bluescope
Steel Limited and a director of Djerniwarrh Investments Limited Graham
was a Non-executive Director of Brambles from December 2000 until
March 2004, when he retired due to commitments in his past role as
Chairman of National Australia Bank Limited He has also been the

Chief Executive Officer of Pacific BBA and Southcorp Limited and a
nan-executive director of News Corporation Graham has a Bachelor

of Economics degree from Adelaide University He 1s an Officer of the
Order of Australia Age 67

07 LUKE MAYHEW NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

{INDEPENDENT)

Cherrmon of the Remunerotion Committee

Jained Brambles as a Non-executive Director in August 2005 Heis a
non-executive director of WH Smith ple In March 2010 be retired as
Chairman of Pets at Home Group Limited after the business was sold
to private equity Luke was Managing Directer of John Lewss, the UK's
leading department store business, from 2000 to 2004 and Birector

of Research and Expansion at John Lewis Partnership plc which also
includes the Waitrose supermarket operation, from 1992 to 2000

He previously held senior positions at Thomas Cook and Brittsh Airways
and was Chief Executive of Shandwick s European busmess He has a
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) degree from Oxford Umiversity and a Master
of Economics degree from the University of London Luke 1s the Chairman
of the British Retall Consortium Age 57

08 JOHN MULLEN NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTQR

{INDEPENDENT)

Member of the Remuneration Commuttee

Joined Brambles as a Non-executive Director in November 2009
Currently a non-executive director of Telstra Corporation Limited and
MAp Airports Limited Jchn had a distinguished career with the DHL
Group from 1994 to 2009, ultimately becorming Chief Executive Officer of
DHL Express in 2006 He has served as a Director of Deutsche Post Waorld
Net, the parent company of DHL Express, and Embarq Corporation His
executive career with the TNT Group from 1984 to 1994 culminated in
the role of Chief Executive Officer of TNT Express Worldwide which he
held from 1990 to 1994 He i currently Chairman of the US National
Foreign Trade Council and a member of the Adwisory Coureil for the
AGSM Age 55

09 BRIAN SCHWARTZ AM NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
{INDEPENDENT)

Member of the Audit Committee

Joned Brambles as a Non-executwve Director in March 2009 Currently
Deputy Chairman and a non-executive director of Insurance Australia
Group Limited and a non-executive director of the Westheld Group He s
also Deputy Chairman of Foothall Federation Australia InMarch 2009 he
retired as CEQ of Investec Bank {Australia) Limited although he remains
as a consultant to the bank Having joined Ernst & Young in 1979, Brian
became a partner in 1985 From 1998 to 2004 he was CEQ of Ernst &
Young Australia and a member of the Ernst & Young Global Executive
Board Brran s a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia Age 57
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LEADERSHIP TEAM

01 TOM GORMAN CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

02 GREG HAYES CHIEF
FINANCIAL OFFICER

03 JIM INFINGER

GROUP SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
AND CHIEF INFORMATION
OFFICER

04 JASPER JUDD GROUP
SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
AND HEAD OF INNOVATION

05 PETER MACKIE
GROUP PRESTDENT
CHEP ASIA-PACIFIC

06 ELTON POTTS GROUP
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF
OPERATING OFFICER RECALL

07 JIM RITCHIE GROUP
PRESIDENT, CHEP AMERICAS

08 KEVIN SHUBA

GROUP SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
AND CUSTOMER DEVELOPMENT
OFFICER

09 NICK SMITH
GROUP SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT
HUMAN RESQURCES

10 DOLPH WESTERBOS
GROUP PRESLDENT
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01 TOM GORMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Joined Brambles as Group President, CHEP Europe, Middle East and
Africa in March 2008 and became Chuef Executve Officer in November
2009 Previously Tom had a long career with the Ford Motor Company
and served as President Ford Austraba from March 2004 until Jancary
2008 Before joining Ford, he worked for the Bank of Boston Tom holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Econormics and Internationat Relations fram
Tufts University and an MBA wath distinction from Harvard Business
School Age 50

02 GREG HAYES CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Jomed Brambles as Chief Financial Officer in Novernber 2008 Previously
Greg was the Chief Executive Officer and Group Maraging Director of
Tenix Pty Limited and prior to that Chief Financial Officer and later
Interimn Chief Executive Officer of AGL He has also held senior executive
rotes at Westhield Holdings Lunited and Southcorp Limited Greg holds a
Master of Applied Finance degree from Macquarie University and a
Graduate Diploma in Accounting and Bachelor degree in Arts from
Fiinders University Greg is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Australia and has attended the Advanced Management
Programme at Harvard Business School Age 52

03 JIM INFINGER GROUP SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT

AND CHIEF INFORMATION QFFICER

Joined Brambles in October 2009 Previously, he was Sentor Vice
President & Chief Infarmation Officer with Harman Industries and has
held CIO roles for Raytheon and CompUSA He has also worked for
Siemens Nixdorf ICL Fuptsu and Wal-Mart Stores Jim 1s a member of
the adwisory boards of Oracle, HP, SAP Microsoft AT&T and Cisco He s
also a member of the Prgject Management Institute and the Society for
Information Maragement He holds a Master of Science degree in
Systems Management from the Florida Institute of Technotogy and a
Bachelor of Science degree in Computer Information Systems from the
Southwest Texas State University Age 53

04. JASPER JUDD GRQUP SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT

AND HEAD OF INNOVATION

Jomned Brambles in 2002 Prior to his appointment as Group Senior Vice
President and Head of Innovation in March 2010 he served as Group
Senior Vice President, Strategic Development for two years Other previous
roles were Acting Chief Financial Officer, Brambles, Group Financiat
Controller Interim Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer CHEP
Europe, and General Manager Finance and Administration Before joiring
Brambles he was Chief Financial Offrcer of Branspark and held seninr
financizl posrtions at a number of other companies including Booker Jasper
15 @ member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales and graduated from Cambnidge University with a Master of Arts

Age 49

05 PETER MACKIE GROUP PRESIDENT CHEP ASIA-PACIFIC
Became Group President CHEP Asia-Pacific in May 2010 having been
acting Group President, CHEP Europe, Middle East and Africa from
Novemnber 2009 to Aprit 2010 Prewviously, Peter beld the positions of
President CHEP Europe and Semiar Vice President Customer Service for
CHEP in Europe where he focussed on delivering an improved customer
experience and growing the European pooling network Peter has also held
the positions of Vice President Strategy CHEP Europe and Managing
Director, CHEP UK and Iretand Before jotrung CHEP in 2001, Peter held
semor roles with Boots and The BOC Group Peter is a qualified chartered
engineer and has an MBA from London Business School. Age 44

06 ELTON POTTS GROUP PRESIDENT AND

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER, RECALL

Became President and Chief Qperating Officer of Recalln Apnl 2007
having been appointed Chief Operating Officer of Recall in December
2006 He joined Brambles in 2002 as Vice President, Controller for CHEP
USA becoming Vice President, Asset Management for CHEP USA in the
same year and Senior Vice President, Asset Management for CHEP USA n
2003 Before joining Brambles Elton held various operations and finance
roles with Owens-Carning and Newell Rubbermad He holds a Bachetor
degree in Finangial Management from Clemson University and an MBA
from Capital University Age 46

07 JIM RITCHIE GROUP PRESIDENT CHEP AMERECAS

Joined CHEP tn June 2009 as President, CHEP USA before taking on the
role of Group President, CHEP Amenicas in January 2010 Jim has maore
than 25 years experience in the logistics industry Prior to joining CHEP,
he was President & Chief Executive Officer of YRC Logistics, building that
campany from inception to $1 4 tullion in revenue and 5 750 employees
worldwide He previously held executive positions at Ryder Integrated
Logistics leading that company s Consumer Products & Retail group

Jim received his Bachelor degree in Architecture & Industriat Design
from California State University Age 50

08 KEVIN SHUBA GROUP SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT

AND CUSTOMER DEVELOPMENT OFFICER

Has worked with CHEP since 1996, serving as President, CHEP USA
from Novernber 2006 untit his appeintment as Group President

CHEP Americas in February 2008 Kevin was appointed Group Senior
Vice President and Customer Development Officer in January 2010

His previous roles at CHEP include Senior Vice President New Business
Development and Senior Vice President, Sales and Business Development
Before CHEP he worked for tnsurance company Masen-McBride from
1994 to 1996 and Baxter Heatthcare Corporation from 1987 to 1994
Kevin attended the United States Military Academy at West Point
graduating in 1881 with a Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering

He served in various command and staff positions in the United States
Army from 1981 to 1986 Age 51

09 NICK SMITH GROUP SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT

HUMAN RESOURCES

Joined Brambtes in November 2007 Previously, he was Group Human
Resources Director for Inchcape the international automotive retail group
Prior to this Nick spent a number of years in the telecommunications
industry firstly with Bntish Telecom and then with Cable & Wireless
During this period, Nick spent three years working for Cable & Wireless
Optus i Australia where he was Human Resources Director He has also
worked for KPMG and Macguarte Bank Nick is a gualified management
accountant, has a Bachelor of Science {Economics) degree in International
Politics and an MBA Age 49

10. DOLPH WESTERBOS GROUP PRESIDENT, CHEP EUROPE

MIDDLE EAST AND AFRICA

Joined Brambles in April 2010 as Group President CHEP Europe Middle
East and Africa [EMEA) Prior to joining Brambles, he held a number of
executive positions at Dell most recently as Vice President Solutions

& Services EMEA This role included responsibility for Dell s services,
software and data centre business managing sales revenue of

US52 5 billion across more than 50 countries Before joiming Dell Dolph
was President EMEA and Sentor Vice President Asia, for ModusLink a
global provider of supply chawn, IT and business process outsourcing
services to technology companies Dolph warked 12 years for Modusbink
halding senior management posttions in operations sales and marketing,
strategy, IT and e-business He has worked and lived in the USA, Asia and
Evrope He has a Masters degree in Management from the Graduate
School of Business at Stanford University Age 48
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

Brambies is a global provider of pallet and container pacling and
infarmation management services and operates in over 45 countries
It s therefore subject to an extensive range of legal regulatory and
governance requirements Brambles is commutted to observing the
requirements applicable to publicly listed companies it Australia
The Board 1s conscious that best practice in the area of corporate
governance 1$ continuously evolving, and will therefore continue to
anticipate and respond to further corporate governance developments,
such as the amendments to the ASX Corporate Governance Council
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (CGPR} on
dwerssity, board selection pracesses, briefings and remuneration that
will be effective for Brambples from 1 July 2011

This Corporate Governance Statement cutlines the key components
of Brambles' governance framework in place during the year ended
30 June 2010 (Year}, by reference to the CGPR During the Year, the
Board betieves Brambles met or exceeded all the requirements of
the CGPR

A checklist summarising Brambles compliance with the CGPR 15
included at the end of this Statement Various documents referred
toin this Statement have been posted in the “Corporate Governance”
section of the Brambles website at www brambles com The checklist
includes more detatled guidance on the location of all the governance-
related documents available at www brambles com

PRINCIPLE 1 LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR
MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT

11 Role of the Board and executive management

111 ROLE OF THE BOARD AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for overseeing the effective
management and control of the Group on behalf of Brambles
shareholders and supervising executive management s conduct of
the Group s affairs within a control and autharity framework which
is designed to enable risk to be prudently and effectively assessed
and monitored

The Board has adopted a schedule of matters reserved to it for
decision, a copy of which can be found at www brambles com,
and further details of which arein section112

The roles of the Chairman and executive management, led by the

Chief Executive Officer, are separated and clearly defined

- the Chairman Graham Kraehe, 15 respansible for leadership of
the Board setting the Board's agenda, conducting Board meetings
facilitating effective communication with shareholders and the
conduct of shareholder meetings and

- executive management led by the Chief Executive Officer Tom Gorman
has been delegated responsibility for the management of Brambles
within the control and authority framework referred to above The
levels of authority for management are periodically reviewed by the
Board and are documented The Chief Executive Officer 1s assisted
by the Executive Leadership Team

The Non-executive Directors constructively chaltenge the development
of strategy They review the perfarmance of management in meeting
agreed ohjectives and monitor the reporting of performance They have
a prime role in appainting and where necessary, recommending the
remaval of, Executive Directors, and in their succession planning

The structure of the Board ensures that no individual or group
of indmiduals domnates the Board s decision-making process

The Brambles Executive Leadershup Team assists in implementing
Brambles' strategic direction and ensuring its rescurces are well
managed The Tean has a range of responsibilities, which include
- reviewing business and corporate strategies,

- formulating major policies in areas such as succession planning
and talent management, human and capital resaurces management,
information technology, risk management communications and
post-investment project reviews,

- leading intiatives which may from time to time vary but include
> Zero Harm
> development of strategy, and
> nnovation and

— leading the implementation of change processes

Biographical details for the members of the Executive Leadership Team
are shown on page 17

1172 RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board I1s responsible for setting the Group's overall strategic
objectives, faclitating the provision of appropriate financial and human
resources to meet these objectives and reviewing executive
management s performance

The schedule of matters reserved to the Board for decision includes

among other matters

- the establishment of the Group’s overall strategic direction
and strategic plans for the major business units

~ the approval of budgets, financial objectives and policies
and sigmficant capital expenditure,

- the approval of Brambles’ financial statements and published
reports

- the establishment and annual review of the effectiveness of
Brambles systems of internal centrol and risk management
processes and

— the appointment of key senior executives

The Board has delegated some of its responsibilittes to the Audit
Nominations and Remuneration committees The charters of the Board
committees also require certain matters to be appraved by the Board
including among other matters the executive remuneratian policy and
the appointment of the external auditors The Board s also supported
by the Executive Leadership Team and the Group Risk Commuttee,
which are management committees Details of these Board and
executive management committees are set out Insections 111 2 4
41,723 andB1and the committee charters can be found at

www brambles com

113 ALLOCATION OF INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITIES

Formal letters of appointment, which are contracts for service but not
contracts of employment have been put in ptace for all Non-executive
Directors The letters set out the key terms and conditions of ther
engagement including time comritments corporate expectations
and, if appropriate, any special duties or assignments A temptate
letter of appointment for a Non-executive Director (s avallable at
www brambles com

Senior executives have employment contracts setting out their term
of office, nghts and responsilities and entitlements on termenation,
and |ob descriptions setting out their duties
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12 Performance evaluation of seruor executives

Brambles has a well established performance management and
development planning process, which s used throughout the Group
The process involves objective setting consistent with Brambles
remuneratign policy and targets, for cash and equity-based ncentive
plans set by the Remuneration Comrttee Personal development
planning half year reviews and full year appraisals feed into a
performance rating, teading to the assessment of annual bonuses
Senior executives (including Execufive Directors and the Executive
Leadership Team) all participate In this process, which 1s overseen
by the Remuneration Committee .

Performance evaluatigns for semor executves, including Executive
Directors and the Executive Leadership Team, were carried out during
the Year in accordance with this process

121 INDUCTION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Business units have procedures for the induction of sentor executives,
to assist thern i participating fully and actively in management
deaision-making at the earliest epportunity after commencing their
new roles

PRINCIPLE 2 STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE

At the date of the Directors Report the Board consists of nine
members, with two Executive Directors (the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer} and seven Nan-executive Directors
The biographses for each of the current Directars shown on page 15
indicate the breadth of thetr business, financial and international
experience This gives the Directors the range of skilis, knowledge and
experience essenttal to govern Brambles, inciuding an understanding of
the health safety environmental and community related 1ssues which
it faces The Board considers that its current compasition reflects an
appropriate balance of Executive and Non-executive Directors

The table below sets out the names of the Directors in office at the
date of the Directors’ Report, the year of their most recent election
by sharehotders, their status as Executive or Non-executive Directars,
whether the Board considers that they are independent Directors,
whether they will retire and seek re-election at the 2010 Annual
General Meeting {AGM)} and when they are next due for re-election

YEAR ) YEAR LAST EXMECUTIVE OR
APPOINTED ELECTED NON-EXECUTIVE

A G Froggatt 2006 2008 Non-executive
T J Garman 2009 - Executwe

G J Hayes 2009 - Executive

S P Johns 2004 2008 Non-executive
SCHKay 2006 2008 Non-executve
G J Kraghe AD 20052 2008 Non-executive
C L Mayhew 2005 2007 Non-executive
J P Mullen 2009 2009 Non-executive
B M Schwartz AM 2008 2008 Non-executive

21 Independent Directors

211 INDEPENDENT DECISION-MAKING
The Board recogmises the impartance of independent judgement
and constructive debate on all 1ssues under consideration With
the approvat of the Chairman, Directors may take independent
professional advice at Brambles expense in the furtherance of
discharging their duties and responsibiities None of the Directors
availed themselves of this nght duning the Year

The Chairman holds meetings with the Non-executive Directors from
time to time including meetings at scheduled sessions, without the
presence of the Executive Directors or other executives The Non-
executive Directors meet without the Chairman present on such
occasions as may be considered appropriate

212 INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS
The Board has considered the independence of each of the Directors
in office as at the date of the Directors Report and conctuded that
all Non-executive Directors are independent Therefore the Board has
amajonity of independent directors Inreaching this conclusion the
Board had regard to the relationships set out in Box 2 1 of the CGPR
and noted that one of these relationships exists

Carolyn Kay 1s a director of the Commonwealth Bank of Austrata
{CBA} which i1s a substantial shareholder of Brambles The Board
noted that the most recent substantiat shareholder notice 1ssued

by CBA provided that, except for 525 330 shares (being 0 04% of
Brambles 1ssued share capital at the date of this Statement), CBAs
relevant interests in Brambles shares are exercised either as a
superannuation trustee a life company holding statutory funds,
aresponsibie entity or manager of a managed investment scheme
under an investment mandate by external managers unrelated to the
CBA group. or subject to client direction The Board does not consider
that Carolyn Kay s relationship with CBA gves nise to any actual or
perceived loss of independence on her part because of the manner

in which CBAs relevant mterests in Brambles shares are held

In considering the matters i Box 2 1 of the CGPR the Board
considered that a customer was material if it accounted for mare than
2% of Brambles consolidated gross revenue and that a supplier was
material If Brambles accounted for more than 2% of the supplier's
consolidated gross revenue

TNDEPENDENT SEEKING ELECTION/

Yes
No

No

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Yes

RETIRING AND SEEKING
RE-ELECTION IN 2010

No
Yes
Yes
No
No
No
Yes
No
No

NEXT OUE FOR
RE-ELECTION

2011
2010
2010
2012
2012
2012
2010
2012
2012

For the purposes of this table the year appointed is the year the relevant Director was first elected to the Boards of Brambles or BIL and BIP as the case may be

2

Graham Kraehe also served as a directar from 2000 te 2004 then re-joined the Board i 2005
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213 REGULAR ASSESSMENTS

Oirectors are required to complete a declaration of interest form

prior to their appointment This form s tabled at the Board meeting

to consider the appointment of the relevant Director If ther
circumstances change or they acquire any office property or interest
which may conflict with thewr office as a Director of Brambles or the
interests of Brambles Directors are required to disclose its character
and extent in writing at the next Board meeting The Board atso makes
an annual assessment of the independence of each Non-executive
Director If the Board concludes that a Director has lost their status as
an independent director that conclusion will be advised to the market
in a timely manner

Directors are generally not entitled to attend any part of a Board
meeting, or to vote on any matter, n which they have a matenal
persanal interest unless the other Directors unamimously decide
otherwise Inappropriate cases, Directors may be required to absent
themselves from a meeting of the Board while such a matter 15

being considered

2 2 Independent Chairman

The Board has concluded that the Chairman (s independent and that
his other ppsitions do not prevent him fram devoting sufficient time
to perform the role effectively As the Chairman s independent,

the Board does not consider it necessary to appont a tead
independent directar

The Chairman 1s responsible for faciitating the effective contribution
of Non-executive Directors who are to receive accurate timely and
clear information so that they may effectively discharge their duties
and responstbilities The Chairman i1s also responsible for fostering
constructive relations between Executive and Nen-executive Directors

2 3 Roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Cfficer

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are exercised by
two different indwiduals and are clearly documented, as discussed in
section 1 11 of this Statement The Chairman does not have a history
of employment with Brambles

2 4 Nomnations Committee

241 PURPOSE OF THE NOCMINATIONS COMMITTEE

The objective of the Nominations Committee 1s to support and adwise
the Board in fulfilling 1ts responsibilities to shareholders in ensuring
that the Board is comprised of individuals who are best able to
discharge the responsibilities of Directors

242 CHARTER
A copy of the Nominations Committee s Charter giving full details
of its duties and responsibilities can be found at www brambles com

The Nominations Cammuittee s Charter also sets out its composition
structure membership requirements and the procedures for inviting
non-members to attend meetings The Committee 1s authornised to seek
any infermation it requires from any Group employee or from any other
source including obtaining outside legal or other independent
professional adwice

24 3 COMPOSITION OF THE NOMINATIONS COMMLTTEE

The Nominations Commuttee 1s comprised entirely of Non-executive
Directors, all of whomn the Board considers to be independent

The members of the Nominations Committee are Graham Kraehe
(Comrmuttee Chasrman), Stephen Jahns and Tony Froggatt

Details of Nominations Cemmittee meetings held during the Year and
attendance at those meetings, are set out in the Directors Report -
Other Information on page 46

244 RESPONSIBILITIES

The Nominations Committee discharges its responsithbities by meeting

reqularly throughout the year and among other matters
- assessing pertodically the skills requered to discharge competently
the Board s duties having regard to the strategic direction of the
Group, and assessing the skills currentty represented on the Board
to determine whether those current skills meet the required skitls
wdentified,
- reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the balance
of skills, knowledge and experience} of the Board and the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole, and keeping under review the
teadership needs of Brambles, hoth executive and nan-executive,
with a view to ensuring the continued ability of Brambles to
compete effectively in the marketplace
— preparing a description of the role and capatilities required for any
Board appointment identifying suitable candidates to fill Board
vacancies as and when they arise and nominating candidates for the
approval of the Board
— ensuring that in determining the process for the identification
of suitable candidates for appointment
> a search s undertaken by an appropnately qualified independent
third party acting on a &rief prepared by the Committee which
identifies the skills sought

> the search 1s international, extending to those countries in which
candidates with the necessary skills would ordinarily be expected
to be found and

> candidates are considered from a wide range of backgrounds

— ensuring that, on appomtment, Non-executive Directors receive
a formal (etter of appointment, setting out the time commitment
and responsibilities envisaged in the appointment,

— on any re-appointment of a Non-executive Director on the conclusion
of thewr specified term of office undertaking a process of review of
the retinng Non-executive Director's performance dunng the period
from their appointment or most recent re-appointment, as the case
may be to the Beard

- reviewing annually the time commitment required of Non-executive
Directors and carrying out performance evaluations to assess
whether the Non-executive Directors are devoting enough time to
fulfilbng ther duties and

— giving full consideration to appropriate succession planning
satisfying itself that processes and plans are in place in relation
to both Board {particularly for the key roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer) and other senior executive appointments
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245 SELECTION AND APPOINTMENT PROCESS AND RE-ELECTION
OF DIRECTORS

The Board is conscous of the need to ensure that proper processes are
in place to deal with succession issues at Board level This requires the
Board to assess periedicatly the skills and expertise necessary to meet
Brambles' demands The Nominations Commuttee assists the Board in
this process, which ordinarily involves the identification of the need for
a new appointee and suitable candidates the preparation of a brief
including a description of the role and capabilities required and the
engagement of independent recruitment organisations

During the 2008 year, the Board recognised the need for a non-executive
directar with substantial international business experience and
knowledge of the transport and logistics industries As a result,

John Mullen was appointed as a Non-executive Director in November
2009 During the second half of the Year, the Board, with the assistance
of the Nominations Commuttee conducted a review of its skills set
(including its geographic experience) The Board witl continue

to seek to appoint new members in future years having regard to that
review and to succeed existing Directors as they retire ensuring an
appropriate balance of skills and experience 15 mantained

A Non-executive Director's formal letter of appointment (see section
11 3) sets out among other things, the time comm:tment required and
specifies that the Director should consutt with the Chairman before
accepting any additional comrmitments which may impact on therr role
Any Non-executive Directors who are standing for election or re-
election at the next AGM are asked to consider therr other significant
commitments and specifically acknowledge to Brambles that they witl
have sufficient time to meet what s expected of them as Directors of
Brambles Details of the number of Board and committee meetings
held during the Year, and attendance at those meetings by each of the
Directors and committee members, are set out in the Directors Report
— Qther Information on page 46

Directors are appointed for an unspecified term, but are subject to
election by shareholders at the first general meeting after their intial
appointmeant by the Board No Director may serve for more than three
years without being re-elected by shareholders Re-appointmentis
not automatic The Board reviews whether retinng Directors should
stand for re-election, having regard to their performance and the
contribution of therr iIndividual skills and expenence to the desired
overall composition of the Board

The Non-executive Directors formal tetters of appointment confirm
that the Non-executive Directors have no right to compensation on the
termination of their appointment for any reason, other than for unpaid
fees and expenses for the period actually served

2 5 Process for evaluating the performance of the Board,

its commuittees and Directors

The Board and 1its committees carry out both internal and externat
evaluations with the form of evaluation being determined each

year For the Year the Board undertook an internal evaluation of its
performance as a whale and the performance of each of its commuttees
as well as an evaluation of the performance of Luke Mayhew, the only
Non-executive Director who 15 standing for re-election at the 2010 AGM

Fhe evaluations involved the cormpletion of a questionnaire by each of
the Directors and executive management on matters relevant to the
performance of the Board its commuttees and Luke Mayhew The Board
and committee reviews were subsequently presented to, and reviewed
by, the Beard and each committee respectively The Chairman reviewed
the resutts of Luke Mayhew s performance evaluation with him

251 INDUCTION AND EDUCATION

Newly appointed Directors receive appropriate induction and traiming
specifically talored to ther needs Appointees are provided with

an information pack including governance policies and business
information taken to visit operating sites hold meetings with major
shareholders and receive presentations on Brambles’ businesses
and functions by its business unit Leaders and functional heads

On an angoing basis Directors participate in vanious seminars and
conferences held by industry and professional bodies In addition
Board meetings regularty include sessions on recent developments
In governance and corporate matters, operational site visits and
meetings with major customers

252 ACCESS TO INFORMATION

The Board receives accurate, timely and clear informatien so that it may
effectively discharge its duties and responsibilities Where necessary
Directors seek clarification or request the prowvision of further
information to assist with their decision-making processes The Board
committee charters document the committees unrestricted rights to
seek information from any Group employee or from any other source
Presentations to the Board are frequently made by senior executives

253 THE BOARD AND THE COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board 15 assisted by the Company Secretary who, under the
direction of the Charrman 1s respeonsible for facilitating good
nformation flows within the Board and its committees and between
senior executwes and Non-executive Directors as well as the induction
of new Directors and the ongoing professional development of all
Directors The Company Secretary 1s responstble for monitoring
compliance with the Board s procedures and for adwvising the Board
through the Chairman on all governance matters All Directors have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary whose
appointment and removal s a matter for the Board

The Company Secretary 1s Robert Gerrard His gualifications and
expenence are set out on page 45

26 DIVERSITY

During the Year Brambles reviewed its diversity policy in the context of
the 2010 amendments to the CGPR An updated diversity pabicy will
be launched in the first half of the 2011 year Brambles s developing
measurabie gender objectives in Line with the guidance provided in

the CGPR

PRINCIPLE 3 PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE
DECISION-MAKING

31 Establish a code of conduct
Brambles has a Cade of Conduct which provides an ethical and legal
framework for all employees in the conduct of Brambles business
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Brambtes Code of Conduct includes the following schedules
— Corporate Social Responsibility Policy,

— Speaking Up Policy

— Contnuous Disclosure and Communications Policy
— Group Guidelines for Serious Incident Reporting

— Environmental Policy

— Competitign Compliance Policy

— Health and Safety Policy

— Secunities Trading Policy

— Risk Management, and

— Guidelines for Document Management

The policies Listed above set cut the reporting responsibilities of
specified indivsduals, or wn some cases all employees The Audit
Committee 1s responsible for momitoring compliance with the Speaking
Up Policy and at each meeting receves a report on investigations into
any matters raised under that policy The Board also receives a copy of
that report A copy of the Code of Canduct 1s at www brambles com

311 PURPOSE OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT

The Code of Conduct defines how Brambles relates to its shareholders,
employees customers suppliers and the commuruty It includes
Brambles general principles on business integrity All employees

are expected to conduct business in accordance with the laws and
regulations of the countries in which the business is located and

In @ manner so as to enhance the reputation of Brambles

312 APPLICATION OF THE CODE QF CONDUCT

The Code of Conduct has been translated into 17 languages so that
It can be used to form part of employees’ terms and condibions of
employment Non-executive Directors are required to agree to comply
with the Code of Conduct and to acknowledge that their performance
assessments will include an element on conformity with the Code

The Code of Conduct 1s not intended to be all-encompassing There are
areas in which Brambles expects its businesses to develap detailed
policies in accordance with local requirements The Code of Conduct
provides a set of guiding principtes that may be supplemented with
additional local polictes It provides a common behavieural framework

Brambles implements the Code of Conduct through a variety of
induction and training programs During the Year, ongoing training took
place with the asn of enhancing employees compliance with certain of
the policies under the Code

The Code of Conduct requires Brambles’ contractors to adhere to
Brambles health and safety, environmental and serious inctdent
reporting standards and requires consultants or professional advisers
who are engaged to undertake work for the Group to comply with the
Continuous Disclosure and Communications Policy

3 2 Secunties trading policy

Details of Brambles Limited secunities held by Directors are set out

on pages 39 40 and 42 The Board has put i place a Secunities Trading

Policy covering dealings in securnities by

— DOirectors,

— senior executives

— allindwiduals located in Brambles Headqguarters,

— any other person who 1s notified that they are subject te the policy
from time to time and

— therr related persons

(collectively Designated Persons)

The policy Is designed to ensure that shareholders, custoamers

and the international business community have confidence that
Brambles Directors and senior executives are expected to comply
with the law and best practice in corporate governance and handle
confidenbial Information lawfully and with tntegnty It can be found
at www brambles com

Under the Secunities Trading Policy Designated Persons are required te
obtain approval before dealing 10 Brambles Limited's securities, and are
prohibited from such dealing at certain trmes other than in exceptional
circumstances, and then only where the Designated Person declares
that he or she does not possess any price sensitive non-public
informatton

Any dealings in Brambles Limited securities by a Director or a member
of the Executive Leadership Team must be reported to Brambles within
two business days of effecting such dealings The ASX is natified of
Directors transactions within applicable time limits

The Securities Trading Policy applies to Brambles equity-based awards
under the incentive plans described in the Remuneration Report The
policy prohibits Designated Persons from acquiring financial products
or entering Into arrangements which have the effect of lmiting
exposure to the nsk of price movements of Brambles securities

The Securities Trading Policy also prohibits Designated Persons from
using their secunties in Brambles Limited as secunity for a margin loan

Brambles takes compliance with the Securities Trading Policy seriousty
A breach of the policy by any employee will be regarded as a breach of
their conditiens of employment and may result in termination

PRINCIPLE 4 SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL
REPORTING

4 1 Establish an Audit Committee

Brambles confirms that, in accordance with ASX Listing Rule 12 7,
it has had an Audit Committee throughout the Year

411 PURPOSE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The objective and purpose of the Audit Commuttee 1s to assist
the Board in fulfilling its corporate governance and oversight
responsibilities by
- monitoring and reviewing
> the integnty of financial statements '
= internal financial controls |
> the objectivity and effectiveness of the internal auditors and
> the independence objectivity and effectiveness of the external
auditors,
— mak:ng recommendations {o the Board in relation to the
appointment or remaval of the external auditors the approval of
their remuneration and the terms of their engagement including the
rotation of external audit engagement partners
— assessing whether the Commuttee 1s satisfied that the independence
of the external auditors has been mantained having regard to any
non-audit related services
= reviewing and monitoring the policy on the engagement of the
external auditors to supply non-audit services {set out in the
Charter of Audit Independence, a copy of which can be found !
at www brambles comy), taking into account relevant legat and
ethical guidance regarding the provision of non-audit services
by the external auditors and
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— reporting to the Board identifying any matters relating to the above
n respect of which 1t considers that action or improvement is
needed and making recommendations as to the steps to be taken

4 2 Structure of the Audit Committee

4721 COMPOSITION OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Commuttee has three members and 1s chaired by Stephen
Johns, an independent Director

422 IMPORTANCE OF INDEPENDENCE
The Audit Committee 15 comprised entirely of Non-executive Dreciors
all of whom the Board considers to be independent

423 TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

The Board considers that each of the members of the Audit Committee
has recent and relevant financial and accounting experience and an
understanding of accounting and financiai 1ssues relevant to the
Industries in which Brambles cperates

The members of the Audit Commuttee inctuding details of their

relevant quabifications, are as follows

- Stephen Johns had a long executive career with Westfield where he
held a number of semor positions mcluding that of Finance Director
from 1985 to 2002 He s currently a non-executive director of
Leighton Holdings Limited and the Westfield Group and Chairman of
Spark Infrastructure Group He holds a Bathelor of Economics
degree from the University of Sydney and is a Fetlow of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Australia and a Fellow of the Institute
of Company Directors

— Carolyn Kay 15 a director of CBA and an External Board Member of
Allens Arthur Robinson She has had extensive experience in
international finance at Morgan Stanley in London and Melbourne
JP Margan in New York and Melbourne and Linklaters & Paines in
London Carolyn holds Bachelor degrees in Law and Arts from the
University of Melbourne and a Graduate Diplorna in Management
from the AGSM She s a Fellow of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors

- Bnan Schwartz 1s the Deputy Chairman and a non-executive director
of Insurance Australia Group Limited and a non-executive director
of the Westfietd Group He had along career at Ernst & Young
hotding a number of senior positiens inctuding that of CEQ Ernst &
Young Australia from 1998 to 2004 He s a Fellow of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Australia

Stephen Johns, Carolyn Kay and Brian Schwartz were members of the
Committee throughout the Year, David Gosnell a former independent
Non-executive Director of Brambles was a member of the Commuttee
during the Year until his retirement from the Board on 31 March 2010
He 15 the Managing Oirector of Global Supply and Procurement for
Drageo plc and holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical and
Electronic Engineering from Middlesex Uruversity England

4 3 Audit Commuttee Charter

431 CHARTER

The Audit Commuttee has a Charter which includes 1ts duttes and
responsibilities, composition structure membership requirements,
authonty access rights and sets out a procedure for iInviting non-
members to attend its meetings The Charter requires the Audit
Comsmuttee to meet with internal and external auditors at least once

a year without executive management being present A copy of the
Audit Committee s Charter whichis reviewed annuatly can be found at
www brambles com

432 RESPONSIBILITIES

The Audit Commuttee thscharges its responsibilities by meeting

regularly throughout the year and among ather matters

— reviewmg and challenging where necessary the actions and
judgment of management in relation to full year and half year
financial reports and other announcements retating to those reparts
prepared for release to the ASX, regutators and the public before
making appropnate recommendations to the Board,

— reviewmng the audit plans of theinternal auditors, including the
scope and matenality leve! of ther audits manitering compliance
with, and the effectveness of the audit plans of the internat
auditors reviewing reports from the internal auditors on their audit
findings management responses and action plans in relation to
thase findings, and reports from the internal auditors an the
implementation of those action plans, and facilitating an open
avenue of communication between the internal auditors, the
external auditers and the Board,

— reviewing the audit plans of the external auditors inctuding the
nature scope, materiality level and procedures of thewr audits
monitoring compliance with and the quality and effectiveness of
the audit plans of the external auditors and reviewing reports from
the external auditers m relation to theirr major audit findings,
management respenses and action plans in relation to those
findings and reports from the external auditors on the
implementation ¢f those action plans, and

— reviewing and recommending to the Board the fees payable to the
external auditors monitoring compliance with the Charter of Audit
Independence and pre-approving the performance by the external
auditors of any non-audit related work and any proposed fees to be
paid to the external auditors for that work, for which its approval is
required by the Charter of Audit Independence The Charter divides
non-audit work into three categories work which must be approved
by the Chief Financial Officer (if fees will fall betow specified Limits)
work which must be approved by the Audit Commuttee and work
which 1s prohibited Prior consultation with and approval of the
Chief Financial Officer or Audit Committee as prescribed by the
Charter Is required whenever management recommends that the
external auditors undertake non-audit work Internal accounting
valuation services actuaral services and internal audit services
must not be performed by the external auditors

The Audit Commuittee 15 also responsible for momitoring the Brambles
Speaking Up Policy, that st 1s communicated properly and complied with
throughout Brambles and for monitoring that appropriate protection
against victimisation and dismissal 15 given to Brambles employees
who make certain disclosures in the public interest

4 33 MEETINGS

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held during the
Year, and attendance at those meetings are set out in the Directors
Report — Other Information on page 46 Minutes of meetings are
inctuded in the papers for subsequent Board meetings
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434 REPORTING

The Chairman of the Audit Commuttee reports to the Board on
the Committee’s proceedings and on all matters relevant to the
Commuittee s duties and responsibilities

4 4 EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoppers has been engaged by the Board to act as
external auditors to Brambles since the 2002 financial year Under the
terms of engagement, the Austraban audit engagement partner will
rotate every five years

The Audit Committee 1s responsibte for making recommendations
on the setection, appointment evaluation and removal of external
auditors setting fees and ensuring that the external auditors’
engagement partners are rotated at appropriate Intervals

PRINCIPLE 5 MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE
51 Establish a continuous disclosure policy

Brambles 1s cornmitted to the promotion of invester confidence by
taking steps within its power to ensure that trading inits securities
occurs In an efficient and iInformed market Brambles recognises
the importance of effective commumcation as a key part of building
shareholder value and that to prosper and achieve growth, it must,
among other matters earn the trust of shareholders employees,
customers suppliers and communities by being open in its
communications and consistently delivering on its commitments

The Board has adopted a Continuous Disclosure and Communications

Policy to

— reinforce Brambles' commtment to the continuous disclosure
obligations imposed by law and to describe the processes
implemented by it to ensure compliance

-~ outline Brambles corporate governance standards and related
processes and ensure that timely and accurate infarmation about
Brambles s provided equally to all shareholders and market
participants and

- outline Brambles’ commitment to commumcating effectively
with shareholders and encouraging shareholder participation
it shareholder meetings

The Continuous Disclosure and Commurucations Policy takes into
account the matters listed in Box 5 1 of the CGPR A copy can be found
at www brambles com

To achieve the above objectives and satisfy regulatory reguirements

the Board provides information to shareholders and the market in

several ways

— significant announcements are released directly to the market via
the ASX Copies of these announcements are immediately placed on
www brambles com

— Brambles conducts investor and analyst briefings as a part of its
investor relations programme No new materials or price sensitive
information s provided at those briefings unless it has been
previously or 15 simultansously released to the market Presentation
materials are placed on Brambles website

~ www brambles com contains further information about Brambles
and its activities including copres of recent internim and annual
reports and recordings of the mest recent presentations to analysts

5§11 COMMENTARY ON FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Audit Committee Charter requires the Committee to review the
clarity of financel reports

A review of operations and activities for the Year (s included on pages
4to11 Presentations of the full and half year results are made to the
investment community immediately after they are released to the
market Live webcasts of these presentations are transmutted via, and
presentation materials are placed on, the Brambles website

512 ELIMINATING SURPRISE ON TERMINATION ENTITLEMENTS
Details of the termination entitlements of Brambles Chief Executive
Officer Chief Financial Dfficer and other Key Management Personnel
are disclosed on pages 36 and 37 of the Directors Report —
Remuneration Report

PRINCIPLE 6 RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
Sharehalders play an inportant role in the governance of Brambles
by etecting the Board, whose task it 1s to govern on their behalf

The Chairman regularly meets major investors to understand their
1ssues and concerns and discuss particular matters relating to
Brambles’ governance and strategy The Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and ether senicr executives meet major
investars to understand their issues and concerns and discuss
company performance and strategy No new matenal or price
sensitive informatton 1s provided at such meetings Other Non-
executive Directors may attend meetings with major investors and
will attend them f requested The Chairman reports to the Board

on the matters discussed at meetings with major investors and copies
of relevant correspandence are included in the Board papers
Executive management prowvide information on shareholder activity
and trading to the Board alang with shareholder feedback and copies
of analysts reports

As a new shareholder communications imtiative a newsletter on the
half year resutts and executive management changes was produced
and sent to sharehotders in April 2010

61 Establish a communications policy

As disclosed in section 51 the Board has adopted a Continuous
Disclosure and Communications Policy, which gutlines Brambles’
commitment to communicating effectively with shareholders and
encouraging sharcholder participation in shareholder meetings

A copy can be found at www brambles com

611 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION
Brambles takes all of the measures to make effective use of electronic
communication that are outlined in Box 6 1 of the CGPR

Brambles posts a copy of all announcements made ta the ASX on
www brambles com On release, significant announcements are
hightighted in the ‘Latest News" area on the home page of the website

Presentations to mvestors analysts or media during briefings

and copies of speeches and presentations made by the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer at genaral meetings are released as
regulatory announcements and posted an wiwww brambies com after
release Briefings and general meetings are also webcast lve, via
www brambles com
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All of the ASX requlatory releases and notices of meetings that
Brambles Limited has published since it was Usted tn December 2006
are available on www brambles com as are several years’ history of
such documents relating to BIL prwar to Unification

Shareholders are asked to etect whether they would ke to receive
shareholder commumications in printed form or provide an email
address and be sent an electronic notification when a commurnitcation 1s
available on www brambles com, instead of a hard copy Shareholders
who do not respond are sent a printed notification of availability of the
annual report and hard copies of all ather communications
Shareholders may electronically appoint proxies and todge proxy
tnstructions for items of business to be considered at general meetings
or have the option of lodging direct votes

612 MEETINGS

AGMs provide an epportunity for the Board te communicate with
Investors, through presentations on Brambles’ businesses and current
trading Shareholders are encouraged to attend AGMs and to
participate and use the opportunity to ask questions on any matter

To make better use of the imited time available, shareholders are
invited to register questions and 1ssues of cancern prear to AGMs

This can be done either by completing the relevant form accompanying
the notices convening the meetings or by emailing 8rambles at
shareholderguestions@brambles com Answers to frequently asked
questions are given during presentations to AGMs Shareholders may
also ask questions at AGMs without having registered their questisns
10 this manner

613 COMMUNICATION WITH BENEFICIAL OWNERS

Beneficial owners of shares, investors or members of the public

are encouraged to register for free email alerts so that they may
stay up to date on major news announcements made by Brambles
There 15 a link to the Email Alerts registration area of the website

on the home page of www brambles com Users of the Email Alerts
service may customise the types of announcements that they receive

614 WEBSITE

Brambles encourages shareholders to make full use of

www brambles com and to provide an email address to the

share registry so that they may be sent emait notifications when
shareholder communications are avallable Brambles believes
shareholders benefit from electronic communication as they receive
infarmation promptly and have the convenience and security of
electronic delivery Electranic communication is also environmentally
friendly and generates cost savings

PRINCIPLE 7 RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK

71 Establish policies for the oversight and management of
matenal business risks

711 RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The Board 1s responsible for the establishment, and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group s system of internal control and risk
management During the Year, the Board was supported in this role
by management in particular by the Group Risk Committee the Audit
Committee (in relation to financial reporting risks) and the Group's
internal audit functron The Group Risk Commuttee s responsibilities are
described in section 72 3 of this Statement The Audit Committee s
responsibitities are described in sectton 4 3 2 of this Staterment

Each business umit has a risk and centrel committee which conducts
an in-depth review of the business unit s risk profile These profiles
underpin the Group-levet risk profile The business unit sk profites and
accompanying mutigatwn plans were evaluated by Group Pregidents
senior management at Brambles Headquarters the Group Risk
Committee and the Beard Legal obligations and the reasonable
expectations of stakeholders such as shareholders customers.
employees, subcontractors suppliers and the community in general
were taken inte account when prepanng and updating mitigation plans

During the Year, a comprehensive review of the internal control and nisk
management system was carried out This resulted in the adoption of a
new risk management framework which took effect on 1 July 2010
Details of the new framewark are set out n section 72 1

7 2 Reporting on effective management of matenal business risks

721 RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

Management 15 respensible for the development implementation

and management of systems that

— wdentify assess and manage risks n an effective and efficient
manner,

- enable decisions to be based on a comprehensive view of the
reward-to-risk balance

— provide greater certamty of the delivery of ohjectives, and

- satisfy the Group s corporate governance requirements

These systems are designed to lirmit the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives It must be recogrused however that internal
control and risk management systems can provide only reasonable
and not absolute, assurance against the rnisk of material loss

Key elements of Brambles internal control systems include

- aCode of Conduct that sets out an ethicat and legal framewark for
all employees in the conduct of Brambles business,

- financial systems to provide temely relevant and reliable information
to management and to the Board

- appropriate formalised delegations and Limits of authority consistent
with Brambles objectives,

- biannual management declarations at country, regional and global
levels confirmung, among other matters, the adeguacy of internal
control procedures, the effectiveness of risk management systems
and compliance with the Code of Conduct and all regulatory and
statutory reguirements,

- anmternal audit function, described in section 7 2 2 of this Statement,

- anskmanagement function

- ansk and controt committee for each of its business vnits and

- other sources of independent assurance, such as environmentat
audits occupational health and safety audits and reports from
the external auditors

Buring the Year, the brannual management declarations process was
reviewed The questionnaires sent to management were simplified with
the aim of improving the guality of respenses and focusing on financial
controts A web-based system was developed to enahle the
questionnaires to be completed more easily and to facilitate ngorous
tracking across periods
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The key elements of Brambtes business risk management systems
during the Year are set out below

Risk control - nisks to the achievernent of business abjectives were
identified through a process of examination between the Group Risk
Committee, Brambles nisk management team the business unit
Group Presidents, bustness unit sk and control committees and
functional process owners Key business risks were also identified
and analysed during regular management reporting and discussions
The identified risks were assessed in terms of thewr underlying causes,
business consequences external vanables current internal control
effectiveness Likelihood of occurrence, overall risk priority and risk
mitigation status The resulting net risk and contrel profiles were
presented to the Board together with a risk improvement program
designed to increase the effectiveness of controls and manage the
overall level of nisk Thus process formed part of the Board s annuat
review of the effectiveness of the systems of internal control

Risk monitoring — there was regular reparting of key risk events such
as safety ncidents litigation and serious incidents {as defined In the
Code of Conduct) In addition to regular monstoring by the Group
Risk Commuttee and Brambles risk management team, risks and
cantrols were reassessed by business unit risk and control commitiees
on at least a biannual basis The outcome of those assessments

and details of progress in implementing nsk improvement programs
were signed off by Group Presidents and reported to the Group Vice
President, Risk and Audit In addifion, a report on the effectiveness
of the management of business risks was provided to the Group Risk
Committee and the Board The effectiveness of specific business risk
controls and risk improvement programs were also periodically
reviewed by internal audit as part of the FY10nternal audit program,
and the results reperted to the Audit Committee

During the Year the Board reviewed the effectiveness of the internal

control and risk management systems and will continue to do so on

an ongoing basis by

— considering and approving the budget and forward plan of each
business

- reviewing detailed monthly reparts on business performance
and trends

— settng Lmits on delegated authanty,

— recewing regular regorts on Brambles' {reasury activities
and reviewing treasury guidetines, imits and controls,

— conducting the review of Brambles’ risk profiles, as described
insection 7 1 1 of this Statement

- recewing twice-yearly reports from the Group Risk Cammittee
{and, from 1 July 2010 from the Executive Leadership Team) on the
effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems for
Brambles matenal business risks, being the report required by
Recommendation 7 2 of the CGPR

- recewing twice-yearly written assurances from the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer as described in section 73 of this
Statement, and

— receving reports from the Audit Committee which has a
responsibility to assist the Board in reviewing internal financial
cantrols

New Risk Management Framework

During the Year management continued to take actions to improve the

risk management and internal controt system In particular a

comprehensive review of that system was carried out This resutted in

the adoption of anew risk management framework which took effect

on 1 July 2010 The objectives of the new nsk management framework

are as follows

- toncorporate effective nsk management as part of Brambles'
strategic planning process

— torequire business operating plans to address the effective
managerment of key risks

— todevelop internat audits plans to concentrate effarts on providing
assurance on the viability and value of risk mitigationfmanagement
processes,

— to embed a stronger risk management cuiture,

- to imprave allocation of capital to reflect business risks

- to seek competit:ve advantage through increased certainty of
achieving agreed organisational and business objectives and

— to continue to futfil governance reguirements for nsk management

To strengthen the relationship between risk management and strategic
and operational planning from 1 July 2010, the Chief Executive Officer,
through the Executive Leadership Team (see section 1 1) has principal
responsibility for nsk management A Brambles Headguarters risk and
control committee has also been established Itischared by the

Chief Financial Officer and 1ts members incluce key functional heads
The Executive Leadership Team will be supported by the Group Vice
President, Risk and Audit and all risk and control committees now
report ta it The changes to the risk management structure introduced
by the new framework replace the sk management and reporting role
of the Group Risk Committee

7272 INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The internal audit function 1s independent of the external auditor
Brambles’ internat audit function carries out rsk-based audits under an
annual plan approved by the Audit Committee The internal audit team
makes an independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of
Brambles' risk management and internal control system to provide
assurance to the Audit Committee anc the Board

The head of interral audit has direct access to the Chairman of the
Audit Committee Both the Audit Committee and the internal audit
team have unrestricted access to management and the right to seek
information and explanations

723 GROUP RISK COMMITTEE

The Group Risk Committee was a management committee During the
Year it assisted the Beard in fulfilling its responsibilities to review
Brambles palicies on risk oversight and management and to satisfy
itself that managernent has developed and implemented a sound
system of nsk management and internal cantrol

26 BRAMBLES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010




The Committee members were Greg Hayes {Chief Finaneial Officer
and Commuittee Chairman} senior executives from each business unit
and from Brambles accounting, sk and internal audit legal and
secretarial functions A copy of the Group Risk Committee’s Charter
can be found at www brambles com

With the adoption of the new sk management framewoerk from 1 July
2010, the Group Risk Commuttee s risk management and reporting role
has been assumed by the Executive Leadership Team, supported by the
Group Vice President, Risk and Audit Further details are in section 721

7 3 Chief Executive Officer and Ctuef Financial Officer declaration
The Board receives written assurances from the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer that the declaration provided

under section 2954 of the Corporations Act 2001 {Cth} (Act) 15 founded
on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that
the system 1s ocperating effectively in all matenal respects inrelation
to financial reporting risks The Board receives these assurances in
advance of approving both the annual and interim financial statements

PRINCIPLE 8 REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY

81 Establish a remuneration committee

811 PURPOSE OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The objective and purpose of the Remuneration Commuttee 1s to assist

the Board in establishing remuneration policies and practices which

- enahle Brambles to attract and retain executives and Directors
whao will create value for shareholders

- farrly and responsibly reward executives having regard to the
performance of Brambles the performance of the executive and
the general remuneration environment, and

— comply with the provisions of the ASX Listing Rules and the Act

B12 CHARTER

The Remuneration Commuttee has a Charter which includes its
duties and responsibilittes composition, structure, membership
requirements, authority access rights and sets out a procedure
for inviting non-members to attend its meetings A copy of the
Remuneration Committee s Charter, which 1s reviewed annually
can be found at www brambles com

81 3 COMPOSITION OF REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee 1s comprised entirely of Non-executive
Directors all of whom are independent The four members of the
Remuneration Committee are Luke Mayhew (Committee Chairman)
Tony Froggatt, Graham Kraehe and John Mullen The Remuneration
Committee meets at least three times a year Details of the number
of Remuneration Committee meetings held during the Year and
attendance at those meetings are set out in the Directors Report —
Other Information on page 46

814 RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee discharges its responsibibities by

meeting regularly throughout the year and, among other matters

- determining and agreeing with the Board the broad policy for the
remuneration of the Chairman of the Board the Chief Executive
Officer and other members of the senior executive team, and
rewiewing the ongoing appropriateness and relevance of the
executive remuneration policy

- determining the remuneration for the Executive Directors and
the Company Secretary reviewing the proposed remuneration
for the semor executive team ensuring that contractual terms
on terrminabion and any payments made are farr to the individual
and Brambles that failure 1s not rewarded and that the duty
to mitigate toss 15 fully recogrused and n determiming such
packages and arrangements giving due regard to all relevant
regulations and associated gudance |

- nsofar as they impact on the Executive Directars and the senior i
executive team, approving the design of, and determuning targets for
all cash-based executive incentive plans, and approving the total
proposed payments from all such plans

- keeping all equity-based plans under review in the Lght of
legislative, regulatery and market developments determining each
year whether awards will be made under such plans and whether
there are exceptional circumstances which allow awards at other
times, approving total proposed awards under each plan, and
approving awards to Executive Directors and reviewing awards
made to the senior executive team

- annually reviewing and taking account of the remuneration trends
across Brambles in its mamn markets and adwvising on any major
changes in employee benefit structures throughout Brambles

- reviewing the funding and performance of Brambles' retirement
plans ang reporting to the Board and

- setecting appointing and setting the terms of reference for external
remuneration consultants who advise the Committee in respect of
the remuneration of the Executive Directors

815 REMUNERATION POLICY
Details of Brambles remuneratton policy can be found in the Directors’
Report — Remuneration Report on pages 31 32,33 and 41

The remuneration of the Chairman of Brambles 1s determined by

the Remuneration Committee The remuneration of the other Non-
executive Directors 1s determined by the Executive Directors with the
Non-executive Directors taking no part in the discussron or decision
retating to their remuneration In setting remuneration advice 1s
sought from external remuneraticn consuttants

During the Year the Committee monitered the Productivity
Commission's recommendations en executive remuneration and the
Government s respanse to those recommendations The Committee
anticipates that Brambles will be well placed to comply with the
expected legislative changes in FY11

8 2 Compartson of remuneration structures

There s a clear distinction between the structure of Non-executive
Directors’ remuneration and that of the Executive Directors and
executive management Brambies has taken account of the guidelines
for executive remuneration packages in Box 8 1 of the CGPR and

the guidelines for non-executive director remuneration in Box 8 2 of
the CGPR Further details can be found in the Directors’ Report —
Remuneration Report on pages 31,32 33 and 41
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The following checklist summarises Brambles’ compliance with the CGPR and contains cross references to the sections of this Statement and
to the exact location of information disclosed at www brambles comn

PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATION

PRINCIPLE 1 LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT

REFERENCE

Recommendation11

Role of the board and management

Corporate Governance Statement 11

Recommendation 1 2

Performance evaluation of seror executives

Corporate Governance Statement 12

Recommendation 1 3

Companies should provide the following infermation in the corporate governance statement

— an explanation of any departures from Recommendations11,120r13

Not applicable

— whether a performance evaluation for senior executives has taken place in the
reporting period and whether it was in accordance with the process disclosed

Corporate Governance Statement 12

A statement of matters reserved for the board or the board charter or the statement of
areas of delegated authority to sentor executives should be made publicly available weally
hy posting it to the company s website in a clearly marked corporate governance section

www brambles com
See "Corparate Governance”, "Board
of Directors” *Role of the Board”

PRINCIPLE 2 STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE

Recommendation 21

Independent directors

Corporate Governance Statement 21

Recommendation 2 2

Independent chairman

Corporate Governance Statement 22

Recommendation 2 3

Roles of chairman and chief executive officer

Corporate Governance Statement 23

Recommendation 2 4

Nomination committee

Corporate Governance Statement 2 4

Recommendation 25

Pracess for evaluating the performance of the board its committees and directars

Corporate Governance Statement 25

Recommendation 2 6

Companies should provide the following information n the corporate
gavernance statement

Corporate Governance Statement

- the skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director held by each
director in office at the date of the annual report

— the names of the directors considered by the board to constitute independent directars
and the company s matertatity thresholds

— the existence of any of the relationships isted in Bax 2 1 and an explanation of why
the board considers a director to be independent notwithstanding the existence of
those relationships

_ astatement as to whether there 1s a procedure agreed by the board for directors
to take independent prafessional advice at the expense of the company

~ the period of office held by each director in office at the date of the annual report

— the names of members of the nomimation committee and their attendance at meetings
of the commuttee or where a company does not have a nomination committee how
the functions of a nominatien committee are carried out

2 4 3 and Directors Report — Other
Informatian page 46

- whether a performance evaluation for the board, its committees and directors
has taken place in the reporting period and whether it was in accordance with the
process disclosed

25

- an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 21 22 23 24 2 Sor26

Not applicable

The following material should be made publicly available, ideally by posting it to
the company s website in a clearly marked corporate governance section

— adescription of the procedure for the selection and appointment of new directors
and the re-election of incumbent directors

www brambles com

See “Corporate Governance™ “Board of
Directors”™ "Board Successton Planring
and Renewal”

~ the charter of the normination committee or a summary of the role rights
responsibilities and membership requirements for that committee
— the board's policy for the ngmination and appointment of directors

www brambies com

See "Corporate Governance”
“Committees of the Board”,
*Nominations Committee”
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PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATION

PRINCIPLE 3 PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION-MAKING

| REFERENCE

Recommendation 3 1

Establish a code of conduct

Carporate Governance Statement 31

Recommendation 3 2

Securities trading policy

Corporate Gavernance Statement 32

Recommendation 3 3

Companies should provide the following infarmation in the corporate
governance statement

- an exptanation of any departures fram Recommendations 31, 320r3 3 Not applicable

The following materiat should be made publicly avartable ideally by posting it

to the company’s website in a clearly marked corporate gavernance section ,
- any applicable code of conduct or a summary www brambles com

- the trading policy or a summary

See “Carporate Governance™ “Other”

“Brambles Code of Conduct” '
{which incorparates the Secunties

Trading Policy as Schedule B)

PRINCIPLE 4 SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

Recammendation 4 1

Establish an audit committee

Corporate Governance Statement 4 1

Recommendation 4 2

Structure of the audit commuttee

Corporate Governance Statement 4 2

Recommendation 4 3

Audit commuttee charter

Corporate Governance Statement 4 3

Recommendation 4 4

Cempanies should provide the following information in the corporate governance
statement

— the names and qualifications of those appointed to the audit commitiee and their
attendance at meetings of the committee or where a company does not have
an audit committee how the functions of an audit committee are carried out

- the number of meetings of the audit commuttee

Corporate Governance Statement 4 3
and Directors Report — Other
Information page 46

- anexplanation of any departures from Recommendatons 41 42 430r4 4

Not applicable

The following material should be made publicly available ideally by posting it to the
company s website in a clearly marked corporate governance section

- the audit comeittee charter

- information on procedures for the selection and appontment of the external avditor,

and for the rotation of external audit engagement partners

www brambles com

See “Corporate Governance”
“Committees of the Board”, "Audit
Committee”

PRINCIPLE 5 MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE

Recommendation 5 1

Establish a continuous disclosure policy

Corporate Governance Statement 51

Recommendation 5 2

Companies should provide the following information in the corporate governance
statement

- anexplanation of any departures from Recommendatins 51 or 52

Not applicable

The policies or a summary of those policies designed to guide compliance with Lesting

Rule disclosure requirements should be made publicly avaitable ideally by posting them

to the company’s website in a clearly marked corporate governance section

www brambles com

See “Corporate Governance”, “Other”
“Brambles Code of Conduct” {which
incorporates the Continuous
Disclosure and Commumcations Policy
as Schedule 3}

PRINCIPLE 6 RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Recommendation 6 1

Establish a communications policy

Corporate Governance Statement 61

Recommendation 6 2

Companies should provide the following information in the corporate governance
statement

— an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 61 or 62

Not applicable

The company should describe how it will communicate with its shareholders publicly,
ideally by posting this information on the company s website in a clearly marked
carporate governance section

www brambles caom

See “Corporate Governance”, “Other”,
“Brambles Code of Conduct” {which
incorporates the Continuous
Disclosure and Cemmunications Policy
as Schedule 3)
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PRINCIPLE/RECOMMENDATION REFERENCE

PRINCIPLE 7 RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK

Recammendation 71 Establish policies for the aversight and management of material business nsks Corporate Governance Statement 71
Recommendation 7 2 Reporting on effective management of matenial business nsks Corporate Governance Statement 72
Recommendation 73 Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer declaration Corporate Governance Statement 73
Recommendation 7 4 Companies should provide the following information in the corporate governance

statement

- an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 71, 72.730r74 Not applicable

— whether the board has recerved the report from management under Corporate Governance Statement 72

Recommendation 7 2

_ whether the board has received assurance from the chief executwe officer [or Corporate Governance Statement 73
equivalent] and the chuef financial officer (or eguivalent} under Recommendatian 73

The following matenal should be mate publicly available deally by posting it to the
company s website in a clearly marked corparate governance section

— a summary of the company 5 policies on nsk oversight and managerment of www brambles com
material business risks See "Corporate Governance”
"Risk Management”

PRINCIPLE 8 REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY

Recommendation B 1 Establish a remuneration committee Corporate Governance Statement 81

Recommendation 8 2 Comparison of remuneration structure Corporate Governance Statements
81 2 and Oirectors Report —
Remuneration Report pages 31 32 33

and 41
Recommendation 8 3 Companies should provide the following infarmation in the corporate governance

statement

— the names of the members of the remuneration committee and their attendance Corporate Governance $tatement
at meetings of the committee or where a company does not have a remuneratian 81 3 and Dirgctors’ Report — Other
comemutiee, how the functions of a remuneration cormmiitee are carried out Information, page 46

- the existence and terms of any schemes for retirement benefits other than Not applicable
superannuation, for non-executive directors

- anexplanation of any departures from Recommendations 81,820r83 Not applicable

The following material should be made publicly avallable, ideally by posting it to the

company s website in a clearly marked corparate governance section

- the charter of the remuneration committee or a summary of the role nghts, www brambles com
responsibilities and rembership requirements for that committee See “Corporate Governance”

“Comrmttees of the Board”,
"Remuneration Commuttee”

- asummary of the company s policy on prohibiting entering into transactions n www brambles com
associated praducts wihich Limit the econormuc nisk of participating in unvested See “Corporate Governance”
entitlements under any equity-based remuneration schemes “Other”, “Brambles Code of Conduct”

[which incorporates the Secunties
Trading Palicy as Schedule B}
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT -
REMUNERATION REPORT

Last year, in recagnition of the tough market conditions Brambles’
financial perfoermance and the need to tightly control costs the
Company took the following actions

- executive salaries were frozen for financial year 2010,

- salaries below the Executive Leadership Team were also frozen
with small increases at lower levels being limited to any exceptional
performers who were pad below market level and

— short term bonuses f awarded at all were extremely modest and
significantly lower than in previous years

In the past year Brambles has continued to have a strong focus an
cost control and bonus and share awards for 2010 under Brambles'
Short Term Incentive plan have reflected the Company's performance
All outstanding Long Term Incentive awards will require improved
performance to vest

The year did see significant changes to Brambles’ executive leadership,
including the appointment of a new Chief Executive Officer Torm Gorman,
the former Group President, CHEP EMEA and a new Chief Financial
Officer, Greg Hayes All new executive appointments were considered
by the Remuneration Comrittee and we are comfortable that the
remuneration 15 reasonable, appropnate and in line with similar roles
glsewhere

During the year a number of semor executives left the business
These were managed under the provisions of the relevant employment
contracts

After four years of no change the Charrman initiated a review of
Non-executve Director fees to ensure they properly reflected local
market rates and the appropriate relativity between tis fees and

those of other Non-executive Directors Increases in Non-executive
Directors’ fees will be largely offset by a reduction in the Charman s fees

In 2011 we will revisit Brambles' remuneration policy to ensure that
there continues to be a close alignment between executive reward and
the delivery of key business objectives and that there are effective
incentives and rewards for the delivery of strong sustainable returns
for shareholders Meanwhile I believe that this Remuneration Report
demonstrates that the current incentive arrangemenis which were
approved by shareholders in 2008, have proved to be fit for purpose

in a difficult economic environment as well as being in ine with recent
government regulation

Finalty we have further simplified the Remuneration Report It remains
challenging to do that and te also ensure all formal disclosures are
properly included I believe this is another step in the right direction

LUKE MAYHEW
Non-executive Director and
Chairman of the Rermuneration Committee

CONTENTS

1 Background

2 Remuneration Committee

3 Remuneration policy and structure

4 Performance of Brambles

5 Executive Directars and Disclosable Executives
§ Non-executive Directors’ disclosures

7 Appendices

1 BACKGROUND

This Remuneration Report includes information on Brambles Executive
Directars, Non-executive Directors. and other Group executives whose
details are required to be disclosed (Disclosable Executives)

Disclosable Executives include those persons having authority and
responsibility for planning directing and controlling the activities of the
Group, and wha, for some or all of the year ending 30 June 2010 {Year)
have been a member of the Executive Leadership Team (ELT)

of Brambles (Key Management Personnetl)

This report includes all disclosures required by the Corporations Act
2001 {Cth} {Act), regulations made under that Act and Australian
Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures The
disclosures required by section 300A of the Act have been audited
Disclosures required by the Act cover both Brambles Limited
{Company) and the Group

2 REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee {Committee) operates under delegated
authonity from Brambles Board The Committee's responsibitities
include recommending overall remuneration pelicy to the Board
approving the remuneration arrangements for the Executive Directors
the ELT and the Company Secretary and reviewing the remunerattan
pobicy and indwvidual arrangements for other executives

More detail on the Remuneration Plan and the Committee's
membership, Charter, activities and advisers, can be found on the
Brambles website at www brambles com under “Corporate
Governance”, Committees of the Board” “Remuneration Committee”

3 REMUNERATION POLICY AND STRUCTURE

The Board has adopted a remuneration policy for the Group which s
consistent wath its business objectives and designed to attract and
retain high calibre executives align executive rewards with the
creation of shareholder value and motivate executives to achieve
challenging performance levels

When setting and reviewing remuneration levels for the Executive
Directors and other members of the ELT the Commuttee considers the
experience, responsibilities and performance of the individual and takes
inte account market data relevant to the individual s role and Llocation
as well as Brambles size geographic spread and complexity The
Group s remuneration policy 15 to pay at the median level of
remuneration for target capability and performance and to provide
upper quartile rewards for outstanding capability and performance
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DIRECTORS' REPORT —
REMUNERATION REPORT
CONTINUED

The structure of Brambles current incentive arrangements was
approved by shareholders at the 2008 Annual General Meeting These
plans received a 96% vote in favour and amended the previous long
term incentive plans approved by shareholders in 2006 The Board
made a minar amendment to the 2006 Share Plan rules in 2009 This
change stipulates that executives who leave the Company under
certan circumstances such as retirement or redundancy would not
receive accelerated vesting of thetr STI Share Awards and would
instead need to wait until the comptetion of the three-year
performance period to receive any awards

Remuneration 15 divided into those components which are not directly
linked to target capability and company performance (that is, they are

Fixed") and these components which are variable and are directly
linked ta Brambles’ financial performance and the detivery of personal
and safety objectives {thatis they are “At Risk’)

3 1 Fixed remuneration

Fixed remuneration generally consists of base salary and benefits
However as I1s common elsewhere, the Chief Executive Officer who1s
based in Australia 15 provided with an annual Total Fixed Remuneration
{TFR) amount and has flexibility as to the precise mixture of cash and
benefits he receves within that amount This may include motor
vehicles club membership, and disability and Lfe insurance Executives
who are not covered by TFR may receive similar benefits in addition to
their base salary

As a global group Brambles operates an international mebility poticy
wiich can include the provision of housing, payment of relocation costs
and other location adjustment expenses where appropriate

3 2 At Risk remuneration

In addition to those elements of remuneration which are Fixed, a
significant element of executives' total petential reward s required
to be At Risk This means that anindividual s maximum potential
remuneration may be achieved only i circumstances where they have
met challenging objectives in terms of Brambles overall financial
performance and sustainable returns for all shareholders The
proportion of executives’ remuneration packages at nsk s illustrated
in section 3 3

At Risk remuneration 15 provided to Brambles executives through shert
termincentive (STI} and long term incentive (LTI} arrangements All
the incentive plans under which awards to Executive Directors and the
Disclosable Executives are still to vest or be exercised are summarised
n sections 72 and 73

Brambles At Risk remuneration includes three different types of
award, an STI cash award STI share award and an LTI share award

Total Shareholder Return (TSR} measures the returns that a company
has prowided for its shareholders, reflecting share price movements
and reinvestment of dividends over a specified period Definitions

of BVA, TSR and Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR} and the
methoads by which they are calculated are included 1 the Glossary

on pages 119 to 120

.

The manner inwhich the awards pperate 1s summarnised in the
following diagram

STI CASH AWARD
Size determined by
performance against
Key Performance
Indicators (see
sectien 4.1 for
details) for the Year,

STISHARE AWARD
Size normally
derived {rom size of
STI cash award.

Awards vest subject
to continued
employment at 3rd
anniversary of grant.

TSR - Qut
performance of
median ranked
company

Full vesting for out
performance of 25%.

LTI SHARE AWARD
Size calcutated as %
of salary/TFR

Sales revenue
CAGR with
BvVA hurdle

1 ]

R Start of End of 8

Financial Year 1 Financial Year 3
PERFORMANCE PERIOD

The market value at the date of grant of all equity awards made to any
persan in any financial year should not normally (and did not during the
Year} exceed two times their TFR or equivalent The STI and LTI share
awards have amaximum life of six years from grant date

Brambles Securities Trading Policy applies to awards granted under
the incentive arrangements described above That policy prohibits
desrgnated persens from acquering financial products or entering inte
arrangements which have the effect of lmiting exposure to the risk
of price movements of Brambles securities It s a condition of semor
executives’ employment contracts that they are required to comply
with all Brambles policies {including the Secunities Trading Policy}
Management declarattons are obtained twice yearly and inctude a
statement that all poticies have been complied with

More detailed information on Brambles current incentive
arrangements 1s set outin sectron 4, and in the relevant plan rules
which can be found on the Brambles website

3 3 Remuneration packages — Fixed vs At Risk

Brambles executive remuneration mixis heavily tied to performance
At Risk remuneration i1s performance based and 15 made up of

short term and long term incentives It represents approximately
65-70% of the executive s remuneration package {based on target
performance for STI and using the fair market value for share awards)

The followang bar graph illustrates the remuneration mix It shows the
potential remuneration mix If an executive hits all targets and the mix
based on actual payments, including STI cash awards made in respect
to the Year, and STI and LTI share awards that vested during the

Year Share awards that vested during the Year were granted as at

29 August 2007 As shown in the following graph, the actual
remuneration of executives 15 between 41% and 68% less than the
potential due to low STI payments and LTI share awards not vesting
during the Year
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Details of the percerntages of the STI cash award expected to be pard
to Disclosable Executives and the percentages of STI cash award
forferted in respect to performance during the Year are shown below

Actual STI cash paid and forfeited in 2010

ACTUAL STICASHAS A%
OF MAXIMUM STI CASH

% OF MAXIMUM 571
CASHFORFEITED
FOR YEAR ENDED
30 JUNE 2010

FOR YEAR ENDED
30 JUNE 2010

Executive Directors

T JGorman B5% 35%
G JHayes 57% 43%
Current Key

Management Personnel

J L Infinger 44% 56%
JRA Judd 43% 57%
P S Mackie 63% 3%
E E Potts 58% 42%
JORitchie 41% 59%
K J Shuba 38% 61%
NP Smith 44% 56%
R JWesterbos B67% 33%

4 PERFORMANCE QOF BRAMBLES
Brambles' remuneration policy (s directly Unked to its performance,
both in terms of financial performance and the creation of shareholder
wealth This ink s achieved in the following ways
~ by placing a sigmficant portion of executives’ remuneration At Risk,
- by selecting appropniate Key Performance Indicators {KPIs) for
annual STI cash awards and performance conditions for equity
awards and
- by requining those KPIs or conditions to be met in order for the
At Risk component of remuneration to be awarded or to vest

The relationship between Brambles’ remuneration policy and its

performance over the Year and the previous four financial years is
setout in section 4 21 The table n section 4 2 1 shows the level
of vesting of awards triggered by performance over those periods

1

BFied E15TT [@LIT

TERE

JORLTCHIE! KJsHUBAt NPSMITH  RJWESTERBOS!

4 1 STI Key Performance Indicators

As gutlined in section 3 2, executives have the opportunity to receive an
annual STI cash and share award based on performance against KPIs
{the share element vests three years after the award)

The STI financtal KPLs chosen for the Year {in addition to personal
strategic and safety objectives) were Brambles Value Added [BVA) and
Cash Flow fram Operations {Cash Flow} plus {for the CEO and the
CFQ) Profit After Tax (PAT) For CHEP and Recall Group Presidents,
KP1Is included Brambtles BVA and their respective business umit (CHEP
or Recall) BYA and Cash Flow

A focus on BVA helps ensure the efficient use of capital within
Brambles PAT captures interest and tax charges which are not directly
mcorporated in BVA The reintroduction of Cash Flaw n 2010 was to
ensure a heightened focus on the generation of cash for the Company
This measure will continue to be used as an STI KPIin 2011

The key levels of performance possible against each of the financial
KPIs relevant to the STI awards for the Year were Threshold {the
minimum necessary to qualify for the awards) Target (where the
performance targets have been met) and Maximum (where the targets
have been significantly exceeded and the related rewards have
reached their upper Limit)

The actual levels of performance achieved for the Year agamst the
financial KP1s are summarised 1n the following table

The potential remuneration shown is far the entire 12 menth period but these executives did not hatd their current position far the whale Year
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Performance against KPIs in 2010

KPlIs %E'\éEYLEI:F.;ERFOIMANCE ACHIEVED DURING
Brambles BVA Between Threshold and Target
Brambles PAT Between Target and Maximum
Brambles Cash Flow Achieved Target
CHEP Americas BVA Below Threshotd
CHEP Americas Cash Flow Achieved Target
CHEP EMEA BVA Between Target and Maximum
CHEP EMEA Cash Flow Achieved Target

CHEP Asia-Pacific BVA Between Target and Maximum

CHEP Asia-Pacific Cash Flow Achieved Target
Recall BYA Between Target and Maximum
Recall Cash Flow Achieved Target

In addit:on to financial measures which comprise 60-70% of each
member of the ELT's STI 30-4Q% of each ST s based onthe
achievernent of personal non-financial measures such as the delivery
of objectives relating to business strategy, growth, customer people
and talent management and safety For example, the Group President
CHEP Americas’ personal objectives included KPIs assocated with the
delivery of the Better Everyday program

Brambles regards the safety of its peaple as a major prionty and the
ELT has Group-wide oversight of the Zero Harm Charter This means
that all ELT members will lose any STI entitlement under their safety
objective if a fatality occurs anywhere in the Brambtes Group

The table tn sectton 3 3 illustrates the impact of the above results
on the level of STI cash award payable and forfeited during the Year

4 2 Equity award vesting conditions

As outlined in section 3 2 Disclosable Executives also have the
opportunity to receive equity awards (n the form of LTI share awards
Vesting only occurs three years from the date of award and depends on
Brambtes' TSR performance relative to the S&P/ASX10C Index over a
three year performance period (Performance Period}, as well as in the
most recent awards Brambles’ performance against sates revenue
growth and BVA hurdles as described in the following tables

A relative TSR performance cendition helps ensure that value s only
delivered to participants if the Investment return actually received by
Brambles’ shareholders 1s sufficiently high relative to the return they
could have receved by investing in a portfolio of alternative stocks over
the same penod of time

Details of the equity awards granted to Disctosable Executives and the
performance hurdles which apply to each of the awards are set out

in section 7 2 The table in section 4 2 1 illustrates the relabionship
hetween Brambles remuneration policy and performance showing the
leval of vesting of equity awards triggered by performance over various
periods to 30 June 2009 and to 30 June 2010

421 PERFORMANCE AWARDS UNDER THE 2004 AND 2006
PERFORMANCE SHARE PLANS

Awards under the above Performance Share Plans are subject to
performance hurdles based on relative TSR The following table details
for awards made during the financial years indicated, the performance
against the applicable hurdle

Level of vesting of LTI and Enhanced STI share awards based on TSR performance

PERIOD TO 30 JUNE 200% PERIOD TO JO JUNE 2010

VESTING TRIGGERED

AWARDS MADE PERFORMANCE START OF PERFORMANCE RANKING PERFORMANCE VESTING TRIGGERED
DURING FINANCIAL YEAR | CONDITION PERIOD |OUT OF 100} % OF ORIGINAL AWARD)

(% OF ORIGINAL AWARD)

2007? Relative TSR* 21 February 2007 814 N/A 0% Enhanced STI Awards
0% LTI Awards

2008? Relative TSR? 1 July 2007 584 N/A C% Enhanced STI Awards
0% LTI Awards

The following table provides similar details for awards which have yet to be tested

AWARDS MA PERFORMANCE START OF PERFORMANCE
DURING FI L YEAR | CONDITION PERIOD

20083 Relative TSR* 1 July 2008

PERIOD TO 30 JUNE 2010

RANKING FERFORMANCE VESTING IF CURRENT PERFORMANCE IS MATNTAINED UNTIL EARLIEST
{0UT OF 00} TESTING DATE {% OF ORIGINAL AWARD)
544

0% LTI Awards

20105 Relative TSR® 1 July 2008 60*

0% LTI Awards

Financial targets set for the forthcoming financial year under Brambles incentive plans will not constitute profit forecasts and the Board 15 conscipus that their
publication may therefore be misleading Accordingly Brambles does not publish in advance the coming year s financial targets for incentive purposes Brambles BVA
performance for the Year 15 however set out on page 10

These performance share nghts were granted under the 2005 Share Plan prior to its amendment in November 2008 Rights under this Plan ves! on the third anniversary
of their grant date subject to meeting a relative TSR performance conditien If the performance condition 1s not met the nghts will lapse

% The average ranking of the Cornpany s TSR against the S&P/ASX 100 Index

5  These performance share nights were granted under the 2006 Share Plan Rights under this Plan vest on the third anniversary of their grant date 50% of the award will
vest subject to meeting a relative TSR performance condition The balance of the award will vest subject to sales revenue growth and BVA performance The vesting
matrix for this component of the 2010 award 1s detailed at section 4 2 2
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422 LTI AWARD VESTING CONDITIONS

In November 2008 shareholders approved changes to the 2006
Share Plan, to introduce twa sets of performance hurdles each
with equal weighting

Half of the LTI share award continues te be measured on relative TSR,
now based on the extent to which the Brambles TSR over the
Performance Pertod exceeds the TSR of the median ranked campany

in the S&P/ASX100 Index over the three year period The other half of
the LTI share award 1s measured against the achigvement of profitable
growth objectives The growth etement of the LTI share award s
designed o incentivise both long term revenue and BVA growth Vesting
1s based on achievement of sales revenue with three year performance
hurdles set on a compound annual growth rate basis The sales revenue
growth targets are underpinned by BVA hurdles This is designed to
drive profitable business growth, te ensure quality of earnings 1s
maintained at a strong level and {o deliver increased shareholder value

Both sales revenue growth and BVA are measured in constant currency

The target matrix 1s set by the Remuneration Committee and approved
by the Board for each LTI award and published in the subsequent
Rermuneration Report and Financial Statements This allows the Boargd
to set targets for each LTI share award which reward strong
performance in the Light of the prevalling and forecast economic and
trading conditions

The following table provides the vesting framewark for the relevant
awards made during the Year These targets are lower than those set
for 2009-2011 to reflect the sigmificantly different global economic
and market conditions If current performance s mamntained until the
performance hurdies are assessed the awards will not vest

LTI performance matnix for financial years 2010 to 2012

VESTING %

CUMULATIVE THREE YEAR BVA

USSM AT FIXED JUNE 2008 FX RATES

SALES REVENUE CAGR*
3% - 30% 50%
4% 30% 50% 70%
5% 50% 70% 90%
6% 70% 90% 100%
7% 90% 100% 100%
8% 100% 100% 100%

*Three year compaund annual growth rate [CAGR) over base year

4 23 ALL EMPLOYEE SHARE PLAN

At the 2008 Annual General Meeting shareholders gave approval
to an all employee share plan (MyShare} which was implemented
in January 2009

Since the imtial launch more than 20% of Brambles employees

from more than 25 countries have elected to participate in MyShare
The number of shares purchased by employees (Acquired Shares) as
at 30 June 201015 723,849 {excluding shares acquired through the
dividend share plan} At the end of March 2011 the first full cycle of
MyShare will be completed when Brambles makes a matching number
of shares available to employees Itis anticipated that this allocation
will result in the MyShare employee shareholding representing 0 1%
of 1ssued capital On completion of the first full cycle of MyShare a
review will be undertaken

Members of the ELT are eligible to participate in MyShare Shares
purchased under MyShare are included in section 5 5, whereas
matching share rights {(Matching Awards) allocated during the Year
are shown 1n section 5 6
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5 EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES

5 1 Executive Director changes

The following changes occurred in respect to Brambles Executive
Directors during the Year Each of the departures was managed

under the prowvisiens of the existing employment contracts The details
were disclosed to the ASX on 6 October 2009 (in respect to Mike Thlein
and Tom Gorman} and 5 November 2009 (in respect to Liz Doherty and
Greg Hayes)

511MF IHLEIN

Mike Ihlein retired as Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director
on 1 November 2009 He agreed to remain in Brambles employ untit

1 March 2010 to assist wsth the transition to the new Chief Executive
Qfficer On retirement from Brambles, Mike Ihlemn recerved the
following payments

— sixmonths TFR {inclusive of payment in beu of notice period},

— payment for any accrued annual leave and long service leave at the
date of retirement

- pro-rated STI payment based on performance against objectives for
the Year, and

- relevant good teaver treatment in respect of his previausly granted
awards under the 2006 Share Plan

512 ME DOHERTY

Liz Doherty resigned from the Board on 16 November 2008 Her
employment with Brambles ceased on 30 November 2009 On
cessation of employment she received the following

— 12 months' TFR {inclustve of payment in lieu of notice period} and

— apayment in consideration for the unvested Brambles shares that
Liz Doherty was granted on joiing in December 2007 These shares
were granted ta her in consideratian for the long term incentive
shares that she forfeited on leaving Tesco

513 T.JGORMAN

Tom Gorman was appointed by the Board to succeed Mike Ihlein as
Chief Executve Officer on 1 November 2009 and became an Executive
Director of Brambles on 1 December 2009

Tom Garman's contract provides for the following remuneration
package

~ TFR comgnising satary and all other benefits {other than incentive
plans) of AS1 800000, and
— participation in Brambles' incentive plans in tne with current policy
> STI opportunity of 45% of TFR (target} and 67% {maximum)
» grant of STI share awards the value of which will match the 8TI
payment each year, and
> grant of annual LTI share awards equal to 115% of TFR

514G JHAYES

Greg Hayes commenced as Chief Financial Officer on

16 November 2009 and became an Executive Director of Brambles
on 1 December 2009

Greg Hayes' contract prowides for the following remuneration package

- base salary of AS1 250 000 and
— participation In Brambles' incentive plans in Line with current policy
> STI opportunity of 60% of base salary (target} and 80%
{maximumj},
> Grant of STI share awards, the value of which will match the STL
payment each year, and
> Grant of annual LTI share awards equal to 130% of base salary

5 2 Service contracts

Current Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel are on
continuing contracts which may be terminated without cause by the
employer giving 12 months notice or by the employee giving six
months’ notice with payments (n lieu of notice calculated by reference
to TFR/annual base salary The termination conditions for Jim Ritchie
Kevin Shuba Elton Potts and Jim Infinger include payments in Lieu of
notice calculated by reference to annual base salary and heatth
insurance benefits These standard service contracts require that any
termination payments made would be reduced by any value to be
received under any new employment

Other than Peter Maclaeb, executives remunerated on a base salary
approach recewve pension contributions of 15% of base salary

B Peter Mackie receives employer superannuation (pension) contributsons of 21% of base salary for ncome up to £153 700 and 15% of base satary for any amount

above £153 700
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Contract terms for executives

NAME AND ROLE(S) CONTRACT TYPE AND ANY SPECIAL TERMS SALARY/TFR AS AT 30 JUNE 2010
UNLESS INDICATED

Executive Directors

Thomas Joseph Gorman Continuing contract TFR {including pension contributions)
Group President CHEP Europe Middie East and Africa until amount of A$1 800000

31 October 2008 Chief Executive Officer from 1 November 2009

Gregory John Hayes Continuing contract Base salary of A$1,250 000

Chief Financial Officer from 16 Navember 2009
Former Executive Directors

Michael Francis Ihlein Continuing contract On death estate TFR (including pensian contributions)
Chief Executive Officer untit 1 November 2009 entitied to 1 3 times TFR amount amount of A$2 363 000 as at date

of cessation of employment

{1 March 2010}
Mary Elizabeth Doherty Continuing contract On death estate TFR (including pension contributions)
Chief Finangial Officer until 16 Novernber 2008 entitled to 1 3 times TFR arnount of ASI 260 000 as at date of cessation

of employment {30 November 2008}

Current Key Management Personnel

James Dawvid Ritchie Continuing cantract Base salary of US$530,000
President CHEP USA until 14 January 2010
Group President CHEP Americas from 15 January 2010

Rudolph Joseph Westerbos Continuing contract Base salary of €390,000
Group President CHEP Europe Middle East and Africa from

19 Aprit 2010

Kevin John Shuba Continutng contract Base salary of US$530 000

Group President, CHEP Americas until 14 January 2010

Group Senior Vice President and Customer Development Officer

from 15 January 2010

E Elton Potts Continuing contract Base salary of US$530 000
Group President and Chief Operating Officer Recall

Peter Stewart Macloe Continuing ¢ontract Base salary of AS550 000
President CHEP Eurape until 31 October 2009

Acting Group President, CHEP Europe Middle East and Africa

from 1 November 2009 to 18 April 2010

Group President, CHEP Asia-Pacific from 19 April 2010

Nicholas Peter Smith Continuing contract Base salary of AS575 000
Group Semor Vice President, Human Resources

Jasper Rayner Augusto Judd Continuing contract Base satary of AS500 000
Group Semor Vice President — Strategic Development until

15 March 2010 Group Semor Vice President and Head of

Innovation from 16 March 2010

James Lows Infinger Continuing contract Base salary of US$425,000
Group Sentor Vice President and Chief Information Officer
from 19 October 2009
Former Senior Executive
Craig Andrew van der Laan de Vries’ Continuing contract On death, estate TFR (including pension contributions)
Group President CHEP Asia-Pacific and Global Head entitted to 0 5 times TFR amount and amount of AS1 025,000 as at date
of Mergers and Acquisitions untit 18 December 2009 05 times average annual STI paud to of cessation of ermployment
him aver three previous years {18 December 2008)

7 Craig van der Laan receved payment in Lizu of a 12 month notice period calculated by reference to annual TFR and the average STI cash award recewved over the previous

three years
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5 3 Total remuneration and benefits for the Year

The following table shows detalls of the total remuneration and benefits provided to the Disclesable Executives for the Year, together with prior
year comparatives This includes ong-off contractual payments to departing executives The TFR amounts shown for Tom Gorman Mike Thlein
Liz Doherty and Craig van der Laan, are those to which they were entitled for the Year and which they elected to receve in a combination of one
or mare of the following elements cash salary payments pension contributions and motor vehicle benefits

SHORT TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS POST SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
EMPLOYMENT
BENEFITS

CASH/ CASH NON- SUPER- | TERMINATION/ TOTAL QPTIONS/ AS% TOTAL

SALARY/ BONUS MONETARY | ANNUATION SIGN-ON BEFORE AWARDS OF TOTAL 055000
TFR/FEES uss'000 BENEFITSE Uss'000 PAYMENTS/ EQUITY Uss'o00
uss'ooa uUss'oog RETIREMENT uss'000
BENEFITS
Uss'000

Executive Directors

T J Gorman 2010° 1,408 692 191 27 - 48 2,366 438 16% 2,804
2009 770 94 18 8C - 21 084 293 23% 1,277
G J Hayes 20108 708 349 1 95 - - 1,154 288 20% 1,442
2009 - - - - - - - - - -
Farmer Executive Directors
MF Ihlein® 2010° 1,492 441 209 - 1,080 - 3,222 952 23% 4,174
2009 2,006 - 38 - - - 2,044 1,543 43% 3587
ME Doherty* 2010° 488 - 56 - 1,554 - 2,098 (351) {20%) 1,747
2008 973 - 21 - - - 994 323 25% 1317
Totals 2010 4,097 1,482 457 122 2,634 48 8,840 1,327 - 10,167
2009 3,748 94 78 80 - 21 4,022 2,158 - 6181
Current Key Management Personnel
J L Infinger 2010 301 99 375 37 - 10 822 291 26% 1,113
2009 - - - - - - - - - -
JRA Judd 2010° 5092 252 4 B66 - - 14 232 21% 1,156
2009 701 41 5 55 - - 802 354 31% 1,158
P 5 Mackie 2010 443 276 136 69 - 17 241 122 12% 1,063
2009 - - - - - - - - - -
E E Potts 2010 513 278 - 67 - 18 876 320 27% 1,196
2009 497 53 - 80 - 18 648 407 39% 1,055
J D Ritche 2010 508 164 56 66 217 13 1,025 375 27% 1,400
2009 - - - - - - - - - -
¥ J Shuba 2010 563 184 8 75 - 19 849 243 22% 1,092
2009 554 - 4 71 - 18 548 373 37% 1021
N P Smith 2010° 544 296 1 76 - - 917 120 12% 1,037
2009 461 54 - 62 - - 577 106 16% 683
R J Westerbos 2010 146 65 3 16 445 1 676 - - 676
2009 - - - - - - - - - -
Former Senior Executive
C Avan der Laan'* 2010° 425 - - - 1,876 - 2,301 (1,028} {81%) 1,273
2009 945 76 3 - - - 1,024 999 49% 2023
Totals 2010 4,036 1,614 583 472 2,538 78 9,321 B85 - 10,006
2008 3158 224 12 268 - a7 3,699 2239 - 5938

?  Non-monetary benefits include car parking personal/spouse travel club membership motor vehicles relocation and storage costs and fringe benefits tax

8 The year-an-year compansan of remuneration costs 1s affected by the movement of exchange rates from A$1=USS0 7479 for 2009 to AS1=USS0 8813 for 2010
Note Footnote 14 appears on page 39
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5 4 Equity-based awards

The following table shows details of equity-based awards made to the
Disclosable Executives during the Year STI and LTI share awards were
made under the 2006 Share Plan the terms and conditions of which
are avaitable in sections 7 2 and 7 3 {see plan numbers 18-20)

Matching Awards were made under MyShare, the terms and conditions
of which are available m sections 7 2 and 7 3 {plan numbers 28-40)
Neither Dolph Westerbos or Craig van der Laan were awarded
equity-based awards during the Year

5 5 Shareholdings

The table below shows details of Brambles Limited ordinary shares in
which the Disciosable Executives held relevant interests being issued
shares held by them and their related parties

Qver the five year period commencing from the date of employment
with Brambles, the Chief Executive Officer must as a minimum
achieve and maintain a shareholding equat to 150% of TFR before tax
Other members of the ELT must, asa minimum achieve and maintain
a shareholding equal to 75% of TFR or 100% of base salary before tax

I
ANARDS QROTHARY SHARES BALANCE AT THE START CHANGES RALANCE AT
OF THE YEAR DURING THE END OF
NAME TYPE OF AWARD NUMBER | VALUE AT GRANT THE YEAR THE YEARIL 12
ussapal?
Executive Directors
Executive Directors »
T J Gorman STI 15158 78 [ JGorman 245 685 330
RES 311168 1329  GdJHayes - - -
MyShare Matching 568 4 Former Executive Directars!?
Total 326,994 1411 M F Thiein 783524 489 784,013%
G JHayes STl - - ME Doherty 10,152 441 105921
LI 405870 1,733 Current Key Management Personnel
Total 405,870 1,733
J L Infinger - 135 1351
Former Executive Directors
P JR A Judd 56590 14809 65,399
MF Thleint MyShare Matching 483 3 "
Total 483 3 P 5 Mackie 245 609 854
ME Dohertyt  MyShare Matching 440 2 EEPotts 50689 7437 98 126
Total 440 2 J DRitchie - 39.941 39841
Current Key Management Personnel K J Shuba 28033 18419 46.452
J L Infinger STl 60092 310 NP Smith 292 754 10461
LTI 68 430 292 R JWesterbos - - -
MyShare Matching 135 1 Former Sensor Executive!
Total 128,717 603 CavanderLaan 15000 34779 43779
J R A Judd STI 8305 43
LTI 75,162 a1
MyShare Matching 878 5
Total 84,345 369
P S Mackie STI 4504 23
LTI 48604 208
MyShare Matching 593 3
Total 53.701 234
E E Patts STl 8487 44
4
LTI 94,564 04 10 The total value of the retevant equity award (s} 1s valued as at the date of grant
MyShare Matching 611 3 using the methotalogy set out in section 7 1 The summuen passtble future value
Total 103,662 451 of all awards yet to vest 1s zero and 1s based on the performance/service
i canditions not being met The maximum possible future value of awards yet to
J D Ritchie STI - - vest 15 equal te the value at grant
LTI 55 266 279 11 0n 31 Juty 2010 the following Disclosable Executives acquired ordinary shares
under MyShare which are held by Computershare Norminees CI Limited
MyShare Matching 224 1 Tom Gorman (76) Jim Infinger (42) Jasper Judd (77) Peter Mackie {77}
Total 65.490 280 Elton Potis (89 Jim Ritchie {59) Kevin Shuba {89) and Nick Smeth (77)
12 0f which Computershare Norminees CI Limuted holds 532 shares for Liz Doherty
K J Shuba STI - - 1029 for Jasper Judd 867 for Elton Potts 224 for Jim Ritchie and 864 for
7T 111034 474 = KeV;"hShgba e —
Held by Computershare Nominees imite
MyShare Matching 611 4 14 Clesing balances are shown as at cessatien of employment for former
Total 111,645 478 employees Mike Thlein s employment ceased on 1 March 2010 Liz Dcherty s
employment ceased on 30 Novernber 2009 and Craig van der LLaan s
NP Smith STI 10,753 56 employment ceased on 18 Decernber 2009
LTI 86 436 368 15 Of which 115 000 shares were held by UBS Wealth Management Australia Pty
Lirnsted for the Ihiesn Family Superannuation Fund 1 000 shares were held w
MyShare Matching 737 4 the form of CREST Depositery Interests by Citibank and 781 shares were held
Total 97,926 429 by Computershare Nominees CI Limited

18 pf which 592 shares were held by Computershare Nominees CI Limited
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5 6 Interests in options/share nghts!’

The table below shows details of options/share rights over Brambles Limited ordinary shares in which the Disclosable Executives held relevant

interests, m the form of

— options, beng awards made under the 2001 Option Plans,

— share rights, being awards made befere 30 June 2004 under the 2001 Share Plans, awards made on 21 October 2005 under the 2004 Share
Plans and awards made on 18 January 2007, 28 August 2007 and 27 August 2008 under the 2006 Share Plan

_ Matching Awards being share rights awarded during the Year under MyShare

BALAKCE AT GRANTED DURING THE YEAR | exEmCISED DURING THE YEARIS LAPSED DURING THE YEAR BALANCE VESTED AND

THE START OF AT THEEND | EXERCISEABLE
THE YEAR OF THE | AT END OF YEAR
YEARIY

Em2021 VALUE AT NUMBER VALUE AT v NUMEER
GRANT USS'000 EXERCISE
US$'000 uss'0002?

Executive Directors

T J Gorman 219688 326,994 1,411 - - - - 546,682 -
G JHayes - 405,870 1733 - - - - 405870 -
Former Executive Directors

MF Thlgin* 809,734 483 3 - - 110038 567 700179 68 7138
M E Doherty!* 246 453 440 2 - - - - 246,893 -
Current Key Management Personnel

J L Infinger - 128717 603 - - - - 128717 -
JRA Judd 1774486 84,345 369 13931% 85 28,668 148 219,192 -
P S Mackie 110041 53701 234 68,2783 40 17,701 91 139763 -
E E Potts 210106 103,662 451 9,955% 66 27,109 140 276,704 -
J D Ritchie 123368 63 490 280 58 7187 281 37,538 266 92602 -
K J Shuba 334,421 111 645 478 134 534% 833 28136 145 283386 -
N P Smith 97463 97,926 429 - - - - 185,389 -
Former Senior Executive

C A van der Laan™ 442 662 - - 347798 237 48507 255 358376 -

17 Of the awards detailed in section 7 3 the foltawing plan numbers are relevant to Disclosable Executives Tom Gorman (3-8 12-14 18-20) Greg Hayes (19-20) Mike Ehlen

(10 12-14 24-35) Liz Doherty (8 12-14 24-33) Jim Infinger (18-20 36-40) Jasper Judd Peter Mackie and Elton Potts (3-8 12-14 1B-2024-40) Jim Ritche (15-20

36-40) Kevin Shuta (1-8, 12-14 19-20 24-40) Nick Smith (12-14 18-20 24-40) and Craig van der Laan (3-8 12-14) Lapses occurred for Mike Ihtein Jasper Judd

Peter Mackie Elton Polts Kevin Shuba and Craig van der Laan from plan numbers 4 and 5 Jasper Judd Peter Mackee Elten Patts Kevin Shuba and Crag van der Laan

exercised from plan number 3 In addition Kevin Shuba exercised from plan numbers 1 anc 2 Jim Ritchie exercised an award from plan number 15 and his awards under

plan number 17 lapsed

0Of the pptiens/nghts exercised during the Year no manies were paid on exercise with the exception of Kevin Shuba who paid US$417 529 on exercise of 104 010 options

dunag the Year

Since the end of the Year on 30 July 2010 the followtng Executive Oirectors and Key Management Persennel received Matching Awards under MyShare Tom Gorman (76)

Jim Infinger (42) Jasper Judd {77) Peter Mackie (77) Elton Potts (69) Jim Ritchie {69) Kevin Shuba (63) and Nick Smith (77)

20 Dyring the Year 3582 251 perfarmance share nghts were granted under the 2006 Share Ptan of which 326 326 were granted to Tom Gorman and 405 870 were granted
to Greg Hayes prior to thewr appontmment as Executive Directars

21 During the Year 537 154 Matching Awards were granted under MyShare of which 483 were granted to Mike Ihlein and 440 were granted to Liz Doherty Approval for the
1ssue of these securities was abtained under ASX Listing Rule 10 14 at the AGM held on 25 November 2008 668 Matching Awards were granted (o Tom Gorman under
MyShare Tom Gorman s application ta continue to participate in MyShare was accepted before he became an Executive irector

22 | apse® n this cantext means that the award was forfeited due to erither the service ar performance conditions not being met

23 yested during the Year

24 (f which 9 326 vested during the Year

Note Footnote 14 appears on page 39

19
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6 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' DISCLOSURES

6 1 Non-executive Directors’ remuneration policy

Non-executive Directors’ fees are determined by the Executive
Directors, with the Non-executive Directars taking no part in the
discussion or decision relating to their fees In setting the fees advice
15 sought from external remuneration consultants on the appropriate
level of fees takming into account the responsibibities of Directors in
dealing with the complexity and global nature of Brambles' affairs
and the level of fees paid to Non-executive Directors in comparable
companies

Since 1 January 2007 Non-executive Directors fees have been fixed
and denominated in US dollars and then converted each month into the
currency of the country in which each sndvidual Non-executive Director
resides Following four years of unchanged fees during the Year the
Chatrman inttrated a review of Non-executive Director fees and the
relativity between his fee and those of other Non-executive Directors
The aim of the rewiew was to simplify the structure of the fees and
ensure they praperly reflect current market rates At the completion
of the review, it was decided that effective from 1 February 2010,
Nan-executive Directors fees would be denominated in Australian
doltars other than for UK based Non-executive Directors whose fees
would be denorminated in Pounds Sterling This review led to a
reduction in the Chawrman s fee and an increase in other Non-executive
Directors’ fees

This review established the following fee structure

Chairman AS543 333
Australia based Non-executive Directors AS173 000
UK based Non-executive Directors?® £80,000
Fee supplement for Audit Committee

Chairman? AS36,000
Fee supplement for Remuneration

Committee Chairman?3% £15,000

The next fee review will take effect from 1 January 2011

6 2 Non-execubive Directors’ appointment letters

Directers are appointed for an unspecified term but are subject to
election by shareholders at the first Annual General Meeting after
thew initial appointment by the Board Under Brambles Limited s
constitution, no member of the Board may serve for more than

three years from the date of appointment without being re-elected
by shareholders Re-appointment is not automatic The Board reviews
whether retinng Directors should stand for re-electron having regard
to their performance and the contributton of their individual skills and
experience to the desired overall composition of the Board

Letters of appointment for the Non-executive Directors, which are
contracts for service but not contracts of employment, have been put
in place These letters confirm that the Non-executive Directors have
no nght to compensation on the termination of their appointment for
any reason, ather than for unpaid fees and expenses for the pernod
actually served

The Non-executive Directors do not participate in Brambles short
or long term incentive plans nor do they receive any benefits in kind
Details of the years in which the Non-executive Directors are next
due for re-election by shareholders are shown in the Corporaie
Governance Statement in section 2

6 3 Non-executive Directors’ remuneration for the Year

The fees and other henefits prowided to Non-executive Directors during
the Year and during the prior year are set out in the table betow The
futl names of the Non-executive Directors and the dates of any changes
in Non-gxecutive Directors are shown n the Directors Report — Other
Information

Any contrbutions to personal superannuation or pension funds on
behalf of the Non-executive Directors are deducted from their overall
fee entitlements

25 Luke Mayhew the Remuneration Commuttee Chawman 15 currently the anly UK based Nan-executive Director
26 The fee supplement is anly payable to a Committee Chairman who 1s not also the Board Chairman
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT —
REMUNERATION REPORT
CONTINUED

Table 6 3 Non-executive Directors’ remuneration for the Year

SHORT TERM POST EMPLOYMENT SHARE-BASED

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS PAYMENT
BENEFITS
_

10 323
uss'000

SUPERANNUATION OTHERY? TOTAL BEFORE EQUITY | OPTIONS/AWARDS
ussoa0 US$000 Uss000 USs'000

Current Non-executive Directors

A G Froggatt 2010 125 8 - 133 - 133
2008 108 10 - 118 - 118
S P Johns 2010 155 8 - 163 - 163
2008 136 12 - 148 - 148
SCHKay 2010 122 11 - 133 - 133
2009 108 10 - 118 - 118
G J Kraehe AQ 2010 448 40 4 492 - 492
2009 471 21 4 486 - 496
C L Mayhew 2010 138 5 1 144 - 144
2009 133 5 - 138 - 138
J P Mutlen 2010 84 8 - 92 - 92
2009 - - - - - -
B M Schwartz AM 2010 122 11 - 133 - 133
2008 33 3 - 36 - 36
Former Non—executive Director
0P Gosnell 2010 85 3 31 119 - 119
2009 113 4 22 135 - 139
Totals 2010 1,279 94 36 1,409 - 1,409
2009 1,102 65 26 1183 - 1193

6 4 Non-executive Directors’ shareholdings
Non-executive Directors are encouraged to hold shares in Brambles equal to their annual fees after tax within three years of their appointment

The following table contains details of Brambles Limited shares in which the Non-executive Directors held relevant interests, being issued shares
held by them and their related parties The Non-executive Orecters do not participate in Brambles' equity-based incentive schemes

ORDINARY SHARES BALANCE AT THE CHANGES BALANCE AT
START OF THE YEAR DURING THE END OF
THE YEAR THE YEAR

Current Non-executive Directors

A G Froggatt®® 14,890 - 14 830
S P Johns® 47,500 - 47500
S CHKay® 13400 - 13,400
G J Kraehe AQ¥ 61 561 - 61,561
C L Mayhew™ 16,500 - 16500
J P Mullen - - -
B M Schwartz AM 10000 354 10 354
Former Non-executive Director

D P Gosnell* 14,450 - 14,450

7
28

“Other” includes personal/spouse travel and fringe benefits tax

Of whach 7000 shares were held by Christine Joanne Fraggatt

2 gf which 27 500 shares were held by Canzak Pty Limited and 20 000 shares were held by Caran Pty Limited
30 91 which 8 500 shares were held by the Sarah Carolyn Hailes Kay Superannuation Fund

31 Hatd by Inwvia Custodians fer Graham John Kraehe Private Superannuation Fund

32 peld by Warldwide Nominees Limited

33 Held by Brian Schwartz and Arlene Schwartz as trustees for the Schwartz Superannuation Fund

3% Held by Susan Gosnell
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7 APPENDICES

7 1 Basis of valuation of equity-based awards
Unless otherwise specified, the fair value of the options and share rights included in the tables in this report has been estimated by Ernst & Young
Transactton Adwisory Services in accordance with the requirements of AASB 2 Share-based Payments using a binomial model Assumptions used
1n the evaluations are cutlined in Note 27 on page 92

7 2 Summary of 2001, 2004 and 2006 plans
The table below contans details of the 2001 Share Ptans, the 2001 Option Plans, the 2004 Share Plans and the 2006 Share Plan under which
former or current Executive Directors and Disclosable Executives unvested and/or unexercised awards which coutd affect remuneration in this

or future reporting periods

NATURE OF AWARD

SIZE OF AWARD

VESTING CONDITION

VESTING SCHEDULE

PERFOAMANCE/

VESTING PERIOD

LIFE OF AWARD

2001 Option Share nghts % of salary/TFR Time and relative 8% vesting if TSR 15 Three years, with Maximum of six years
Plans TSR hurdle {between ranked 50th out of 100 retests after four
50th and 25th out companies 100% vesting  and five years
of 100} if ranked 25th or better
2001 Share Plans  Share rights % of salary/TFR Time and EPS CAGR  25th vesting of EPS CAGR  Three years with Maximum of six years
hurdle {between 7% 15 7% pa 100% vesting« retests after four
and 15% pa) EPSCAGRI1s15% pa and five years
2004 & 2006 Share nghts up 10 100% of size  Time gnly 100% vesting based on Three years Maximum of six years
Share Plans of STI Cash Award cantinuous employment
(STH)
2004 & 2006 Share rights Up to 50% of size Time and relative 4% vesting If TSR 1s Three years Maximum of six years
Share Plans of STI Share TSR hurdle (between ranked 37th out of 100
{Enhanced STI) Award 37th and 25th out companies 100% vesting
of 100} If 25th or better
2004 & 2008 Share nights % of salary/TFR Time and relative 30% vesting f TSR 15 Three years Maximum of six years
Share Plans (TSR TSR hurdle (between ranked 50th out of 100
LTI} 50th and 25th out companies 100% vesting
of 100} If 25th or better
2006 Share Plan Share nghts % of salary/TFR Time and relative 40% vesting f TSR 15 Three years Maxirmum of six years
{TSRLTI) as TSR hurdle (between  equal to the median
amended at the 50th and 25th out ranked company 100%
2008 AGM of 100) vesting 1f 25% above the
medsan ranked company
2006 Share Plan  Share rights % of salary/TFR Time and sales 20% vesting occursf Three years Maximum of six years
{BVALTI) revenue growthand  CAGR s 7% and BVA 1s
BVA performance USs2 000 over three year
period 100% vesting
occurs If CAGR 1s 11%
and BVA 1s US$2,200
aver three year pertod
MyShare Matching 1 1 match for Time and retention of  N/A Tweo years from Automatic exercise on
share rights every acquired acquired shares first acquisitron second anniversary of

share purchased

first acquisition

The 2004 Share Plans operate in the same way as the 2006 Share Plan described 1n section 4 2 although, under the 2004 Share Plans
relative TSR performance 1s measured relative to the S&P/ASX50 and the FTSE 100

7 3 Opttons and share nghts

The terms and conditions of each grant of options and share rights affecting remuneration in this or future reporting periods are outlined

in the table below Options and share rnights granted under the plans carry no dividends or voting rights®

¥ Awards granted under the 2004 Plans were formerly over both BIL and BIP shares
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PLAN GRANT DATE EXPIRY DATE €XERCISE PRICE | VALUE AT GRANT | STATUSVESTING DATE
AWARDS MADE NUMBER
2001 Option Plan® 1 4 March 2004 4 March 2010 AS531/£2 11 AS1 17/£044 100% exercisable from 4 March 2007
2001 Share Plans 2 4 March 2004 4 March 2010 - AS467/£185 100% exercisable from 4 March 2007
2006 Share Plans 3 19 January 20073% 31 August 2012% - AS1260 100% exercisable from 19 January 2010
4 18 January 2007%8% 31 August 20127 - AS572 100% lapsed at 1 July 2009
5 19 January 2007334 31 August 2012% - AS697 100% lapsed at 1 July 2009
6 29 August 2007% 30 August 2013% - AS1264 29 August 2010
7 29 August 2007*° 30 August 2013% - ASB75 28 August 2010
B8 29 August 20074 30 August 2013% - A$811 29 August 2010
9 26 February 2008% % 2 December 2013% - AS338  100% lapsed at 30 November 2009
10 19 March 2008* 2 March 2014 - AS884 1 March 2011
11 28 April 2008% 29 April 2014% - ASB01 28 April 2011
12 27 August 2608¥ 27 August 2014% - ASB53 27 August 2011
13 27 August 2008* 27 August 2014%° - AS599 27 August 2011
14 27 August 20084 27 August 2014% - AS4 67 27 August 2011
15 1 June 2008 1 July 2010 - AS575 100% vested at 1 June 2010
16 1 June 2009 1 July 2011 - AS555 1 June 2011
17 1 June 2008 1 October 2009 - AS568 100% lapsed at 30 Septermber 2009
18 25 Novemnber 20087 25 November 2015% - AS585 25 November 2012
19 25 November 2008%1 25 November 2015% - AS585 25 November 2012
20 25 November 2009% 25 November 2015% - AS$384 25 November 2012
MyShare 24 31 March 2009% 1April 2011 - AS509 31March 2011
25 30 April 2009% 1 April 2011 - AS597 31 March 2011
26 29 May 2009 1 April 2011 - AS$591 31 March 2011
27 30 June 2008 1 April 2011 - AS591 31 March2011
28 31 July 2009% 1 Apnil 2011 - A$567 31 March 2011
28 31 August 2009% 1 Aprit 2011 - AS6 88 31 March 2011
a0 30 September 2009 1 April 2011 - AS779 31 March 2011
a1 30 October 20094 1 April 2011 - AS676 31 March2011
32 30 Novermber 200945 1 April 2011 - AS6 30 31 March 2011
33 31 December 2009 1Apnl 2011 - AS646 31 March 2011
34 29 January 2010% 1 Apnl 2011 - AS623 31 March 2011
35 26 February 20104 1 April 2011 - AS659 31 March 2011
36 31 March 2010 1 April 2012 - AS700 31 March 2012
37 30 April 2010%8 1 Apnil 2012 - AS692 31 March2012
38 31 May 2010% 1 April 2012 - ASE31 31 March 2012
39 30 June 20104 1 April 2012 - As513 31March 2012
40 30 July 2010 1 Apnl 2012 - AS518 31 March 2012

LUKE MAYHEW

Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

19 August 2010

3§

37

40

41

Alt values in AS relate to awards onginally made over BIL shares andin £tc
awards made over BIP shares

571 awards vest on the third anniversary of their grant date subject ta
continued employment

Awards granted on 19 January 2007 were for pricing and vesting purpases
taken ta have been granted an 30 August 2006

Awards granted to Elton Potts Tom German Kevin Shuba Jim Infinger and
Jim Ritchie expire three years earlier than the date shown or immediately after
vesting 1f earlier

Enhanced STE awards vest on the third anniversary of therr grant date subject
to continuing empkoyment and meeting a TSR perfarmance condition

These LTT awards vest on the thirg anniversary of thewr grant date subject to
continung employment and meeting a TSR performance condition

42

44

45

Awards granted on 19 March 2008 were for pricing and vesting purposes taken
to have been granted on 1 March 2008

Awards granted on 26 February 2008 were for pricing and vesting purposes
taken to have been granted on 1 December 2007

These LTI awards vest on the third anaiversary of their grant date subject to
continuing employment and meeting a sales growth and BVA performance
condition

These Matching Awards granted under MyShare vest on 31 March 2011 subject
to continuing employment and retentian of the associated Acguired Shares

On vesting they are automatically exercised
45

These Matching Awards granted under MyShare vest on 31 March 2012 subject
to continuing ermployment and retention of the associated Acquired Shares
0On vesting they are automatically exercised
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
— OTHER INFORMATION

The information presented in this Report relates to the censolidated
entity the Brambles Group consisting of Brambles Limited and

the entities it controlled at the end of or during the year ended

30 June 2010 (Year}

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group duning the Year were the grovision
of pallet and container pooling and supply chain services and
information management services Brambles is a leading global
provider of these services

The Group s principal operations comprise two main businesses, CHEP
and Recall CHEP owns a pool of pallets and containers, which it issues
collects and reissues through its network of service centres to
manufacturers, producers, distributors and retarlers so that they may
transport thewr preducts safely and efficiently In addition CHEP
provides supply chain gptimisation and transport management
services Recall rs a global leader in the management of informatton
providing secure storage digitisation retrieval and destruction of
information in multiple media formats

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group s primcipal
activities during the Year

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND RESULTS

A review of the Group s operations a review of the results of those
operatons and details of any significant changes in its state of affairs
during the Year, are given in the Letter from the Chairman and the CEQ
an page 1, the Operational and Financiat Review on pages 4 to 11 and
n the Treasury and Risk Review on pages 12 to 13

Information about the financial pesstion of the Group 1s included
in the Operationat and Financial Review on pages 4 to 11 and in
the Performance Summary on pages 2 to 3

MATTERS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance that has
arisen since 30 June 2010 up to the date of this Report that has
significantty affected or may sigmificantly affect the operations of the
Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the
Group In future financral years, except as may be stated elsewhere

in the Letter from the Charman and the CEQ on page 1 and the
Operational and Financial Review on pages 4 to 11

BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS FOR FUTURE
FINANCIAL YEARS

The business strategees and prospects for future financial years
together with Likely developments in the operations of the Group in
future financiat years and the expected results of those operations
known at the date of this Report, are set out In the Letter from the
Chairman and the CEC en page 1 and the Operational and Finarcial
Review on pages 4 to 11 Further information in relation to such matters
has not been included because the Directors believe it would be Likely
to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group

1

DIVIDENDS

The Directars have declared a final dvidend of 12 5 Austrabian cents
per share, which will be 20% franked The dividend will be paid on
Thursday, 14 October 2010 to shareholders on the register on
Wednesday, 22 September 2010 On 8 Apnil 2010 an interim dividend
was paid which was 12 5 Australian cents per share and 20% franked
Depending on certain elections made by shareholders, a finat dividend
for the year ended 30 June 2009 of 12 5 Australian cents per share,
20% franked, was paid either on 8 Octeber 2009 or 27 October 2009
The unfranked component of each dvidend paid during the Year was
conduit foreign income !

DIRECTORS

The name of each person who was a Director of Brambtes Limited at
any time during or since the end of the Year and the pertod for which
they served as a Director are set out below The quabifications,
experience and special responsibilities for Directars are set cut gn
page 15

Mary Elizabeth Daherty 1 July 2009 to 16 November 2009

Anthony Grant Froggatt 1 July 2009 to date

Thomas Joseph Gorman 1 Decemnber 2009 to date
Dawvid Peter Gosnell 1 July 2009 to 31 March 2010
Gregory John Hayes 1 Decernber 2008 to date
Michael Francis Ihlein 1 July 2005 to 1 Novernber 2009
Stephen Paul Johns 1 July 2009 to date

Sarah Carolyn Hailes Kay 1 July 2009 to date

Grahar John Kraehe AQ 1 July 2009 to date
Christopher Luke Mayhew 1 July 2009 to date

John Patnck Mullen 1 Novernber 2009 to date
Brtan Martin Schwartz AM 1 July 2009 to date
SECRETARY

Details of the qualifications and the experience of the Company
Secretary of Brambles Limited are as fotlows Robert Nies Gerrard
joined Brambles in 2003 as Senior Counsel and was appointed Group
Company Secretary in February 2008 Prior to joirung Brambles he
was General Counsel to and Company Secretary of Roc Oil Company
Lirmited Group Legal Manager CarnEnergy plc General Counsel

to. and Company Secretary of, Command Petroleum Limited and a
sobicitar wath Allen Allen & Hemsley He holds a Masters of Law (LLM)
from the Unwersity of Sydney and Bachelor of Sctence (BSc) and
Bachelor of Law (LLB) degrees from the University of New South
Wales He s a Solicitor of the Supreme Court of New South Wales ‘

|
This means that no Australian dividend withhotding tax was payable on the drvdends that Brambles pad to non-resident shareholders :
|
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
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DIRECTORS' MEETINGS
Details of the membership of Board committees are given in the Corporate Gavernance Statement on pages 20 23 and 27 The following table
shows the actual Board and committee meetings held during the Year and the number attended by each Director or comnuttee member

OIRECTORS BOARD MEETINGS

REGULAR SPECIAL AUDIT COMMITTEE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
COMMITTEES MEETINGS MEETINGS MEETINGS

Current Directors

. A G Fraggatt 11 11 2 3 - - - - 7 7 4 4
| T J Gorman'® 7 7 - - 1 1 - - - - - -
G JHayes®™ 7 7 - - 2 2 - - - - - .
S P Johns 10 11 3 3 4 4 7 7 - - 4 4
SCHKay 11 11 3 3 2 2 7 7 - - - -
G JKraehe AD 11 11 3 3 3 3 - - 7 7 4 4
C L Mayhew 10 11 2 3 - - - - 7 7 - -
J P Mullent 7 8 - - - - - - 2 3 - -
B M Schwartz AM 11 11 3 3 - - 7 7 - - - -

Former Directors

M £ Doherty' 3 3 3 3 2 2 . . - - R -
D P Gosneil'® 7 8 3 3 - - 4 5 . . - .
M F Ihlein® 3 3 3 3 2 2 - - - - R -

Ial

This ¢column refers to the number of meetings attended during the period the Directar was a member of the Board or relevant committee which the Director was
eligible to atteng

This column refers to the number of meetings held while the Director was a member of the Board or relevant committee which the Directar was eligible to attend
Torn Gorman and Greg Hayes were appointed as Oirectors with effect from 1 December 2009

Liz Deherty resigned as a Director on 16 November 2009

te David Gosnell resigned as a Director on 31 March 2010

U1 Mike Thlen retired as a Director on 1 November 2009

fal ot Mullen was appointed a Director on 1 November 2009

ib.
i
(g
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DIRECTORS' DIRECTORSHIPS OF OTHER LISTED COMPANIES

The following lists the directorships held by the Directors in listed companies {other than Brambles Lirmited) since 30 June 2007 and the period for

whtch each directorship has been held

‘ PERIDD DIRECTORSHIP HELD

A G Froggatt AXA Asia Paoific Holdings Limited 2008 to current
Billabong International Lirited 2008 to current
Scottish & Newcastle plc 2003 to 2007

T J Gorman None -

G JHayes None .

S P Johns Leighton Holdings Lirmted 2009 to current
Spark Infrastructure Group 2005 to current
Westfield Group
Westfield Holdings Limited 1985 to current

Westfield Amenca Trust (directar of responsible entity Westfield America

Management Limited)

1996 to current

Westfield Trust (director of responsible entity, Westfield Management Limsted) 1985 to current
SCHKay Commonwealth Bank of Australia 2003 to current
G JKraehe AD Bluescope Steel Limited 2002 to current

Djerriwarrh Investments Limited 2002 to current
CL Mayhew WH Smuth plc 2006 to current
J P Mullen® Deutsche Post World Net 2005 to 2009

Embarq Corporation 2006 to 2008

Telstra Limited 2008 to current
B M Schwartz AM Insurance Australia Group Limited 2005 to current

Westfield Group

Westfietd Holdings Limited 2009 to current

Westfield America Trust {director of responsible entity Westfield America

Management Limited}

Waestfield Trust [director of responsible entity Westfield Management Limited)

2008 ta current

2009 to current

@) Jghn Mullen was appainted a director of MAp Arports Limited on L July 2010

INDEMNITIES

Indemmnities provided to Directers and officers in accordance with

the constitution of Brambles Limited are detailed in Note 35 on

page 112 Insurance policies are in place to cover Directors and
executive officers however the terms of the policies prohioit
disclosure of the detais of the insurance cover and the premiums paid

ENVIRONMENT, OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY,
EMPLOYEES AND RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Brambles Environmental Policy 1s set by the Board Itapplies inall
countries where Brambles operates and provides that Brambles will
act with integrity and respect for the community and the environment
be committed to sound environmental practice i its daily operations
that it 1s a minimum requirement that all Brambles operations
comply with all relevant environmantal laws and regulations, that
all employees care for the environment by adopting a specified set
of environmental principles, that every business unit must ensure
that those principles are adhered to and that each business unit
should set environmental performance targets, menitor progress
and report results

Regular environmental audits are conducted to evaluate compliance
with applicable laws and regulations and implementation of the
Environmental Policy A copy of the complete Environmental Policy
1s set out n Brambles’ Code of Conduct, which 15 avarlable at

www brambles com

The Board 1s responsible for setting Brambles' Health and Safety Policy
which states thai Brambles 1s to provide and maintain a healthy and
safe working environment and to prevent injury Illness or impairment
to the health of employees, contractors customers or the public

Brambles 1s commutted to achieving Zero Harm The Zero Harm
Charter, which sets out the vision, values and behaviours and
commitment required to work safely and ensure environmentat
compliance ts provided to all employees and, together with the
complete Health and Safety Policy, 1s on the Brambles website at
www brambles com

The Cheef Executive Officer together with the Group Presidents of
CHEP and the Group President and Chief Operating Officer of Recatl
are responsible for policy implementation and safety performance
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Health and safety performance indicators measure compliance with
corporate objectives and milestones, allow assessment of progress
and comparison with industry benchmarks and provide incentives
for improvement

The princtpal safety performance measures are Brambles Injury
Frequency Rate (BIFR), Lost Time Imury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) and
Lost Ttme Injury Seventy Rate (LTISR} BIFR measures the combined
number of fatalities lost time injuries, modified duties and medical
treatments per million hours worked LTIFR measures the number of
injuries that result in an employee being absent from work for one or
mare whole shifts per million work hours LTISR measures the number
of injury days lost per miluon work hours During the Year Brambles
and CHEP used BIFR as therr safety performance measure and Recall
used LTIFR and LTISR Recall will transition to BIFR from the 2011
year and this will become the primary measure for the entire Group

During the 2011 year a 'balanced scorecard approach to safety
performance measurement will be adopted, to help prowvide new
insights into safety performance and ways to improve upon it

The balanced scorecard will replace LTIFR and LTISR through

the introduction of measures evaluating injury cost, employee
perception of safety performance and business compliance agamnst
plans and strategies

A global engagement survey was conducted in November 2009 to
cbtain feedback from employees on Brambles as a place to work and
the progress made since the previous survey Brambles achieved an
overall response rate to the survey of 89%, setting a new global
benchmark for the Group Employee engagement at Brambles has
ymproved since the last survey There are a number of programs in
place to further improve employee engagement Another survey will
be carried out in the 2011 year

Brambles 1s a member of a teadership development consortium with
CEDEP the European Centre for Executive Development InFY10
approximately 80 senigr executives attended a number of development
activities and Brambles also ran a Next Generation Leaders program to
better equip high potential middle managers for future leadership roles

Brambles carries out research and development activibies in relation to

both 1its CHEP and Recall businesses These activities comprise

— continuously testing its pallets and containers to make them more
durable sustanable and safer for use in the supply chain

— developing new pallets, containers and other supply chain platforms

— improving pallet and container repair equipment

— developing umque identifier technolegies, cluding radio frequency
indentification and

— research into and development of new service offerings, information
technology and software solutions, and information and document
management processes

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

Except as set out below, the operations of the Group in Australia are
not subject to any particular and significant environmental regulation
under a law of the Commonwealth or a State or Terntory The
operations of the Group n Australia involve the use or development
of land, the use of transportation equipment and the transport of
goods These operations may be subject to State Terntory or Local
government environmental and town planning regulattons, or require
a licence consent or approval from Commonwealth, State or Ternitory
regulatory bodies There were no material breaches of environmental
statutory requirements and no material prosecutions during the Year

Brambles' businesses comply with all relevant environmental laws and
regulations and none were nvolved 1n any matenal environmental
prosecutions durng the Year

INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Pages 39 40 and 42 of the Remuneration Report include details of
the relevant interests of Directors, and other Group Executives whose
details are required to be disctosed. in shares and other secunties

of Brambles Limited

SHARE CAPITAL, OPTIONS AND SHARE RIGHTS

Detalls of the changes in the issued share capital of Brambles Limited
and options, share rights and MyShare matching share rights
outstanding over Brambles Limited ordinary shares at the year end are
given in Notes 26 and 27 on pages 89 to 92 No options share nights or
MyShare matching share rights over the shares of Brambles Limited's
controtled entities were granted during or since the end of the Year to
the date of this Report

Since the end of the Year to the date of this Report, the following
grants exercises and forferts in options, performance share rights and
MyShare matctung share nghts over Brambles Limited ardinary shares
have taken place, broken down by reference to the plan numbers
shown on page 44 of the Remuneration Report
- 57933 grants under plan 40,
- 4978 exercises resulting in thessue of fully paid ardinary shares
3 551 under the 2009 MyShare offer {plan numbers 24 to 35} and
1 427 under the 2010 MyShare offer {plan numbers 36 to 40}
- 881 333 lapses 5 090 under the 2009 MyShare offer {plan numbers
24 to 35), 6,665 under the 2010 MyShare offer, 198 142 under
plan 7 663,669 under plan 8, 2,450 under plan 14 and 5 317 under
plan 20
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SHARE BUY-BACKS
No ordinary shares were bought-back and cancelled during the Year
There s no current on-market buy-back in operation

RISK MANAGEMENT

A discussien of Brambles risk profile, management and mitigation of
risks can be found in the Treasury and Risk Review an pages 12 and 13
and the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 25 to 27

TREASURY POLICIES

A discussion of the implementation of treasury policies and mitigation
af treasury risks can be found in the Treasury and Risk Review on
pages 12 and 13

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The amount of US$184,000 was paid or I1s payable to
PricewaterhouseCoapers, the Group's auditors for non-audit

services provided during the Year by them {or another person or firm
on ther behalf) These services primarily related to imptementation

of a compliance tracking system and tax consulting advice The Audit
Committee has reviewed the provision of non-audit services by
PricewaterhouseCoepers and its related practices and provided

the Directors with formal written advice of a resolution passed by

the Audit Committee Consistent with this advice, the Directors

are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by
PricewaterhouseCoopers and its related practices did not compromise
the auditor independence requirements of the Act for the following
reasons the nature of the non-audit services provided during the Year,
the quantum of non-audit fees compared to overall audit fees and the
pre-appraval, monitoring and ongaing review reguirements under the
Audit Committee Charter and the Charter of Audit Independence in
relation to non-audit work

The auditors have also provided the Audit Cormmittee with a letter
confirming that in their prafessional judgement, as at 4 August 2010
they have maintained their independence in accordance with their

firm s requirements, with the previsions of APES 1310~ Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants and the applicable provisions of the Act
On the same basis, they also confirmed that the objectivity of the audit
engagement partners and the audit staff 1s not impaired

AUDITORS' INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditors independence declaratton as required under
section 307C of the Act 1s set out on page 117

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held at 2 00pm {AEDT) on 18 November 2010 at
The Wesley Theatre Wesley Conference Centre 220 Pitt Street,
Sydney NSW 2000

This Directors’ Report 1s made 1n accordance with a resolution of |
the Board

G J KRAEHE AQ
Chairman

A

T J GORMAN
Chief Executwve Officer

19 August 2010
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SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION

DIRECTORS
G J Kraehe AD
(Non-executive Chairman)

A G Froggatt
{Non-executive Director)

T J Gorman
{Chief Executive Officer)

G J Hayes
{Chief Financial Officer)

S P Johns
{Non-executive Oirector)

S CHKay
{Non-executive Director)

C L Mayhew
{MNan-executive Director}

J P Mullen
{Non-executive Director)

B M Schwartz AM
{Non-executive Director)

COMPANY SECRETARY
R N Gerrard

REGISTERED OFFICE
Brambles Limited
Level 40, Gateway

1 Macquarie Place
Sydney NSW 2000
Australia

ACN 118896 021

Telephone 61 (0) 2 9256 5222
Facsimile 61 {Q) 29256 5299
Website www brambles com

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Brambles’ ordinary shares are Listed on the Austrakian Securities
Exchange and are traded under the stock code ‘BXB"

SHARE REGISTRY
Online access to shareholding information 1s available to investors
through the Link Market Services website

Link Market Services Limited
Level 12, 680 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Australia

Locked Bag Al4
Sydney South NSW 1235
Australia

Telephone 1300 883 073 {freecall within Australia)

61 (0} 2 8280 7143 {from outside Australia}
Facsimile B1 (0} 2 9287 0303
Email registrars@linkmarketservices com au
Website www linkmarketservices com au

SHARE OPTIONS/RIGHTS REGISTRY

Employees or former employees of Brambles who have gueries about

the following interests

- share options under the 2001 Option Plans,

- performance share rights under the 2001 2004 or 2006 share plans

- matching share rights under MyShare, or

— shares acquired under MyShare or other share interests held
through Computershare Nominees CI Limited,

may contact Computershare Plan Managers

Computershare Ptan Managers Pty Limited
Attention Brambles Employee Share Plans
GPO Box 658

Melbourne VYIC 3001

Austraba

Telephone 1800133 976 {within Austrabia)

1 (0) 39415 4659 (from outside Austrabia)
Facsimile 61 {0) 3 89473 2458
Email BramblesSharePlans@computershare com au
Website  www computershare com/brambles

UNCERTIFICATED FORMS OF SHAREHOLDING
Brambtes' ordinary shares are held in uncertificated form There are
two types of uncertificated holdings

Issuer Sponsored Holdings This type of holding 1s recorded on a
subregister of the Brambles share register maintained by Brambles

If your holding Is recorded on the 1ssuer sponsored subregister you will
be allocated a Securityholder Reference Number ar SRN, which 15 a
unique number used to identify your holding of ordinary shares in
Brambles

Broker Sponsered Holdings This type of holding 15 recarded on the
man Brambles share register Shareholders wha are sponsored by an
ASX market participant broker will be allocated a Holder Identification
Number or HIN One HIN can relate to an mvestor s shareholdings

tn multiple compames For example a shareholder with a partfolio

of holdings which are managed by a broker would have the same HIN
for each sharehotding

SHARE SALE FACILITY

Ordinarly Issuer Spansared shareholders must establish a relationship
with a broker in order to sell their shares However Brambles share
registry provides Issuer Sponsored shareholders with an alternative to
traditional share sale services I§ you would like to take advantage of
this service to sell your entire Brambles shareholding, please contact
Link Market Services using the contact details above Please note that
under ant)-money laundering regulations Link Market Services may
require shareholders to complete an identification information form

If you are a Broker Sponsored shareholder please contact your broker
if you wish to sell your Brambtes shares
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Brambles Limited 2010 AGM will be held at 2 00pm {AEDT} on 18 November 2010 at The Wesley Theatre Wesley Conference Centre,
220 Pitt Street Sydney NSW 2000

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Final dridend 2010

Ex dividend date — Thursday, 16 September 2010
Record date — Wednesday 22 September 2010
Payment date - Thursday, 14 October 2010

2011 (Prowvisional)

Announcement of interim results — mid February
Interwn dividend — mid Aprit

Announcement of final results - mid August
Final dvidend — mid October

AGM — November

ANALYSIS OF HOLDERS OF EQUITY SECURITIES AS AT 16 AUGUST 2010

Substantial shareholders
Brambles has been notified of the foltowing substantial shareholdings

HOLDER | NUMBER OF Dl:;::;; % OF ISS::J"EED‘?:PDIITV::(Ra
Baillie Gifford & Co 71,408,272 506
BlackRock Investment Management {Australia} Limited 71242004 500
Commonwealth Bank of Australia and its subsidiaries 165,509 641 1164
Maple-Brown Abbott Limited 71,359,976 502

13 parcentages are as disclosed in substantial holding notices given to Brambles Lirited

Number of ordinary shares on 1ssue and distribution of holdings

1-1,000 36679 17869,288
1,001 -5000 33,389 80617400
5001 - 10000 5815 41 840 646
10,001 - 100 000 3,451 74,053 386
1004001 and aver 179 1207753965
Total 80,013 1,422,234,685

The number of members holding less than a marketable parcel of 97 ordnary shares (based on a market price of AS5 19 an 16 August 2010) 15 4,889
and they hold a total of 227598 ordinary shares The voting rights of ardinary shares are described on page 52

Number of options/rights on 1ssue and distribution of holdings

I HOLDERS OPTIONS/RIGHTS
1-1,000 1778 577,208
1001-5,000 124 278783
5,001 - 10000 46 292 381
10,001 - 100,000 99 4,214 023
100 001 and over 13 2689,790
Total 2,060 8,062,185

The voting rights of options, performance share nghts and MyShare Matching Awards are described on page 52
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
CONTINUED

Twenty largest ordinary shareholders

NAME NUMBER OF % OF SHARE CAPITAL
ORDINARY SHARES
1 HSBC Custody Nominees {Australia) Limited 409,331,962 28 78%
2 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 253538728 1783%
3 National Nominees Limited 251 287062 1767%
4 Citicorp Nominees Pty Lirited 105,598,325 742%
5 Cogent Naminees Pty Limited 31284571 220%
6 ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash Income A/C> 22755 658 1 60%
7 RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 9527278 067%
8 Australian Foundation Investment Company Limited 8425028 0 59%
9 Australian Reward Investment Albance 7871074 056%
10 Citrcorp Nomenees Pty Limited <CFS WSLE 452 AUST SHARE A/C> 6335432 0 45%
11 Citicorp Norminees Pty Limited <CFSIL CWLTH AUST SHS 1 A/C> 6,040,000 042%
12 AMP Life Limited 5791 384 041%
13 HSBC Custody Nominees {Australia) Limited — A/C 2 4 427,855 031%
14 Argo Investrments Limited 4,252 106 0 30%
15 UBS Wealth Management Australia Mominees Pty Ltd 3955975 028%
16 Citicorp Nominges Pty Limited <CFSIL CFSWS GEAR 452 AU A/C> 3480239 024%
17 Queensland Investment Corporation 3,442,985 024%
18 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CWLTH BANK OFF SUPER A/C> 3.428 016 024%
19 Djernwarrh Investments Limited 2886018 020%
20 Perpetual Trustee Company Limited 2550196 018%
Percentage of total holdings of 20 largest holders 1,146,309,892 80 59%

Voting rights ordinary shares

Brambles Limited s constitution provides that each member entitled to
attend and vote may do so in persen or by proxy by attorney or, where
the member 15 a body corporate by representative The Directors may
also determine that at any general meeting a member who 15 entitled
to attend and vote on a resolution at that meeting is entitied to a direct
vote in relation to that resolution The Directors have prescribed rules

to govern direct voting which are avaitable at www brambles com

On a show of hands every member present in person, by proxy by

attorney or where the member is a body corporate, by representative
and having the right to vote on a resolution has one vote The Owectors

have determined that members who submit a direct vote will be
excluded on a vote by a show of hands

On a poll every member present in person, by proxy by attorney or
where the member ts a bedy corporate by representative and having
the right to vote on the resolution has one vote for each ordinary share
held The Directors have determined that votes cast by members who
submit a direct vote will be included on a vote by a poll being one vote
for each ordinary share held

Voting rights options/rights
Options over ordinary shares, performance share rights and MyShare
Matching Awards do not carry any voting rights
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CONSOLIDATED

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2008
USsM USEM

Continuing operations

Sales revenue 5a 41468 401886
Other income 5a 970 967
Operating expenses 5b  (3,5251) (34021)
Share of results of joint ventures 18c 58 50
Operating profit 7245 7182
Finance revenue 28 71
Finance costs (112 4) {1280)
Net finance costs 8 (109 6) (1209)
Profit before tax 6149 5973
Tax expense g (1710} {163 3)
Profit from continuing operations 4439 4340
Profit from discontinued operations 12 49 186
Profit for the year attnbutable to members of the parent entity 448 8 4526
Earrungs per share {cents) 10

Total

— basic 18 326
- drluted 317 25
Continuing operations

- basic 315 i3
— dituted 314 312

The consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction wath the accompanying notes

Non-statutory measure

Underlying profit

Underlying profit 1s profit from continuing operations before finance costs, tax and Significant ems (refer Note 8} Itis presented to assist users
of the financial statements to understand Brambles' business results and reconciles with operating profit as follows

Underlying profit 7334 8006
Significant items

- restructuring costs Ga (89) 1153 3)
- foreign exchange gain on capital repatriatian 8¢ - 773
— Walmart transition impact 6d - (290)
— LISA pallet quality program costs* Be - (774)
Operating profit 7245 7182

= In October 2009 CHEP USA launched its Better Everyday customer service and quality pregram In FY10 spending under the Better Everyday program together with
the final USS37 mitlion spending under the USA pallet quality program announced in February 2008 have been presented within Underlying profit In prior years USA
pallet quality program costs were presented as Sigrificant items Comparatives have not been restated
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

HOTE 2610

USSM

20098
USsM

Profit for the year 4488 4526
Other comprehensive income

Actuanal losses ondefined benefit pension plans 25e (59) (29}
Exchange differences

- an translation of foreign operations 28 {71 2) (262 6)
- on entities disposed {aken to profit 28 - [0 8)
Cash flow hedges 28 14 (14 2)
Income tax on other comprehensive income 9a 08 47
Other comprehensive income for the year (74 9) (275 B)
Total comprehensive ingome for the year attributable to members cof the parent entity 3739 1770

The cansclidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 2010 2009
USSM UssMm

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 13 1355 901
Trade and other recevables 14 6316 65386
Inventories 15 335 351
Dervative financial nstruments 16 145 11
Other assets 17 531 722
Total eurrent assets 8682 8521

Non-current assets

Other recevables 14 62 8l
Investments 18 140 138
Property plant and equipment 19 3,2238 34416
Goodwill 20 6070 8123
Intangible assets 21 1586 1630
Deferred tax assets 8 198 70
Derivative financial instruments 18 120 -
Other assets 17 07 06
Total non-current assets 4,0421 472464
Total assets 4,910 3 50985
LIABILITIES

Current Labilities

Trade and other payables 22 6814 6837
Borrowings 23 2760 680
Derwvative financial instruments 18 122 128
Tax payable 785 646
Provisions 24 872 936
Total current Liabilities 11353 9228

Non-current Liabilittes

Borrowings 23 16188 21655
Denwvative financial instruments 16 01 58
Provisions 24 340 530
Retirrement benefit obligations 25 504 508
Deferred tax Labilities 9 408 2 4499
Other tabilities 22 209 214
Total non-current Labilities 21424 27464
Total babilittes 32777 36692
Net assets 16326 1,4293
EQUITY

Contributed equity 26 13,9796 1384786
Reserves 28 (15,0074} {149387}
Retained earnings 28 2,6601 25201
Parent entity interest 16323 14290
MNon-controlling interest 28 63 a3
Total equity 16326 14293

The consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying nates
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CONSOLIDATED

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

USsM ussMm
Cash flows from aperating activities
Receipts from customers 4,658 5 45757
Payments to suppliers and employees (3,3925) (33068)
Cash generated from operations 1,266 0 17689
Dwidends recerved from joint ventures 59 71
Interest receved 29 80
Interest pard (104 6) (1318)
Income taxes paid on eperating activities {179 9) (1292)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 30b 9903 10230
Cash flows from investing actvities
Purchases of property plant and equipment {496 5) (683 8)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 880 104 6
Purchases of intangible assets (332) (24 3)
Proceeds from disposal of businesses 13 18
Costs incurred on disposal of businesses - (4 E]
Acquisitron of substdianies, net of cash acguired - a1
Net cash outflow from investing activities {440 4) {606 6)
Cash flows from financing actwities
Proceeds from borrowings 2,2229 1,40472
Repayments of borrowsngs (2,5412) (15135)
Net inflow/(outflow) from hedge instruments 358 (79)
Proceeds from issues of ordinary shares 27 08
Dwidends paid net of Dividend Reinvestment Plan {204 5) (2776)
Net cash outflow from financing activities {484 3) {394 0}
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 656 224
Cash and deposits net of overdrafts, at beguinning of the year 841 BE81
Effect of exchange rate changes 36 (364}
Cash and deposits net of overdrafts, at end of the year 30a 1233 541

The consolidated cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

SHARE RESERVES ! RETAINED NOM-
CAPITAL USsM EARNINGS | CONTROLLING

ussM UsSsM INTEREST
USSM

Year ended 30 June 2009
Opening balance 137786  {146715) 24361 03 1.5435

Tatal camprehensive iIncome - (272 5} 4495 - 1770

Share-based payments

- expense racognised - 145 - - 145
- shares 1ssued - (63) - - (63)
- equity component of related tax - (28) - - (29

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

- dividends detlared 28 - - {365 5) - {365 5)
—1ssues of ordinary shares net of transaction costs 26 71 - - - 71
—1ssues of ordinary shares under Dividend Reinvestment Plan 26 619 - - - 619
Closing balance 13,8476 {149387) 25201 03 14293
Year ended 30 June 2010

Opening balance 13,8476 (14,9387) 25201 D3 1,4293
Total comprehensive income - (70 3} 444 2 - 3739

Share-based payments
— expense recognised - 107 - - 107
- shares issued - (91) - - 91)

Transactions with owners in thewr capacity as owners

- dividends declared 28 - - (304 2) - (304 2)
- 1ssues of ordinary shares net of transaction costs 26 118 - - - 118
- 1ssues of ordinary shares under Dividend Reinvestment Plan 26 1202 - - - 1202
Closing balance 13,9796 (15,007 4) 2,660 1 03 16326

1 Refer Note 28 for further infermation on reserves

The consolidated statement of changes 1n equity should be read in conjunction with tha accompanying notes
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements present the consolidated results of
Brambles Liruted (ACN 118 896 021) {Company} and its subsidianes
(Brambles or the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2010

The financial statements comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) This general purpose financial report has
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
{AAS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board {AASB) the Urgent Issues Group
Interpretations {UIG} and the requirements of the Corporations Act
2001 {Act)

The financial statements are drawn up In accordance with the
conventians of histenical cost accounting except for derwvative
financial instruments and financial assets and Liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

References to 2010 and 2009 are to the financial years ended 30 June
2010 and 30 June 2009 respectively

Detalls of Unification whereby Brambles Limited acquired all the share
capital of Brambles Industries Limited (BIL) and Brambles Industries
plc (BIP} under separate schemes of arrangement on 4 Decemnber
20086, are set out 1n Brambles 2007 Annual Report

NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The conselidated financial statements and all comparatives have

been prepared using the accounting policies set out below which

are consistent with the prior year, except for financial statements
presentation, segment reperting and financial instruments disclosures

Financial statements presentation

Brambles has applied revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements from 1 July 2009 The revised standard requires the
presentation of a staternent of comprehensive iIncome rather than a
statement of recognised income and expense Additionatly a statement
of changes in equity 15 now disclosed as a pnimary statement rather
than in a note Comparative information has been re-presented to
conform to the revised standard

Segment reporting

Brambles has applied AASB 8 Operatsng Segments from 1 July 2009
AASB 8 requires adoption of a management approach when reporting
segment perfermance The information presented 1s based on
Brambles internal management reporting to the Chief Executive
Officer {CEO). being the chief operating decision-maker, and reftects
what the CEQ uses when evaluating segment performance and
deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments

There have been no changes to the definition of operating segments
however additional disclosures are now included in the financial
statements Geographic disclosures now present Australia separately
Comparative figures have been provided

Financial instruments disclosures

Brambles has applied the amendments to AASB 7 Financial

Instruments Disclosures from 1 July 2009 These reguire disclosure

of far value measurements by source of input using the following fair

value hierarchy

— Level 1 ~ the fair value 1s calculated using quoted prices in active
markets

— Level 2 - the fair value 1s estimated using mputs other than quoted
prices inctuded tn Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
Liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly {derived from prices)
and

- Level 3 —the far value 1s estimated using inputs for the asset or
liability that are not observable market data

Comparative figures have been provided

Other new accounting standards and interpretatons

At 30 June 2010, certain ather new accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that will become mandatory in
future reporting periods Brambles has not early-adopted these new
or amended accounting standards and mterpretations in 2010

AASB 2003-8 Amendments to Austratian Accounting Standards —
Group Cash-Settled Share-based Payment Transactions is applicable
to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010

The amendments confirm that an entity receiving goods or services
1n a group share-based payment arrangement must recognise an
expense for those goods or services regardless of which entity in the
group settles the transaction or whether the transaction is settled in
shares or cash The amendments also clarify the measurement basis
for such transactions The amendments are not expected to affect
Brambles’ accounting for share-based payments Brambles will apply
the amendments from 1 July 2010

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2009-11 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards ansing from AAS8 9 are applicable to
annual reporting pertods beginming on or after 1 January 2013 AASB 9
addresses the classification and measurement of financial assets and
may affect Brambles® accounting for financial assets Brambles s yet
to assess the full /mpact of this standard

Basis of consoudation

The consolidated financial statements of Brambles include the assets,
liabilitres and results of Brambles Limited and all its legal subsidiaries
The consolidation process eltminates all inter-entity accounts and
transactions Any financial statements of overseas subsidianies that
have been prepared in accordance with overseas accounting practices
have been adjusted to comply with AAS before inclusion in the
consolidation process The financial statements of all subsidianies

are prepared for the same reporting period

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent Labilities of a
subsrdiary are measured at thew farr values at the date of acquisition
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the
identifiable net assets acquered 15 recognised as goodwill Any
deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of the
identifiable net assets acquired (e discount on acquisition) 1s credited
to the income staternent in the pened of acquisition The interest of
ngn-controlling shareholders Is stated at the non-contrelling proportion
of the fair values of the assets and lizbilities recognised With effect
from 1 July 2009, any acquisition-related transaction costs are
expensed in the penod of acquisition

The results of subsicdiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal as appropnate
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED
Investment in controlled entities

Shares in controlled entities, as recorded in the parent entity are
recorded at cast less provision for imparment

Investment in joint ventures

Investments in joint venture entities are accounted for using the equity
method in the consotidated financial statements, and include any
goodwill arising on acquisition Under this methed, Brambles' share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses of the joint venture is recogmsed
in the iIncome statement and 1ts share of post-acquisition movements
In reserves 15 recogaised in consolbidated reserves The cumulative
post-acquisition movemnents are adjusted against the carrying amount
of the investment

If Brambles' share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its
interest in the joint venture Brambles does not recognise further
losses unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf
of the joint venture

Loans to equity accounted joint ventures under formal loan agreements
are long term n nature and are included as nvestmentis

Where there has been a change recognised directly in the joint
venture s equity, Brambles recogmses its share of any changes as a
change in equity

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of carrying amount and far value less costs
to selt

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use This condition 1S regarded as met
only when the sale 1s highly probable and the asset (or disposal group)
1s available for immediate sale in1ts present condition Management
must be committed to the sale which should be expected to qualify
for recogrition as a completed sale within one year from the date

of classification

Dhiscontinued operations

The trading results for business operations disposed during the year
or classified as held far sale are disclosed separately as discontinued
operations in the income statement The amount disclosed includes
any related impairment losses recognised and any gains or losses
arising on disposal

Comparative amounts for the prior year are restated in the ncome
statement to include current year discontinued operattons

Presentation currency
The consclidated and summansed parent entity financial statements
are presented in US dollars

Brambles uses the US dollar as its presentation currency because

— asigmificant portion of Brambles activity 1s denominated In us
dollars and

— the US dollar 1s wadely understood by Australian UK and
international investors and analysts

Fareign currency
Items included n the financial statements of each of Brambles’
entities are measured using the functionat currency of each entity

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of each entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions, and frem the translation at
year-gnd rates of monetary assets and labiities denominated in
foreign currencies, are recogrised tn the income statement except
where deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges or gualifying
net investment hedges

Non-monetary assets and Labilities carned at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates orevailing
at the date when the fair value was determined Gains and Losses
arising on retranstation are recogmsed directly i equity

The results and cash flows of Brambles Limited subsidiaries and joint
ventures are transiated into US dollars using the average exchange
rates for the period Where this average s not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevalling an the
transaction dates, the exchange rate on the transaction date 1s used
Assets and uabiities of Brambles Limited subsicharies and joint
ventures are translated into US dollars at the exchange rate ruling at
the balance sheet date The share capital of Brambles Limited 1s
translated into US dellars at hustorical rates All resulting exchange
differences arising on the translation of Brambles overseas and
Austrabian entities are recognised as a separate component of equity

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and joint ventures that
report in the currency of a hyperinflationary economy are restated in
terms of the measuring unit current at the balance sheet date before
they are translated into US dollars

Goodwill and far value adjustments arsing on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and Liabilities of the foreign entity
and transtated at the closing rate

The principal exchange rates affecting Brambles were

Average 2010 08813 13782 15733
2009 07479 113822 16103
Yearend 30 June 2010 08498 12185 15051
30 June 2008 06114 141086 16637
Revenue

Revenue 15 recogrised to the extent that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to Brambles and the revenue can be
reliably measured Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the
consideration received ar receivable Ampunts disclosed as revenue
are net of duties and taxes pad (Goods and Services Tax and local
eguivalents)

Revenue for services ts recogmsed when invoicing the custemer
following the provision of the service and/or under the terms of agreed
contracts in accordance with agreed contractual terms in the period in
which the service s provided
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DOther income

Other income includes net gains on disposal of property, plant and
equipment in the ordinary course of business which are recognised
when control of the property has passed to the buyer Amounts arising
from compensation for irrecoverable pooling equipment are recognised
only when 1t 1s probable that they will be received

OIVIDENDS

(wvidend revenue 1s recognised when Brambles' right to receve the
payment 15 established Dividends receved from investments in
subsidiaries and joint ventures are recognised as revenue even If they
are pasd out of pre-acquisition profits

Finance revenue

Interest revenue 1s recognised as the interest accrues {using the
effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial nstrument) to the net carrying amount of the financial asset

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the year in which
they are incurred, except where they are included in the cost of
qualifying assets

The capitalisation rate used ko determine the amount of berrowing
costs to be capitalised i1s the wetghted average interest rate applicable
to the enbity’s outstanding borrowings during the year No borrowing
costs were capitalised in 2010 or 2009

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

Payments to defined contributien pension schemes are charged as an
expense as they fall due Payments made to state-managed retirement
benefit schemes are dealt with as payments to defined contribution
schemes where Brambles oblbgations under the schemes are
equivalent to those ansing in a defined contribution pension scheme

A liability in respect of defined benefit pension schemes 1s recognised
In the balance sheet, measured as the present value of the defined
benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of the
penston scheme’s assets at that date Pension obligations are
measured as the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at rates reflecting the ytelds of high guality corporate
bonds

The costs of providing pensians under defined benefit schemes are
calculated using the projected unit credit methed, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date Past service
cost 1s recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are
atready vested and otherwise 1s amortised on a straight-line basis
over the average penod until the benefits become vested

Actuanial gains and losses arising from differences between expected
and actual returns and the effect of changes in actuariat assumptions
are recogrised In full through the statement of comprehensive iIncome
n the perod in which they anse

The costs of other post-employment Liabiiities are calculated in a
similar way to defined benefit pension schemes and spread over
the period during which benefit i1s expected to be derwed from the
employees serviges, in accordance with the advice of qualified
actuartes

Executive and employee option plans

Incentives in the form of share-based compensation benefits are
provided to executives and employees under share option performance
share and MyShare employee share plans approved by shareholders

Options and performance share awards are fair valued by gualified
actuaries at their grant dates in accordance with the requirements

of AASB 2 Share-based Payments, using a binormal modet The cost

of equity-settled transactions 1s recognised together with a
corresponding increase  equity, on a straight-line basis over the period
in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on
which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award
(vesting date}

Executives and employees in certain jurisdictions are provided cash
incentives calculated by reference {o the eptrons and awards under the
share option schemes {phantom shares} These phantom shares are
far valued on imtial grant and at each subsequent reporting date

The cost of such phantom shares 1s charged to the income statement
over the relevant vesting periods, with a corresponding increase

N provisions

The far value calculation of options and performance shares granted
excludes the impact of any non-rmarket vesting conditions Non-market
vesting conditions are included i assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to become exercisable At each balance
sheet date, Brambles reviews its estimate of the number of options
and performance shares that are expected to become exercisable

The employee benefit expense recognised each period takes into
account the most recent estimate

Significant items and Underlying profit

To assist users of the financial statements in understanding Brambles’
business results Brambles discloses Significant 1items as a footnote to
1ts Income statement

Significant items are items of Income or expense which are erther

indiidually or i aggregate material to Brambles or to the relevant

business segment and

- outside the ordinary course of business (eg gains or losses on the
sale or termination of aperatiens, the cost of significant
reorgamsations or restructuring), or

- part of the ordinary actvbies of the business but unusual due to
thesr size and nature

Underlying profit 1s a non-statutory profit measure and represents
profit from continuing operations before finance costs tax and
Significant items

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the cash flow statement, cash includes deposits at call
with financial institutions and other highly lgutd mvestments which are
readily convertible ta cash on hand and are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts Bank
overdrafts are presented within borrowings in the balance sheet

Recevables

Trade recewvables due within one year do not carry any interest and

are recognised at amounts receivable less an allowance for any
uncollectible amounts Trade receivables are recogrised when services
are provided and settlement 1s expected within nermal credit terms
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

Bad debts are written-off when identified A provision for doubtful
receivables is established when there 1s a levet of uncertainty as to the
full recoverability of the recervable, based on objective evidence
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor
will enter liquidation, recevership or bankruptcy, and defauit or sigmficant
delay in payment are considered indicators that the trade receivable 1s
doubtful The amount of the prowision 1s measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the trade recervables and the estimated
future cash flows expected to be received from the relevant debtors
When a trade recevable for which a provision had been recegrised
becomes uncoilectible in a subsequent peniod 1t 1s written off against the
provision account Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against other expenses in the income statement

Inventories

Stock and stores on hand are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisabte value and where appropriate provision i1s made for possible
obsolescence Work in progress which represents partly-completed
work undertaken at pre-arranged rates but not inveiced at the balance
sheet date, 1s recorded at the tower of cost or net realisable value

Cost s determined on a first-in, first-out basis and, where relevant,
includes an appropnate portion of overhead expenditure Net realisable
value s the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less estimated costs of completion and costs to make the sate

Recoverable amount of non-current assets

At each reporting date, Brambles assesses whether there s any
indication that an asset, or cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs, may be impaired Where an indicator of impairment exists
Brambles makes a formal estimate of recoverabte amount The
recoverable amount of an asset 15 the greater of its fair value less
costs to selt and sts value in use

Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount
the asset Is considered to be impared and 5 written down to its
recoverable amount The impairment loss 1s recognised in the income
statement in the reporting pernod in which the write-down occurs

The expected net cash flows included in determining recoverable
amounts of non-current assets are discounted to their present values
using a market risk adjusted discount rate

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (PPE} is stated at cost net of
depreciation and any impairment, except land which 1s shown at cost
Lless impairment Cost includes expenditure that s directly attributable
to the acquisition of assets, and where applicable an initial estimate of
the cost of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site an
which 1t 1s located

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised enly when it 1s probable that
future economic benefits assaciated with the expenditure will flow
te Brambles Repairs and maintenance are expensec in the income

statement in the period they are incurred

Depreciation 1s charged in the financial statements so as to write-of{
the cost of all PPE other than freehold land to their residual value on
a straight-line or reducing balance basis over their expected useful
lives to Brambles Residual values and useful Lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date

The expected useful Lives of PPE are generally

- buldings 50 years
- pooling equipment 5-10 years
~ gther plant and equipment {owned and leased) 3-20years

The cost of improvements to leasehold properties 1s amortised over
the unexpired portion of the lease or the esbimated useful life of the
tmprovement to Brambles whichever 1s the shorter

Provision 15 made for irrecoverable pooting equipment based on
experience In each market The prowvision is presented within
accumulated depreciation

The carrying values of PPE are reviewed for impairment when
circumstances indicate their carrying values may not be recoverable
Assets are assessed within the cash generating unit to which they
belong Any impairment losses are recogmised in the income statement

The recoverable amount of PPE 1s the greater of its fair value less
costs to setl and its value in use Valuen use 1s determined as
estimated future cash flows discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate reflecting current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risk specific to the asset

PPE 1s derecognised upon disposal er when no future economic benefits
are expected to anise from continued use of the asset Any net gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset 1 included i the Income
statement and presented within other inceme in the pertod in which the
asset 1s derecognised

Goodwill
Goodwill 1s carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses
Goodwill 1s not amortised

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the
fair value of Brambles share of the net identifiable assets of the
acquired subsidiary or joint venture at the date of acquisibon Goodwill
on acquisitions of subsidiaries 1s inctudad in intangible assets Goodwaill
on acquisitions of joint ventures 1s included in investments in joint
ventures

Upon acquisiticn any goodwill arising 1s allocated to each cash
generating unit expected to benefit from the acquisition Goodwitl 1s
tested annually fer impairment or mere frequently if events or changes
In circumstances indicate that it might be impatred An impairment loss
15 recognised when the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit
1s less than its carrysng amount

On disposal of an operation goodwill associated with the disposed
operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal

Intang:ble assets

Intangible assets acquired are capitalised at cost unless acquired
as part of a business combination in which case they are capitalised
at far value as at the date of acquisition Following mitial recognition
intangible assets are carried at cost less provisions for amortisation
and impairment

The costs of acquiring and developing computer software for internal
use are capitalised as intangible non-current assets where it 1s used to
suppert a significant business system and the expenditure leads to the
creation of a durable asset
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Useful lives have been established for atl non-goodwill intangibte
assets Amortisation charges are expensed in the income statement on
a straight-line basis over those useful ives Estimated usefil Lives are
reviewed annually

The expected useful Lives of intangibte assets are generally
- customer Uists and relationships 3-20 years
~ computer software 3-10vyears

There are no non-goodwill intangible assets with indefinite lives

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of
impairment exists, either individually or at the cash generating unit level

Gains or losses anising from derecogmition of an intangible asset are
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income
statement when the asset 1 derecognised

LIABILITIES

Payables

Trade and other crediters represent liabibities for goods and serwvices
provided to Brambles prior to the end of the financial year which
remain unpaid at the reporting date The amounts are unsecured
and are paid within normal credit terms

Non-current payables are discounted to present value using the
effective interest method

Provisions

Prowisions for Liabilities are made on the basis that, due to a past event,
the business has a constructive or legal obligation to transfer economic
benefits that are of uncertain timing or amount Provisions are
measured at the present value of management’s best estimate at the
balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation
The discount rate used (s a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the nisks appropriate to
the Liability

Where discounting 1s used, the increase in the prowsion due to the
passage of time 1s recognised as a finance cost in the income
statement

Interest bearing Labilities

Borrowings are imitially recogrised at fair value, net of transaction
costs (incurred Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost Any difference between the borrowing proceeds {net of
transaction costs) and the redemption ameunt 1s recognised tn the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method

Borrowings are classified as current liabilitres unless Brambles has
an uncandibionat right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the balance sheet date

Employee entitiements

Employee entitlements are provided by Brambles in accordance with
the legal and social requirements of the country of employment
Principal entitlements are for annual leave sick leave long service
leave and contract entitlements Annual leave and sick leave
entitlements are presented within trade and other payables

Liabilities for annual leave as well as those employee entitlements
which are expected to be settled within one year, are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled All other employee
entitlement Liabiltties are measured at the estimated present value of
the future cash cutflows to be made in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date

Dividends
A prowision for dividends is only recogrused where the dividends have
been declared pnar to the reporting date

Leases

Leases are classified at therr inception as either operating or finance
leases based on the economic substance of the agreement so as to
reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership

OPERATING LEASES

The minimum lease payments under eperating leases, where the
lessor effectively retains substantially ail of the nsks and benefits
of ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense

on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease

FINANCE LEASES

Finance leases which effectively transfer substantally all of the risks
and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item to Brambles,
are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the
leased asset or if lower present value of the mimmum lease payments
and disclosed as property plant and equipment held under lease

A lease Liability of equal value 1s alsc recognised

Lease payments are allocated between finance charges and a
reduction of the lease liability so as te achieve a constant pertod rate
of interest on the lease liability cutstanding each penod The finance
charge I1s recognised as a finance cost in the income statement

Capitalised tease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
estimated useful Uife of the assets and the lease term

Income tax

The income tax expense or benefit for the year (s the tax payable or
recewvable on the current year s taxable income based on the national
income tax rate for each junsdicton adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attnbutable to temporary differences between
the tax bases of assets and Liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
financtal statements, and to unused tax losses

Deferred tax s accounted for using the balance sheet Liability method
In respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and Labilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit calculated using tax
rates which are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance

sheet date

Deferred tax assets are recogrised for deductibie temporary
differences and unused tax losses only If it 15 probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
15 no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utiised
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3C JUNE 2010

NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

Deferred tax assets and Liabilities are not recognised

- where the deferred tax anses from the inibial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at
the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting grofit nor
taxahtie profit or loss, or

— Inrespect of temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and joint ventures where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be conirolled and it 1s probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Current and deferred tax attributable to amounts recognised directly
in equity are also recognised directly in equity

Financtal assets

Brambles classifies its financial assets in the following two categories
financial assets at far value through profit or lass and loans and
receivables The classification depends on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR L.OSS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets
held for trading A financial asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term

LDANS AND RECEIVABLES
Loans and receivabies are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinahle payments that are not quoted in an active market

Financial assets are recognised on Brambles balance sheet when
Brambles becomes a party to the contractuat provisions of the
instrument Derecognition takes place when Brambles no longer
controls the contractual rights that comprise the financial instrument,
which 1s normally the case when the instrument is sold or all the cash
flows attributable to the instrument are passed through to an
independent third party

Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivative instruments used by Brambles, which are used salely for
hedging purposes (1e to offset foreign exchange and interest rate risks)
comprise mterest rate swaps, caps, collars, forward rate agreements
and forward foreign exchange contracts Such derivative instruments
are used to alter the rnisk profile of Brambles' existing underlying
exposure in Line with Brambles’ sk management policies

Derwative financial instruments are stated at fair value The fair value
of forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current
forward exchange rates for contracts with similar matunibes at the
balance sheet date The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is
calculated as the present value of the forward cash flows of the
instrument after applying market rates and standard valuation
techmques

Far the purposes of hedge accounting hedges are classified as either
fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or net Investment hedges

FAIR VALUE HEDGES

Fair value hedges are derivatives that hedge exposure to changes in the
far vatue of a recogrised asset or lability or an unrecogrised firm
commitment Inrelabion to far value hedges which meet the conditions
far hedge accounting any gain cr loss from remeasuring the hedging
instrument at fair value i1s recognised immediately :n the income
statement

Any gain or ioss attributable to the hedged risk on remeasurement of
the hedged item s adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged
itemn and recognised in the income statement Where the adjustment
15 to the carrying amount of 3 hedged interest-bearing financial
nstrument the adjustment s amortised to the income statement
such that it is fully amortised by maturity

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued prospectively if the hedge is
terminated or no longer meets the hedge accounting critena In this
case, any adjustment tc the carrying amounts of the hedged item for
the designated nisk for interest-bearing financial instruments is
amartised to the ncome statement following termination of the hedge

CASH FLOW HEDGES

Cash flow hedges are derivatives that hedge exposure to vanability
in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated
with a recogrised asset or Lability, or a tughly probable forecast
transaction

In relation to cash flow hedges te hedge forecast transactions which
meet the canditions for hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or
loss on the hedging instrument that s determined to be an effective
hedge 15 recognised in other comprehensive income and reserves in
equity and the ineffective portion 1s recogmised in the incame
statement

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the hedging instrument
expires or 15 sold terminated or exercised or no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting

At that point tn time any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging
instrument recognised in equity s kept in equity until the forecast
transaction occurs

If a hedged transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the net
cumulative gan or loss recognised (n equity 1s transferred to net
profit or loss for the year

For all other cash flow hedges, the gains or losses that are recognised
In equity are transferred to the income statement 1n the same year in
which the hedged firm commitment affects the net profit and loss
for example when the future sale actually occurs

When the hedged firm commitment results in the recognrtion of an
asset or a Uability then at the time the asset or Liability 1s recognised,
the associated gains or losses that had previausly been recognised in
equity are included in the initiat measurement of the acquisition cost
or other carrying amount of the asset or Liatality
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NET INVESTMENT HEDGES
Hedges for net investments in foreign operations are accounted for
similarly to cash flow hedges

Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument that 1s determined to
be an effective hedge 1s recognised m other comprehensive income
and reserves in equity and the ineffective portion s recagmised in
the income statement

Gamns and losses accumulated in equity are included i the ncome
statement when the foreign operation 1s partiatly disposed or sold

DERIVATIVES THAT DO NOT QUALIFY FOR HEDGE ACCOUNTING
Where dervatives do not qualify for hedge accounting gains or losses
ansing from changes in their far value are taken directly to net profit
or loss for the year

Contributed equity

Ordinary shares including share premium are classified as centributed
equity No gain or loss 1$ recogmsed In the income statement on the
purchase sale, 1ssue or cancellatton of Brambles' own equity
nstruments

Incremental costs directly attributable to the 1ssue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds of 1ssue

Earnmings per share (EPS}

Basic EPS (s calculated as net profit attributable to members of the
parent entity adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than
dividends) dwided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares,
adjusted for any bonus element

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the

parent entity adjusted for

- costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference
share dividends

- the after-tax effect of drvidends and finance costs assoctated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as
expenses

- other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the
year that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary shares,

and diveded by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and
dilutive potentral ordinary shares adjusted for any bonus element

EPS on Underlying profit after finance costs and tax s calculated as
Underlying profit after finance costs and tax attrnibutabte to members
of the parent entity divided by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element

Rounding of amounts

As Brambles 1s a company of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order
88/0100 relevant amounts i the financial statements and Directors
Report have been rounded to the nearest hundred thousand US dotlars
or In certain cases, to the nearest thousand US dollars

NOTE 3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
In applyingits accounting policies Brambles has made estimates and
assumptions concermng the future which may differ from the related
actual outcomes Those estimates and assumptions which have a
significant risk of causing a matenial adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below

Irrecoverable pooling equipment provisiontng

Loss or damage Is an inherent risk of pooling equipment operations
CHEP s pooling equipment operations around the world differ in terms
of business medel, market dynamics, customer and distrbution
channel profiles, contractual arrangements and operational details
Brambles conducts audits on a regular basis to confirm the existence
and the condition of its pooling equipment assets, and monitors its
pooling equipment operations using detailed key performance
indicators {KPIs)

The trrecaverable pooling equipment provision 1s determined by
reference to historical statistical data in each market including the
outcome of audits and relevant KPIs, together with management
estimates of future equipment Losses

Impairment of goodwill

Brambles’ business units undertake an impairment review process
annually to ensure that goodwill batances are not carried at amounts
that are in excess of therr recoverable amounts The recoverable
amount of the goodwiil in continuing operations 1s determined based
on value in use calculations undertaken at the cash generating unit
tevel These calculations require the use of key assumptions which
are set out In Note 20

Income taxes

Brambles 1s a global company and is subject to income taxes in many
Junisdictions around the world Significant judgement ts required in
determining the provision for income taxes on a worldwide basis There
are many transactions and calcutations undertaken during the ordinary
course of business for which the ultimate tax determination 1s
uncertain Brambles recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
Issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due
Where the final tax outcome of these matters 15 different from
amounts provided such differences will impact the current and
deferred tax provisions in the peniod in which such outcome 1s obtained
Refer to Note 9 for further details

Provisions on divestments

SBrambles has made provisions in relation to vendor warranties and
other matters assoclated with the divestments made in 2007 and prror
years These prowvisions have been established by management using
information currently available Where the eventual outcome of these
matters 1s different from amounts currently prowided, such differences
willimpact profits in the period in which such outcome is recognised
Refer to Note 24 for further details
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 4 SEGMENT INFORMATION
Brambles segment information s provided on the same basis as its internal management reporting to the CEO and reflects how Brambles 1s
orgamsed and managed

Brambles has five reportable segments, being CHEP Americas CHEP EMEA CHEP Asia-Pacific (pallet and container pooling businesses), Recall
{information management business} and Brambles HQ (corporate centre} Discontinued operations primarily comprise the Cleanaway businesses
(waste management). which were divested in 2006 and 2007

Segment resutts shown are consistent with internal managernent reporting Segment performance 1s measured on sales, Underlying profit, cash
flow from eperations and Brambles Value Added (BVA) Underlying profit 1s the main measure of segment profit A reconciliation between
Underlying profit and operating profit 1s set out as a footnote to the income statement

Segment sales revenue 15 measured on the same basis as in the income statement Segment sales revenue 1s allocated to segments based on the
business stream and physical location of the business unit that invoices the customer Intersegment revenue during the year was immaterial
There 1s no single externat customer who contributed more than 10% of Group sales revenue

Assets and liabilittes are measured consistently in segment reporting and in the balance sheet Assets and babilities are allocated to segments
based on segment use and physical location Cash borrowings and tax balances are managed centrally and therefore not allocated to segments

SALES REVENUE CASH FLOW FROM
OPERATIONS 1
010 200% 2010 1008
USsm ussM

By operating segment

ERAMBLES
VALUE ADDED 2

CHEP Americas 1,5336 15569 2857 2670 81 1385
CHEP EMEA 14826 14526 4117 3727 1653 1598
CHEP Asia-Pacific 3909 3234 941 98 282 262
Total CHEP 3,4071 33329 7915 6495 2316 3245
Recall 7397 6857 1217 1069 90 {6 4)
Brambles HQ - - {30 9} (34 Q) (25 2) (207}
Total 41468 40186 8823 7224 2154 2974

By geographic origin

Americas 18689 18702
Europe 15379 15371
Australia 5016 4212
Other 2384 1801
Total 4,146 8 40186

OPERATING PROFIT 3 SIGNIFICANT ITEMS UNDERLYING PROFIT 4
REFORE Tax 4

2010 2009 2010
UssM ussm USsM

By operating segment

CHEP Americas 2352 2290 {19) (205 4) 2371 4344
CHEP EMEA 32449 2865 (4 6) (41 0} 3295 3275
CHEP Asia-Pacific 778 579 (0 8) 32) 784 611
Total CHEP 6379 5734 (71) (249 6) 6450 8230
Recall 1231 959 {1 5} {8 4} 1246 1043
Brambles HO (36 5) 489 {03) 756 (362) (267}
Continuing operations 7245 7182 {89) (182 4} 7334 9006
Discontinued operations 39 152 39 152

Totat 7284 7334 (50) {167 2}
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE DEPRECIATION
(INCLUDING ACQUISITIONS) AND AMORTISATION

2010 010
ussM USSM

By operating segment

CHEP Amertcas 2142 3126 1719 1733
CHEP EMEA . 1748 2236 1678 1685
CHEP Asia-Pacific 672 930 521 365
Total CHEP 456 2 6292 3918 3783
Recall 737 580 479 460
Brambles HQ 21 54 43 03
Totat 5320 6936 4440 4246

2010 2009 2010 2003
UssSM ussM UssM USsSM

By operating segment

CHEP Americas 17026 17385 2049 2416
CHEP EMEA 1,499 4 17521 3393 3603
CHEP Asia-Pacific 4516 4304 910 723
Total CHEP 36536 39220 63512 67472
Recall 10382 10201 1825 1677
Brambles HQ 329 110 785 793
Total segment assets and Liabilities 47247 49531 896 2 9212
Cash and borrowings 1355 01 1.8948 22335
Current tax balances 163 345 785 646
Deferred tax batances 198 70 408 2 4499
Equity-accounted investments 140 138 - -
Total assets and labilities 49103 50885 32777 36692

Non-current assets by geographic origin®

Amenicas 19368 1,9528
Europe 1,270 4 15323
Australia 4979 4881
Other 3152 266 1
Total 40103 42394

1
2

Cash flow from egerations 1s cash flow generated after ne: capiial expendifure but excluding Significant items that are outside the ordinary course of business
BVA represents the value generated over and ahove the cost of the capital used to generate that value Itis calculated using feeed June 2009 exchange rates as
- Underlying profit plus

- Sigruficant items that are part of the ordinary activities of the business less

- Average Capital Invested adjusted for accumulated pre-tax Significant iterns that are part of the ordinary activities of the business multipled by 12%
Operating profit 1s segment revenue less segment expense and excludes net finance costs

Underlywng profit is profit from continuing operations before finance costs tax ang Significant ttems Refer Note B

Non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax asseds

@ oe oW
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 5 PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES - CONTINUING OPERATIONS

2010
UssM

a} Revenue and other income — continuing operations

Sales revenue 4,146 8 401886
Net gains on disposals of property plant and equipment 264 119
Other operating income 706 848
QOther income 970 957
Total incame 4,243 8 41153

b) Operating expenses - continuing operations

Employment costs {Note 7) 7795 7782
Service suppliers

- transport 7307 7585
— repairs and maintenance 376 3 3534
— subcontractors and other service suppliers 4580 4341
Raw materials and consumables 1935 1811
COccupancy 2623 2543
Depreciation of property plant and equipment 4055 3913
Imparment of pooling equipment {refer Note 6} - 336
Irrecaverable pooling equipment provision expense 1112 978

Amortisation

- software 242 228
- acquired intangible assets (other than software) 67 66
- deferred expenditure 76 39
Other! 1696 865

3,5251 34021

c} Net foreign exchange gains and losses — continuing operations

Net {losses)/gains included in operating profitt 10) 755
Net gains included In net finance costs 23 0l
13 756

1 2009 wmcludes a USS77 3 million foreign exchange gan on capital repatriation fram an overseas subsidiary Refer Note 6 for further details
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NOTE 6 SIGNIFICANT ITEMS — CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Significant tems are iterms of income or expense which are, either mdvidually or in aggregate, material to Brambles or to the relevant business

segment and

- outside the ordinary course of business (eg gains or losses on the sale or termmation of operattons the cost of sigrificant reorganisations or
restructuring) or

- part of the ordinary actmities of the business but unusual due to their size and nature

Significant items are disclosed to assist users of the finangial statements to understand Brambles business results

BEFQRE TAX TAX AFTER TAX
Ussm UssM USsM

- restructuring costs? (89) 26 63)

Items outside the ordinary course of business

Significant items from continuing operations (a9) 26 (63)

BEFORE TAX AFTEM TAX
UssM UssM

Ttems outside the ordinary course of busmess

- restructuring costs? {153 3) 470 (106 3)
— reset of tax cost bases on Unification® - (65} (65)
~ foreign exchange gain on capital repatriation® 773 - 773
Items within ordinary actwities, but unusual due to size and nature

- Walmart transition impact? (290} 113 (177)
- USA pallet quality program costs® {77 4) 303 {471)
Significant items from centinuing operations {182 4) 821 (100 3}

* Infebruary 2009 8rambles announced a restructure of its operations estimated to cost US$153- USS169 mutlion before tax as a response to the effects of the global

economic cnsis on its businesses Animparment charge of US$33 6 milbon a US$61 6 million charge for storage and scrapping costs and US53 8 millien depreciation

expense were bogked in 2009 against surplus pallets within the CHEP USA pool Redundancy and plant closure expenses of USS63 2 rillon have been incurred in vanous

countries of which USS$8 9 mellion was booked in 2010 {2009 US554 3 milkon)

Duning 2009 a net adjustment of US$(6 59 million was made to tax cost bases and other Umification tax matters

€ Dunng 2009 capital of €460 milion was repatnated to Austrabia from an averseas subsidiary As required by AASB 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange

Rates a portion of the accumutated foreign currency translation reserve previcusly held in relation to the averseas subsidiary was racogmsed in the income statement

resulting in a US$77 3 millson foreign exchange gain

Buring 2009 non-recurring transtbson costs of US529 0 million due to loss of white wood revenue and net additional operational costs were ingurred within CHEP LISA as

a result of Walmart s decision to modify management of pallet flows withinits network in the USA

®  Costs of US$77 4 million were incurred withun CHEP USA on the pallet quality program and reported as Sigrsficant items tn 2009 In October 2008 CHEP USA launched
its Better Everyday customer service and qualtty program In 2010 spending under the Better Everyday program together with the final USS37 million spending under
the USA pallet quality program announced in February 2008 have been presented within Underlying profit
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 7 EMPLOYMENT COSTS — CONTINUING OPERATIONS

2009
LISSM

Wages and salaries 6532 6482
Social security costs 715 722
Share-based payment expense 11 142
Pension costs
— defined contribution plans 1899 197
- defined benefit plans 54 49
Other post-employment benefits 164 190
7795 7782

The average menthly number of employees in continuing aperations was

CHEP 7.617 7911
Recall 5,004 4784
Brambles HQ 93 90

12,714 12,785

NOTE 8 NET FINANCE COSTS

2010 2009
UssM USSM

Finance revenue

Bank accounts and short term deposits 22 53
Other 06 18
28 71

Finance costs

Interest expense on bank loans and borrowings (101 9) (1109)
Other {10 5} (171)

{112 4) (1280)
Net finance costs {109 6} (1209)
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NOTE 9 INCOME TAX

2010 2008
USSM USsM
a) Components of tax expense
Amounts recogmised in the income statement
Current income tax - continuing operations
- Income tax charge 2018 1473
- prigr year adjustments 138 {18 1)
21586 1292
Deferred tax - continuing aperations
- onginatien and reversal of temporary differences {6 6) 291
- previpusly unrecognised tax losses (157) (94}
- prior year adjustments {22 3) 144
(44 6) 341
Tax expense — continuing operations 1710 1633
Tax benefit — discontinued operations (Note 12) {10} (34}
Tax expense recogrused i the income statement 1700 15949
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
- on actuanal losses on defined benefit pension plans 13) 02
- on losses on revaluation of cash flow hedges 05 [49)
Tax benefit recogmised directly in the statement of comprehensive rncome {0 8} 47}
b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit before tax
Profit befare tax — continuing operations 6149 5973
Tax at standard Australian rate of 30% (2009 30%) 1845 1792
Effect of tax rates in other junisdictions {9 9) {36)
Prior year adjustments {8 5) 37)
Current year tax losses not recognised 61 146
Foreign withholding tax — unrecoverable 55 94
Change in tax rates 02 (1 1)
Non-deductible expenses 75 61
Prior year tax losses recouped/recognised (15 7) (94)
Other 13 {282}
Tax expense — continuing operations 1710 1633
Tax benefit — discontinued operations (Note 12) {10) (34)
Total income tax expense 1700 1599
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 9 INCOME TAX - CONTINUED

c) Components of and changes in deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets shown in the balance sheet are represented by cumulative temperary differences attributable to

Items recognised through the income statement

Employee benefits 105 75
Provisions 376 520
Losses avallable against future taxable income 1435 1168
Other 489 469
2405 2232
Items recognised directly in equity
Actuanal losses on defined benefit pension plans 33 23
Cash flow hedges 49 53
Share-based payments 03 03
a5 79
Set-off of deferred tax Liabilities (2292) (224 1)
Net deferred tax assets 198 70
Changes in deferred tax assets were as follows
At 1 July 70 88
Credited to the income statement 75 511
Credited directly to equity 06 46
Offset against deferred tax labilities 51 52 5)
Currency variations (04) 150}
At 30 June 198 70

Deferred tax assets are recognised for carried forward tax losses to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable
profits 1s probable At reporting date Brambles has unused tax losses of USS569 0 million (2009 USS433 1 million) available for offset against

future profits A deferred tax asset has been recogmsed in respect of US$395 0 million (2009 US5$324 8 million) of such losses

The benefit for tax losses will enly be obtained (f

— Brambles derwes future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductons for the losses

to be realised,

— Brambles continues te comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislabon, and
~ no changes n tax legislation adversely affect Brambtes in realising the benefit from the deductions for the losses

No deferred tax asset has been recognised In respect of the remaining unused tax losses of USS174 0 million {2009 USS168 3 millon} due to

the unpredictability of future profit streams in the relevant jurisdictions Other than China losses of US5$31 5 million which will expire between

2011 and 2015, all other losses may be carried forward indefinitely
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d} Components and changes n deferred tax babiities
Deferred tax Liamlities shewn in the balance sheet are represented by cumulative temporary differences attributable to
Items recogrused through the income statement

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes 5381 5657
Othar 993 1083
6374 6740
Set-off of deferred tax assets (229 2) (224 1} !
I
Net deferred tax liabilities 408 2 4499

Changes in teferred tax Liabilities were as follows

At 1 July 4499 4435
{Credited}/charged to the income statement {371} 852
Credited to the statement of comprehensive income - [91)
Offset against deferred tax asset 51 (52 5)
Currency variations (97} (172}
At 30 June 408 2 4499

At reporting date the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised in the consolidated financial statements was US$1 865 6 million (2009 LSS1 769 3 million)

No Lability has been recogrised in respect of these temporary differences because Brambles is in a position to control distributions from
subsidiaries and it 1s probable that such dif ferences will not reverse in the foreseeable future Unremitted earnings totalled US$2,093 3 million
{2009 US$2 134 7 million), of whieh US$170 8 million (2009 US$212 3 million) relates to earnings post Unification

e) Tax consolidathion

Brambles Limited and its Australtan subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group 1n 2006 Brambles Limited as the head entity of the tax
consolidated group and its Australian subsidiaries have entered into a tax sharing agreement in arder to allocate mcome tax expense The tax
sharing agreement uses a stand-alone basis of allocation Consequently, Brambles Limited and its Austratian subsidiaries account for their own
current and deferred tax amounts as if they each continue to be taxable entities in their own right In additron, the agreement prowides funding
rules setting out the basis upon which subsidiaries are to indemnify Brambles Limited in respect of tax labilities and the methodology by which
subsidiaries in tax loss are to be compensated
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 10 EARNINGS PER SHARE

2010 200%
US CENTS US CENTS

Earnings per share

- basic 318 326
—dituted 317 325
Fram continuing operations

- basic 315 313
~ diluted 314 312
— basic, on Underlying profit after finance costs and tax 319 385
From discontinued operations

— hasic 03 13
—diluted 03 13

Options, performance share rights and MyShare matching conditional rights granted under Brambles share plans are considered to be potential
ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of dituted earnings per share to the extent to which they are ditutive Details are set
out in Note 27

2010 2009
MILLTON MILLICN

a) Weighted average number of shares during the year

Used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 1,4113 1,3883
Adjustment for share options and rights 59 44
Used in the calculation of diluted earmings per share 1,417 2 13927

2010 2009
LSs5M ussM

b} Reconciliations of profits used in EPS calculations

Statutory profit

Profit from conbinuing operatians 4439 4340
Profit from discontinued operations 49 186
Profit used in cateulating basic and diluted EPS 4488 4526

Underlying profit after finance costs and tax

Underlying profit (Note 4) 7334 9006
Net finance costs (Note 8) (109 6) (1209)
Underlying profit before tax 6238 7787
Tax expense on Undertying profit {173 6) (245 4)
Underlying profit after finance costs and tax 450 2 5343

which recancites to statutory profit

Underlying prefit after finance costs and tax 4502 5343
Significant items after tax (Note 6) (6 3} {100 3)
Profit from continuing operations 4439 4340
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NOTE 11 DIVIDENDS

| INTERIM FINAL
2010 2009

a) Dividends declared and paid during the year

Dividend per share {in Australian cents) 125 125

Franked amount at 30% tax (tn Australian cents) 25 25

Cost {in £iSS million} 164 2 1605

Payment date 8 April 2010 8 October 2009

FINAL
2010

b} Dividend declared after reporting date

Dividend per share (in Australian cents) 125
Franked amount at 30% tax {in Australian cents) 25
Cost {in USS mutlion} 158 6
Payment date 14 October 2010
Oiwnidend record date 22 September 2010

As this dvidend had not been declared at the reporting date it 15 not reflected in the financial statements

2010 2009
USSM US5M

¢} Franking credits

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30% 342 220

The amounts above represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the year adjusted for
franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liability,

franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date,
franking credits that will arise from dividends recognised as recevables at the reporting date and
franking crethts that may be prevented from being distributed 1n subsequent financial years

The final 2010 dividend has been franked at 20%

Brambles has lodged private ruling requests with the Australian Taxation Qffice as a result of amendments to the Australian tax consolidation
legislation that were enacted in June 2010 If these ruling requests are granted Brambles will receive tax refunds relating to prior years and have
reduced Australian tax obligations in future years Depending on the outcome and timing of each ruling Brambles may be unable to frank its future
diwvidends in the short to medium term
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCTIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 12 DISCONTINUED QPERATIONS
Net favourable pravision adjustments on divestments completed in 2007 and prior years have been recognised as Significant tems outside the
ordinary course of business The impact of these adjustments on prefit and cash flow are summarised below

2010
USsM

Profit before tax 39 152
Tax henefit 10 34
Profst for the year from discontinued operations 49 186
Net cash outflow from operating activities {12} 22)

NOTE 13 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and in hand 1202 550
Short term deposits 153 351
1355 901

Short term deposits have initial maturities varying between 7 days and 3 months

Refer to Note 29 for other financial instruments disclosures

NOTE 14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current

Trade recewvables 5078 461 8

Provision for doubtful recevables (a) {90) (117)

Net trade recervables 4988 4501

Other debtors 934 1196

Accrued and unbilled revenue 394 839
6316 6536

Non-current

Other recewvables 62 81

a) Provision for doubtful receivables

Trade receivables are nen-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 day terms A provision for doubtful receivables is established when there 1s

a level of uncertainty as to the full recoverability of the recevable, based on objective evidence A prowision of USS$2 9 million (2009 USS8 4 million}
has been recognised as an expense In the current year for specific trade and other receivables for which such evidence exists

Maovements i the provision for doubtful receivables were as follows

At1 July 117 76
Charge for the year 29 84
Amounts written of f (52) (48)
Fareign exchange differences (04) G5
At 30 June 90 117
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2010 2009

UssM USsM

At 30 June the ageing analyss of trade recevables by reference to due dates was as follows
ot past due 4100 2718
Past due 0-30 days but nat impaired 707 1157
Past due 31-60 days but not :mpaired 129 275
Past due 61-90 days but not impaired 52 185
Past 80 days but not impaired - 166
Impaired 90 117
5078 4618

At 30 June 2010 trade receivables of US$88 8 million (2009 USS$178 3 million) were past due but not doubtful These trade receivables
comprise customners who have a goed debt history and are consrdered recoverable

At 30 June 2010 trade receivables of USS% 0 million {2009 USS11 7 million) were considered to he impaired A provision of USS9 0 milion
{2009 USS11 7 millior) has been recogrised for doubtful receivables

Other debtors primarily comprise GST/VAT recoverable, loss compensation recesvables and certain balances ansing from outside Brambles
ardinary business activities such as deferred proceeds on sale of businesses and property, plant and equipment

At 30 June 2010, other debtars of US535 3 millign {2008 US$35 0 million) were past due but not considered to be impaired No specific
coliection issues have been identified with these recevables An ageing of these receivables was as follows

Past due 0-30 days but not impaired 67 101
Past due 31-60 days but not impaired 33 08
Past due 51-90 days but not /mpaired ig 20
Past 90 days but not impaired 215 223

353 350

At 30 June 2010, there were no balances within other debtors that were considered to be impaired {2069 nil) No provision has been recognised
(2009 nil)

Refer to Note 29 for other financial instruments disclosures

NOTE 15 INVENTORIES

Raw materials and consumabtes 260 278
Work in progress 75 73
a3s 351
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 16 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2010 2008 2010
USssMm LSSM USsSM

Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges - - [: N 123
Interest rate swaps — far value hedges 84 - - -
Forward forexgn exchange contracts - cash flow hedges - - 02 05
Forward foreign exchange contracts ~ held for trading 61 11 39 o1

145 11 122 1289
Interest rake swaps — cash flow hedges 01 - 71 58
Interest rate swaps — fair value hedges 115 - 30 -
Embedded dervatives 04 - - -

120 - 101 58

Refer to Note 29 for other financial wstruments disclosures

NOTE 17 OTHER ASSETS

2010
USsM

Current

Prepayments 368 377

Current tax recevable 163 345
531 722

Non-current

Prepayments 07 06
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NOTE 18 INVESTMENTS
a) Joint ventures
Brambles has investments in the following unlisted jointly controlled entities whech are accounted for using the equity method

% INTEREST HELD AT
REPORTING DATE

MAME {AND NATURE OF BUSINESS) PLACE OF INCORPORATION
2010

CISCO - Total Information Management Pte Limited (Information management) Singapore 49%

Recall Becker GmbH & Co KG (Document management services) Germany 50% 50%

2010 2009
ussM UssMm

b) Movement in carrying amount of investments in joint ventures

At 1 Jduly 138 169
Share of results after ncome tax {(Note 18c) 58 50
Dividends received/receivable (59) (7 1}
Foreign exchange differences 03 L0
At 30 June 140 138

c) Share of results of joint ventures

Trading revenue 125 1186
Expenses (56) (56)
Profit from erdinary activibies before tax 69 60
Tax expense on ordinary activities (11) (10}
Profit for the year 58 50

d} Share of assets and labilies of joint ventures

Current assets 37 32
Non-current assets 142 138
Total assets 179 170
Current liabilities 30 23
Non-current Labitities o9 09
Total Liabilities 39 32
MNet assets — continuing operations 140 138

e) Share of commitments and contingent Liabilities of joint ventures

Contingent biabilities 05 07
Lease commitments 18 25
Total - continuing operations 23 32
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

LANDAND | PLANT AND TOTAL
BUILDINGS | EGUIPMENT UssM
USsM USSM
At 1 July 2008
Cost 1459 59358 60817
Accurmnulated depreciation {55 8) [23270) (2,3828)
Net carrying amount 901 3,608 8 36989
Year ended 30 June 2009
Opening net carrying amount 901 35088 36989
Additions 54 668 6 6740
Disposals (34) 88 6) (920)
Other transfers - (786} (76)
Depreciation charge (70) {384 3) {391 3)
Imparrment of pooling equipment - {33 6) (336}
Irrecoverable pooling equipment provision expense - (978) (97 8)
Fareign exchange differences (10 4) (288 8) (3090)
Closing net carrying amount 747 33669 34418
At 30 June 2009
Cost 1290 55669 56959
Accumulatad degreciation (543} (22000} (2,254 3)
Net carrying amount 747 33669 34418

Year ended 30 .June 2010

QOpening net carrying amaount 747 33669 34416
Additions 82 4941 5023
Disposals 22 {58 1} {60 3)
Other transfers 40 (30 4) {26 4)
Depreciation charge (68) (398 7) (405 5)
Irrecoverable pooling equipment provision expense - (111 2} {111 2)
Foreign exchange differences 43 {112 4) (116 7}
Closing net carrying amount 736 3,150 2 3,2238
At 30 June 2010

Cost 1304 5,2878 54182
Accumulated depreciation (568) {2,1376) (2,194 4}
Net carrying amount 736 3,150 2 32238

The net carrying amounts above include plant and equipment heid under finance lease USS$1 2 million (2009 USS19 million), Lleasehold
impravements US$6 4 million (2008 USS$E 4 million) and capitat work in progress USS$17 6 million {2009 USS$179 million)
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NOTE 20 GOODWILL

2010 200%
USSM UssM
a) Net carrying amounts and movements during the year
Atl July
Carrying amount 6123 6761
Year ended 30 June
Opening net carrying amount 6123 6761
Disposal of subsidiaries - {06)
Other transfers - 03
Foreign exchange differences (5 3) (635)
Closing net carrying amount 6070 6123
At 30 June
Gross carrying amount 6070 6123
Accumulated rmpairment - _
Net carrying amount 6070 5123
b} Segment-level surnmary of net carrying amount
Goedwill acquired through business combinations 1s allocated to cash generating units {CGU) which are the smallest identifiable groupings of
Brambles’ cash generating assets A saegment-level summary of the goodwill allocation i1s presented as foliows
CHEP Americas 514 513
CHEP EMEA 36 4 410
CHEP Asia-Pacific 259 245
Total CHEP 1137 1168
Recatl 493 3 4955
Total goodwill 6070 6123

¢} Recoverable amount testing - continuing operations
The recoverable amount of goodwill 1s determined based on value in use calculations undertaken at the CGH level The value in use 1s calculated
using a discounted cash flow methodology covering a 10 year period with an appropriate terminal value at the end of that penod

Based on the impairment testing, the carrying amounts of goodwill in the CGUs retated to continuing operations at reperting date were fully supported
The following describes the key assumptions on which management has based its cash flow projections

CASHFLOW FORECASTS
Cash flow forecasts are based on the most recent financial prejections covering a maximum period of five years Cash flows beyend that period
are extrapolated using estimated growth rates Financial projections are based on assumptions that represent management s best estimates

GROWTH RATES
Growth rates ranging from nil to 4% were used beyond the period covered in the financial projections They are based on management's
expectations for future performance and do not normally exceed the long term growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates

TERMINAL VALUE
The terminal value calculated after year 10 15 determined using the stable growth model having regard to the weighted average cost of capital
and terminal growth factor appropriate to each CGU

DISCOUNT RATES
Discount rates used are the pre-tax weighted average cost of capital (WACC) and include a premum for market risks appropriate to each country
in which the CGU operates WACCs ranged between 8 3% and 26 5%

SENSITIVITY
Any reasonable change to the above key assumptions would not cause the carrying value of the CGU to matenally exceed 1ts recoverable amount
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 21 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

SOFTWARE OTHER 1 TOTAL
USsM USsM ussM

At 1 July 2008
Gross carrying amount 3145 1743 4888
Accumulated amortisation {2309} {710} {3019}
Net carrying amount 836 1033 1869
Year ended 30 June 2009
Opeming carrying amount 836 1033 1868
Additions 209 35 244
Disposals on - 01
Other transfers 24 21 45
Amartisation charge (228) (105) {333
Foreign exchange differences 68) {126) (19 4)
Closing carrymng amount 772 858 1630
At 30 June 2009
Gross carrying amount 3079 1602 4881
Accumulated amortisation (2307} (74 4) {3051)
Net carrying amount 772 858 1630
Year ended 30 June 2010
COpening carrying amount 772 858 1630
Additions 228 116 344
Disposals 01) (01} {0 2)
Amortisation charge {24 2) {14 3) (38 5)
Foreign exchange differences (L7) 16 01)
Closing carrying amount 740 846 158 6
At 30 June 2010
Gross carryting amount 3173 1721 489 4
Accumulated amortisation (243 3) (875) (3308)
Net carrying amount 740 846 1586

1 Other intangible assets prnimanly comprise acquired customer Lists and agreements
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NOTE 22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2010 200%
UssM UssM

Current

Trade payables 3057 2871
GST/VAT and other payables 02 726
Accruals and deferred income 3055 3240

6814 6837

Mon-current
Other Labilities 209 214

Trade payables and other current payables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on 30-90 day terms

Refer to Note 29 for other financial instruments disclosures

NQOTE 23 BORROWINGS

Current

Unsecured

- bank overdraft 122 360

— hank loans! 240 3 168

~accrued interest on Loan notes? 34 229 148

- finance tease babhities {Note 31} 6 DS

2760 680

Non-current

Unsecured

— bank loans! 3245 16291

— loan nates? 345 1,2037 5350

- finance lease Liab:lities (Note 31} 06 14
16188 21655

Total borrowings 1,894 8 22335

1 Unsecured bank loans include the fallowing {1} revalving loans m various currencies priced off LIBOR and drawn under multi-currency glebal bankung faclities with a

range of maturities out to December 2013 and (i) various regional banking facilitses providing local currency funding to certain subsidiaries Included in bank loans 1s a
barrgwing of US$5$61 5 mallion (2009 USS71 2 million) which has been designated as a hedge of the net investment in Brarnbles Eurcopean subsidianes and 15 being used
to partially hedge Brambles exposure te faregn exchange risks on these investrnents

Notes 1issued in August 2004 in respect of U$5425 0 million US private placement The terms of the note are {1) Series A US$171 0 maullion 5 39% Guaranteed Senior
Unsecured Notes due 4 August 2011 (i) Senies B US$157 5 millien 5 77% Guaranteed Semor Unsecured Notes due 4 August 2014 and (i} Series C U5596 5 million
594% Guaranteed Semor Unsecured Notes due 4 August 2016

Notes 1ssued in May 2009 in respect of US$110 0 mitlion US private placement The terms of the nate are {i) Seres A LS335 0 silion 7 29% Guaranteed Senior
Unsecured Notes due 7 May 2014 {n} Series B US$55 0 million 7 83% Guaranteed Semor Unsecured Notes due 7 May 2018 and (m) Series C USS$20 0 million 8 23%
Guaranteed Senior Unsecured Notes due 7 May 2019

Notes 1ssued in March 2010 to qualified institutional buyers in accordance with Rule 144A and Regulation 5 of the Umited States Secunties Act The terms of the notes
are (1) US5250 0 mdlion 3 95% Guaranteed Senior Notes due 1 Aprit 2015 and (n) USS500 O million § 35% Guaranteed Senior Netes due 1 April 2020

155450 0 millian af lean notes have been hedged with interest rate swaps for far value risk In accordance with AASBL39 the carrying value of the notes have been
adjusted by USS14 4 millionin relation ta changes in fair value attributable to the hedged risk

Refer to Mote 29 for other financial instruments disclosures
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 23 BORROWINGS - CONTINUED

2010
US5M

a) Borrowing facilihes and credit standby arrangements

Total facilities

— cemmitted borrowing facibities 2,4810 28453
- loan notes 1,28590 5350
— credit standby/uncommitted/overdraft arrangements 1512 1296

39172 35089

Faciities used at reporting date !

- commtted borrowing facilities 534 4 16475
- loan notes 1,2850 5350
- credit standby/uncemmitted/overdraft arrangements 438 435

1,863 2 22260

Faclities available at reporting date

- gommitted borrowing facilities 1,946 6 11978

— credit standby/uncommitted/overdraft arrangements 1074 861
2,054 0 12839

Berrowing facilities are arranged by Brambles on behalf of 1ts subsiiaries Funding 1s generally scurced from relationship banks and debt capital
market investors on a medium to long term basis The expiry dates of committed facilities range out to calendar year 2013 with loan notes
having matunties out to April 2020 The average term to maturity of the committed bank faciities and the loan notes is equivalent to 3 B years
(2009 3 3 years) These facilities are unsecured and are guaranteed as described in Note 37b

b) Borrowing faciiies maturity profile

MATURITY TYPE TOTAL | FACILITIES | FACILITIES
FACILITIES USED] AVATLABLE

2010
Less than 1 year Bank loans/averdrafts 460 8 24880 2118
1 -2 years Bank loans/loan notes 7639 2715 492 4
2 -3 years Bank loans 6774 1178 5596
3 - dyears Bank loans/loan notes 9361 1459 7902
4 - S years Loan notes 407 5 4075 -
QOver 5 years Loan notes 6715 6715 -
39172 1,863 2 2,054 0
2009
Less than 1 year Bank loans/overdrafts 1347 452 895
1—2years Bank loans 6858 3328 3530
2 -3 years Bank loans/loan notes 7956 5573 2383
3 - 4years Loan notes 5830 3806 2024
4 -5 years Bank loans/loan notes 9818 5811 4007
Over 5 years Loan notes 3290 3290 -

35099 22260 12839

1 Fapcilities used represents the principal value of loan notes and borrowings debited against the relevant facilities to reflect the correct amount of funding headroom

This amount differs by US$31 6 million {2009 USS$7 5 million) from Loan notes and borrowings as shownin the balance sheet which are measured on the basis of
amortised cost as determined under the effective interest methad and include accrued mterest and far value adjustments on certain hecging instruments
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NOTE 24 PROVISIONS

EMPLOYEE | BUSINESS OTHER TOTAL
ENTITLEMENTS DISPOSALS ussM USsM

US5M UssM

At1 July 2009

Current 418 81 437 936

Non-current 54 188 288 530
472 268 725 146 6

Charge to income statement

— additional provisions 713 11 44 3 116 7

- upused amounts reversed - (6 6) - {6.6)

Utilisation of provisson {60 8) {06) (71 3} 1327

Currency varations {03) {21) (D4) (2.8)

At 30 June 2010 574 187 451 1212

Current 491 81 300 872

Non-current 83 1086 151 340

Employee entitlements provisien comprises USS8 8 mitlion (2009 USS8 G mullion) for long service leave, USS1 & million for phantom shares

{2009 USS1 3 miltion) and USS47 0 millioa (2009 USS36 9 mullion) for bonuses and ather employee-related obligations (cther than those resulting
from penston plans) None of these amounts related to phantom shares which had vested at reporting date USS05 milbion (2009 US$3 6 million)
of the lang service leave provision has been recognised as current as it 1s expected to be settled within one year from reporting date The remawning
balance of lang service leave of US$8 3 million {2008 USSS 4 million) i1s expected to settle within the next two to ten years and has been
discounted to present value

Business disposats provision 1s in respect of divestments campleted in 2007 and prior years

Other provisions comprise US$4 6 million (2009 USS39 8 mitlion} for restructunng costs USSL 3 million {2009 USS1 3 million) for Ltigation
and customer disputes and US$39 2 million (2009 USS$31 4 million) for other known exposures
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 25 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

a) Defined contribution plans

Brambles operates a number of defined contribution retirement benefit plans for qualifying employees The assets of these plans are held in
separately administered trusts or insurance policies In seme countries, Brambles employees are members of state-managed retirement benefit
plans Brambles s required te contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement beneft plan to fund benefits The only obhigation
of Brambles with respect to defined contribution retirement henefit plans is ta make the specified contributions

45519 9 million {2009 US$19 7 million) representing contributions paid and payable ta these plans by Brambles at rates specified in the rules of
the plans relating to continuing operations has been recognised as an expense in the income statement

b) Defined benefit plans

Brambles operates a number of defined benefit pension plans which are closed to new entrants The majonity of the plans are self-admimistered
and the ptans assets are held independently of Brambles finances Under the plans members are entitied to retirement benefits based upon a
percentage of final salary No other post-retirement benefits are provided The plans are funded plans

The plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation recegnised in Brambles balance sheet are based upon the most recent
formal actuarial valuations which have been updated to 30 June 2010 by independent professionally qualified actuaries and take account of the
reguirements of AASB 113 The present value of the defined benefit obligation the related current service cost and past service cost were
measured using the projected unit credit method

In addition to the principal defined benefit plans included in disclosures helow Brambles has a number of other arrangements in several countrigs
that are either defined benefit pension plans or have certain defined benefit characteristics Each of these arrangements has been assessed as
immaterial separately and in aggregate and they have not been subjected to ansndependent AASB 119 valuation

c) Balance sheet amounts
The amounts recogrised i Brambles' balance sheet in respect of defined benefit plans were as follows

2010 2000
USSM USsM
Present value of defined benefit obligations 2111 1860
Fair value of ptan assets (160 7} (£452)
Net Liability recognised i the balance sheet 504 508

Brambtes has no legal obligation to settle this Lability wath an immediate contribution or additional one-off contributions Brambles (intends to
continue to make contnbutions to the plans at the rates recommended by the funds actuaries Refer Note 25(1)

d) Income statement amounts
The amounts recagnised in Brambles' income statement in respect of defined benefit plans were as follows

Current service cost 35 38
Interest cost 122 128
Expected return on plan assets (10 3) {109)
Changes arising from curtailments and settlements - [0 6)
Net benefit expense included in employment cost (Note 7) 54 49

e) Statement of comprehensive income
Actuarial losses reported in the consalidated statement of comprehensive income (59) {29)

Cumulative actuanial losses recognised (18 3) {12 4}
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f) Defined benefit obligation
Changes In the present value of the defined benefit abligation were as follows

2010 2009

UssM USSM
At 1 July 196 0 2425
Current service cost 35 36
Interest cost 122 128
Contributions from plan members 07 07
Actuarial gains and losses 193 {23 4)
Currency vanations {La g} {339
Benefits paid (6 8) (57
Curtailments - {08)
At 30 June 2111 1960

All Brambles defined benefit pension arrangements are closed to new entrants Under the projected umit method the current service cost of these

arrangements will increase as a percentage of payroll as the members of the plan approach retirement

g) Plan assets

2010

2009

FAIR VALUE

Assets held in the plans fell wathin the following categories

FAIR vALUE

Equities 6B 6 427 663 457
Bonds/gilts 530 330 473 328
Insurance bonds 39 24 49 34
Cash 203 126 162 111
Other 149 93 105 72
1607 1000 1452 1000
2010 7008
Ussm USSM

Changes in the fair value of the plan assets were as follows
At 1 Juty 1452 1791
Expected return on plan assets 103 1089
Actuarial gains and losses 134 (26 3)
Currency vanations (92} {20 3)
Contributions from sponsanng employers 71 68
Contributions from plan members 07 07
Benefits paid (6 8) ]
At 30 June 1607 1452

The actual return on plan assets was US$23 7 milion {2008 USS(15 4} mitlion)
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 25 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - CONTINUED
k) Principal actuanal assumptions
Principal actuariat assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) used in determining Brambles' defined benefit obligations were

UK EURDPE SOUTH
OTHER AFRICA
THAN UK

At 30 June 2010

Rate of increase In salaries 4 4% 33% 58%
Rate of increase in pensions 34% 28% 58%
Discount rate 53% 46% 90%
Retail price inflation 34% 2 0% 58%
Return on equities 75% 6 8% 10 0%
Return on bonds 5 3% 36% 90%
Return on cash 10% 20% 60%
At 30 June 2009

Rate of increase in salaries 4 4% 37% 80%
Rate of increase in pensions 34% 29% 55%
Discount rate 62% 62% 90%
Retall price inflation 34% 24% 6 5%
Return on equities 83% 78% 126%
Return on bonds 60% 45% 93%
Return on cash 10% 24% 76%

The expected retyrn on plan assets is based on market expectations at the beginning of the period for returns over the entire Ufe of the benefit obligation

1) Employer contributions
During the year, employer contributions to the main defined benefit plans ranged between 15% and 26% of pensionable pay

The pbligation to contribute to the varisus defined benefit plans 15 covered by trust deeds and/or legistation Funding levels and contributions
for these plans are based on regular actuarial advice Comprehensive actuarial valuations are made at no more than three yearly intervals
Additional annuat contributions of USS3 1 miltion {2009 USS3 4 mutlion) are being paid to remove the identified deficits over a periad of 6 years

Contributions pad to the plans during 2010 were USS7 1 million (2009 US$G 8 mitlion), all of which related to continuing operations
Tt 15 estimated that the amount of contributions to be paid to the plans during 2011 will be USS7 5 rmluan

1) Histoncal summary

2010 2008 2008 2007 200§
UssM ussm ussM UssM USs5M

The history of the defined benefit plan deficit at the end of each year s as follows

- plan Liabilities {211 1) (196 0} (2425) (216 8) (6021)

- plan assets 1607 1452 1751 1872 4531

Net liability recogmsed m the balance sheet (50 4) {50 8) (B3 4} {296} {1490}

The history of favourable/(unfavourable} experience adjustments made In each year

15 as follows

— on plan liabilities (19 3) 234 139) {172} 30

—on plan assets 134 (26 3) (207} 172 a1l

Net [unfavourable)/favourable adjustment {5 9) (29) (34 6} - 341
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NOTE 26 CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Total ordinary shares of no par value issued and fully paid

At 1 July 2008 1383 550 886 13,7786
Issued during the year 1630,312 71
Issued during the year under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan 16,687 841 619
At 30 June 2009 1,401 869 039 13,8476
At 1 July 2008 1,401,8659,029 13,8476
Issued during the year 2,048,065 118
Issued during the year under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan 18,312,603 120 2
At 30 Jure 2010 1,422,228,707 139796

Ordinary shares of Brambles Limited entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on any winding up of the Company in propertion
to the number of shares hetd
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 27 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Remuneration Report sets out details relating to the Brambles share plans {pages 43 to 44) together with details of options performance
share nghts and MyShare matching conditional rights \ssued to Executive Directors and other Key Management Personnel {pages 39 to 40}
Options and nghts granted by Brambles do not resutt in an entitlement to participate in sharessues of any other corporation

Set out below are summaries of options and nghts granted under the plans

a) Grants over Brambles Limited shares issued subsequent to Unthcation

GRANT DATE EXPIRY DATE LANCE GRANTED EXERCISED FORFEITED/ MALANCE
AT 1 Juy DURING DURING | LAPSED DURING AT 30 JUNE
THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR

2010

Perfarmance share rghts

13 Jan 2007 31 Aug 2012 19008630 - (682,268) (1,089 055} 129307
29 Aug 2007 30 Aug 2013 19882795 - {164 157) {211,414) 1607224
26 Feh 2008 2 Dec 2013 28 406 - - (28 406} -
19 Mar 2008 2 Mar 2014 36 365 - - - 36 365
28 Apr 2008 29 Apr 2014 125250 - - - 125250
27 Aug 2008 27 Aug 2014 3844813 - [192623) {741 413} 2910777
1 Jun 2009 1 Jun 2011 85830 - {58 718} - 27112
16 Nov 2009 19 0ct 2010 - 60092 - - 80092
25 Nov 2009 25 Nov 2012 - 3582251 (8,029) {84 758} 3,489 464
12 Apr 2010 12 Apr 2013 - 22,902 - - 22,902

MyShare matching conditional rights

2009 Plan Year 31 Mar 2011 218242 359,308 (18 786} (33230) 525534
2010 Plan Year 31 Mar 2012 - 194,472 {B74) {1,665) 191,933
Total nghts 8,222,331 4,219,025 (1.125,455)  (2,1689,941) 9,125,960

2009 (summansed)
Total rights 4 442,317 4,251 970 [185,022) {286 834} 8222331

Of the above grants, 147 377 rights were exercisable at 30 June 2010

Weighted average data

— fair value at grant date of grants made during the year AS 516 561
- share price at exercise date of grants exercised during the year AS 708 657
— remaining contractual Life at 30 June years 30 43
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b} Grants over BIL or BIP shares pre-Unification, now over Brambles Limited shares

GRANT DATE

EXPIRY DATE

EXERCISE BALANCE
PRIGE AT 1 JuLy

GRANTED
DURING
THE YEAR

EXERCISED
DURING
THE YEAR

FORFEITED/
LAPSED DURING
THE YEAR

BALANCE
AT 20 JUNE

2010
Options
10 Sep 2003 10 Sep 2008 AS475 108171 - (108,171) - -
10 Sep 2003 10 Sep 2008 £172 181,691 - {181691) - -
4 Mar 2004 4 Mar 2010 AS531 155 586 - {155,588} - -
4 Mar 2004 4 Mar 2010 £211 155586 - {155,586} - -
Total optrons 601,034 - (601,034} - -
Performance share rights
10 Sep 2003 10 Sep 2009 25034 - (25034} - -
4 Mar 2004 4 Mar 2010 16593 - {10,583} - -
24 Nov 2004 4 Mar 2010 10,599 - {10,599} - -
8 Sep 2004 8 Sep 2010 33789 - (6 500} {15 289} 12000
8 Sep 2004 9 Sep 2010 34818 - (22,818} - 12 000
21 Oct 2005 21 Qct 2011 134,401 - (107,491} (4 110} 22,800
21 0ct 2005 220ct 2011 97,794 - {82076) {41190} 11,608
Total rights 347,034 - (265,117) (23,509) 58,408
Total 948,068 - {866,151) (23,509) 58,408
Weighted average exercise price of options
= previously over BIL shares AS 508 - 508 - -
- previously over BIP shares £ 190 - 190 - -
2009 (summarised)
Totat options 2,687,502 - {275257) {1811 211} 601,034
Total rights 3397673 - {1,278 246) {1771 383) 347034
Total 6085175 - (1,554,503} (3,582,604} 948,068
Weighted average exercise price of options
- previpusly over BIL shares AS 770 - 503 847 508
- previously over BIP shares E 189 - 172 - 190
Of the above grants 58,408 rights were exercisable at 30 June 2010
| 2010 | 2009

Weighted average data
—share pnice at exercise date of grants exercised during the year AS 733 740

£ 395 353
- remaining contractual Ufe at 30 June years 0709 09-11

There were 76 184 grants 5 553 exercises and 934,350 forfeits in options performance share rights and MyShare matching conditional
rights over Brambles Limited shares between the end of the financial year and 17 August 2010
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 27 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS — CONTINUED

¢} Farr value calculations

The fair value of equity-settled options performance share rights and MyShare matching conditional rights was determined as at grant date, using
a binormial valuation methodology The values calculated do not take into account the probabibty of optiens and nghts being forfeited prior to
vesting as a probatlity adjustment 1s made when computing the share-based payment expense

The significant inputs into the valuation models for the equity-settled grants made during the year were

2010 2009
GRANTS GRANTS

Weighted average share grice ASE 59 AS722
Expected volatility 38% 3%
Expected life 30years 10-30years
Annual risk-free interest rate 4 86% 356-560%
Expected dvidend yield 375% 35-39%

The expected volatility was determined based on a twa-year historic volatility of Brambles share prices

d) Share-based payment expense — continuing operations
Brambles recogrused a total expense of US$11 146 million (2003 US$14 213 million} relating to share-based payments, all within continuing
operations Of this amount, USS0 472 million related to phantom share prowisions (2008 USSD 240 mullion benefit)
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NOTE 28 RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

00
USSM

Reserves {15,007 &} (14,9387}
Retamed earnings 2,6601 25201
(12.3473) (12,4186}

Non-controlling interests in reserves and retained earnings 03 a3

a) Movements in reserves and retained earnings

HEDGING SHARE- FOREIGN UNIFICATION RETAINED
ussM BASED CURRENCY ussM EARNINGS
PAYMENTS |  TRANSLATION USsM
UssM UssM
Year ended 30 June 2009
Opening batance 02 658 481 4 {15,385 8) 1673 (14,671 5) 24361
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans - - - - - - {31)
FCTR released to profits during the year - - 773 - - (77 3) -
FCTR on entities disposed taken to profit - - (08} - - [0 6) -
Foreign exchange differences - - {185 3) - - {185 3) -
Cash flow hedges
- fawr value losses (279) - - - - {279) -
- tax on far value losses 97 - - - - 97 -
— transfers to net profit 137 - - - - 137 -
— tax on transfers to net profit (48) - - - - (4 B) -
Share-based payments
— expense recogrised during the year - 145 - - - 145 -
- shares issued - (63) - - - (63) -~
- equity component of related tax - (29) - - - (29) -
Drvidends dectared - - - - - - {365 5)
Net profit for the year - - - - - - 4576
Closing balance 95} 711 2162 {15385 8) 1673 (14 938 7} 25201
Year ended 30 June 2010
Opening baiance (9 5) 711 218 2 {15,385 8) 167 3 (14,9387) 25201
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans - - - - - - (4 6)
Fareign exchange differences - - (71 2) - - (71 2) -
Cash flow hedges
— fair value losses (10 6} - - - - (10 6) -
— tax on fair value losses 41 - - - - 41 -
- transfers to net profit 123 - - - - 123 -
- transfers {o property, plant and (03) - - - - (03) -
equipment
- tax on transfers to net profit {4 6) - - - - (4 6) -
Share-based payments
— expense recognised during the year - 107 - - - 107 -
— shares 1ssued - (91) - - - 91) -
Dividends declared - — - - - - (304 2)
Net profit far the year - - - - - - 448 8
Closing balance (8 6) 727 1470 (15,385 8) 167 3 {15,007 4) 26601
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 28 RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS - CONTINUED

b) Nature and purpose of reserves

HEDGING RESERVE

This comprises the cumulative portion of the gamn or loss of cash flow hedges that are determined to be effective hedges Amounts are recognised
\n the income statement when the associated hedged transaction 1s recognised or the hedge or a portion thereof becomes ineffective

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS RESERVE
This comprises the cumulative share-based payment expense recognised In the income staterment in relation to equity-settled options and share
rights 1ssued but not yet exercised Refer to Note 27 for further details

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE
This comprises cumulative exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, net of qualifying
net iInvestment hedges The relevant accumulated balance s recogrsad i the income statement on disposal of a foreign subsidiary

UNIFICATION RESERVE

On Unification Brambles Limited 1ssued shares on a one-for-one basis to those BIL and BIP shareholders who did not elect to participate in the
Cash Alternative The Unification reserve of US$15,385 8 million represents the difference between the Brambles Limited share capital measured
at fair value on 4 December 2006 and the carrying value of the share capttal of BIL and BIP at that date

OTHER
This comprises a merger reserve created in 2001 and a capital redemption reserve created in 2006
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NOTE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Brambles 1s exposed to a variety of financial risks market sisk (including the effect of fluctuations In interest rates and exchange rates) Liguidity
risk and credit risk

Brambles' overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the financial performance of Brambles

Brambles uses standard derivative financial instruments to manage 1ts risk exposure in the normal course of business Brambles does not trade
in financial instrurments for speculative purposes Hedging activities are conducted through Brambles Treasury department on a centratised basis
In accordance with Board policies and guidelines through standard operating precedures and delegated authorities

Policies with respect to financial sk management and hedging activities are discussed below and should be read in conjunction with detailed
information contained in the Treasury and Risk Review on pages 12 to 13

a) Fair values

Set gut below 1s a comparisan by category of the carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet

With the exceptien of loans and recesvables and derivatives designated as hedging instruments all cther financial assets are classified as finangial
assets at fair value through profit or loss

CAIRYINB AMDUNT FATR VALUE

2010 2009 2010 200%
LSsM US5M ussm US5M

Financial assets

- cash at bank and in hand (Note 13) 1202 550 1202 550
- shart tarm depostts (Note 13} 153 351 153 351
- trade recevables (Note 14) 4988 4501 4988 4501
- Interest rate swaps {Note 16} 200 - 200 -
- embedded derwatives (Note 16) 04 - 04 -
— forward foreign currency contracts {Note 16) 61 11 61 11

Financial babilities

- trade payables (Note 22) 3057 2871 3057 2871
- bank overdrafts {Note 23) 122 360 122 360
- bank loans (Note 23) 5649 16457 564 8 16457
- loan notes (Note 23} 1,316 6 5498 1,360 0 5158
- finance lease Liabilities (Note 23) 12 19 12 19
- interest rate swaps [Note 16} 182 81 182 181
— forward foreign currency contracts (Note 16} 41 06 41 06

BRAMBLES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010

a5



NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

a) Farr values — continued

Brambles uses vartous methods in estimating the fair values of financial Instruments The methods comprise

— Level 1 - the fair value 1s calculated using quoted prices in active markets

— Level 2 - the fair value 1s estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observabte for the asset or Liability,
either directty (as prices) or indirectly {derved from prices), and

— Level 3 - the farr value Is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not observable market data

The table below sets out the fair values and methods used to estimate the fair value of dervatives designated as hedging instruments

T e T T e ]

I N e = N
UssM ussMm UssM Ussm UssM UsSsM USsM UssMm

Dervative finaneial assets

- interest rate swaps - 200 - 200 - - - -

— embedded derivatives - 04 - ) - - - -

- forward foreign currency contracts - 61 - 61 - 11 - 11

Derivative financial babilities

- interest rate swaps - 182 - 182 - 181 - 181

- forward foreign currency contracts - 41 - 41 - 06 - 08

The fair vaiues of derivatives designated as hedging instruments are determined using valuation techriques that are based on abservable market
data For forward foreign currency contracts the net fair value 1s taken to be the unrealised gain or lass at balance date calculated by reference to
the current forward rates for contracts with similar matunty dates Fair value for other financial assets and liabilities has been calculated by
discounting future cash flows at prevaiing interest rates for the relevant yield curve
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b} Market risk
Brambles has the following nsk policies in place with respect to market risk

INTEREST RATE RISK

Brambles’ exposure to potential volatility in finance costs, predominantly US dollars Australian dotlars and euros 1s managed by maintaining a mix
of fixed and floating-rate instruments within select target bands over defined periods In most cases interest rate derivatives are used to achieve
these targets synthetically

The following table sets out the financial instruments exposed to interest rate risk at reporting date

2010 2009
ussm ussM

Financial assets {floating rate)

Cash at bank 1202 350
Short term deposits 153 351

1355 901
Weighted average effective interest rate 13% 10%

Financial labilities {floating rate)

Bank overdrafts 122 360
Bank loans 564 8 16457
Interest rate swaps (notional value) — cash flow hedges (460 9) 612 3)
Interest rate swaps (notionat value) — far value hedges 4500 -
Net exposure te cash flow nterest rate risk 5661 10694
Weighted average effective interest rate 30% 32%

Financial liabiliies (fixed ratej

Loan notes 1316 6 5499
Finance lease biabslities 12 19
Interest rate swaps (notional vatue) — cash flow hedges 460 9 612 3
Interest rate swaps {notional value) - fawr value hedges {450 0) -
Net exposure to far value interest rate risk 13287 11641
Waeighted average effective interest rate 54% 6 0%

Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedges
Brambles enters into various interest rate risk management transactions for the purpose of managing finance costs to achieve more stable and
predictabie finance expense results Theinstruments pnimarily used are interest rate swaps and caps

Dunng 2010, Brambles entered into or maintained interest rate swap transactrons with vanous banks hedging vanzble rate borrowings in US
dollars and euros The purpose of the interest rate swaps was to hedge vanable interest expense under borrowings against rising wnterest rates
Interest rate swaps achieve this by synthetically converting the variable interest rate payment into a fixed interest liability on the dates on which
Interest 1s payable on the underlying debt The fair value of these contracts at reporting date was US${15 1) million {2008 USS(18 1) mullion)

The terms of the cantracts have been negotiated ta match the projected drawdowns and rollovers of vanable rate bank debt

Interest rate swaps - far value hedges

Duning 2010, concurrent with the issue of US$750 0 million in fixed rate bonds Brambles entered into interest rate swap transactions with various
banks swapping US$450 0 million fixed rate borrowings to vaniable rate borrowings The fair vatue of these contracts at reporting date was
USS$16 9 million (2009 nil)

The terms of the swaps match the terms of the fixed rate bond issue for the amounts and durations being hedged

The gan or loss from re-measuring the interest rate swaps at fair value 15 recorded in the Income statement together with any changes in the far
value of the hedged asset or lability that 1s attributed to the hedged rnisk For 2010, all interest rate swaps were effective hedging instruments
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

b} Market risk — continued

Sensitivity analysis

The following table sets out the sensitivity of Brambles' financial assets and financial Liabilities to interest rate risk applying the following
assumptions

INTEREST RATE AISK

HIGHER HIGHER
RATES RATES

US dollar interest rates -25bps +75bps -25bps  +50bps
Australian dollar interest rates -25bps +75bps -50 bps + 50 bps
Sterling interest rates -25bps +75bps -25bps +50 bps
Euro interest rates -25bps  +75bps -25bps + 50 bps
1 ) ™)
Impact on profit after tax 09 (30} 20 (54}
Impact an equity {02) g7 03 07

Based on financial instruments held at 30 June 2010, if interest rates were to parallel shift by the number of basi points in the different currencies

noted abave with all other variables held constant, profit after tax for the year would have been USS0 9 million higher or SS$3 0 million Llower

(2009 USS2 0 million higher or USS5 4 million lower) mainly as a result of lowerflugher interest expense on bank berrowings The impact on equity

would have been U550 2 million lower or USSC 7 million higher {2009 LSS0 3 rillion lower or US$0 7 million hugher} marnty as a result of the

incremental movement through the hedging reserve relating to the effective portion of cash flow hedges Given its geographically diverse operations

Brambles had interest rate exposure positions against a variety of currengies but predanunantly US dollars Australian dollars and eurcs |
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Exposure to foreign exchange risk generally anses in transactions affecting either the vatue of transactions translated back to the functional
currency of a subsidiary or affecting the value of assets and babilities of overseas subsidiaries when translated back to the Group s reporting
currency Foreign exchange hedging 1s used when a transaction exposure exceeds certain thresholds and as s00n as a defined exposure arises

Currency profile
The following table sets put the currency mix profile of Brambles’ financial instruments at reporting date

STERLING
UssM

2010

Financial assets

- cash at bank and in hand 239 - 26 274 659 1202
— short term deposits 02 - - 04 147 153
—nterest rate swaps 200 - - - - 200
— embedded derivatives - - - - 04 04
- forward foreign currency contracts 2153 1276 134 4 1105 60 2 6480

2594 1276 1370 1387 141 2 8039

Financial Liabilities

— bank overdrafts - 03 - 73 46 122
- bank lpans 399 4 - - 629 410 5033
~ loan notes 1,3166 - - - - 1,316 6
- finance lease Labilities 04 - - 0.7 0.1 12
- Interest rate swaps 174 - - o8 - 182
- forward foreign currency contracts 1154 1557 - 2695 105 4 6460
- net investment hedge - - - 615 - 615
1,849 2 156 Q - 4027 1511 2,559 0
2009
Financial assets
— cash at bank and in hand 28 23 - 86 413 550
- shart term deposits - 122 - 2B 201 351
— forward foreign currency contracts 34 1292 48 8 72 13 1899
62 1437 488 1886 827 2800

Financial Liabilities

- bank overdrafts - - 82 228 50 360
- hank lpans 8943 1610 - 3973 1219 15745
- loan notes 5499 - - - - 5499
- finance lease Liabilities a7 - - 10 02 14
~ interest rate swaps 166 15 - - - 181
- forward foreign cusrency contracts 1010 19 31 483 351 1894
- netinvestment hedge - - - 712 - 712

15625 164 4 113 5406 162 2 24410
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ~ CONTINUED

b) Market risk — continued

Forward foreign exchange contracts — cash flow hedges

Brambles enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge currency exposures ansing from normal commercial transactions such as the
purchase and sale of equipment and services, ntercompany interest and rayalties

During 2010, Brambles entered mto forward foreign exchange transactions with varigus banks in a variety of cross-currencies for terms ranging up
to six months Most contracts create an obligation on Brambles to take receipt of or deliver a foreign currency which 15 used to fulfil the foreign
currency sale or purchase order

The gan or loss from re-measuring the fereign exchange contracts at fair value 1s deferred and recogmised in the hedging reserve in equity to the
extent that the hedge 1s effective and reclassified into profit and loss when the hedged item s recogmsed Any ineffective portion 1s charged to the
income statement For 2010 and 2009, all foreign exchange contracts were effective hedging instruments

Foreign exchange contracts are fair valued by comparing the contracted rate to the current market rate for a contract with the same remairung
period to matunity The fair value of these contracts at reporting date was USs{0 2) mullion (2009 US$S${0 5) million)

Other forward foreign exchange contracts

Brambles enters into other forward farexgn exchange contracts for the purpose of hedging various cross-border intercompany loans te averseas
subsidiaries In this case the forward foreign exchange contract provides an economic hedge against exchange fluctuations in the foreign currency
loan balance The face value and terms of the farelgn exchange contracts match the intercompany loan balances Gains and losses on realignment
of the intercompany loan and foreign exchange contracts to spot rates are offset in the income statement Consequently, these foreign exchange
contracts are not designated for hedge accounting purposes and are classified as held for trading

These cantracts are far valued by comparing the contracted rate to the current market rate for a contract with the same remaining period to
maturity Any changes in fair values are taken to the income statement immediately The far value of these contracts at reporting date was
U552 2 milbon {2008 USS1 0 rrullion)

Hedge of net investment in foreign entity

Included in bank loans at 30 June 2010 s a borrewing of USSB1 5 mitlton {2008 USS71 2 milbion) densminated in euros This Loan has been
designated as a hedge of the net investment in Brambies' European subsidiaries and 1s being used to partially hedge Brambles exposure to fareign
exchange nisks on these investments For 2010 and 2009 there was no ineffectiveness to be recerded from such partial hedges of netinvestments
in foreign enfities

Sensitivity analysis
The following table sets out the sensitivity of Brambles' financial assets and financial abilitees to fareign exchange nsk {transactton exposures only)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

HIGHER HIGHER

RATES RATES

Exchange rate movement -10% +10% -10% +10%
Impact on prefit after tax 03 {03) 32 (32}
Impact on eguity {43) 43 {50 50

Based on the financial instruments held at 30 June 2010 If exchange rates were to weaken/strengthen y 10% with all other varables held
constant profit after tax for the year would have been USS0 3 nultion higher/lower {2009 USS3 2 million higher/tower) The impact on equity
would have been US54 3 mitlion lower/higher (2009 USS$5 0 million lower/higher) as a result of the incremental mavement through the foreign
currency translation reserve relating to the effective portion of a net investment hedge
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¢} Liguidity nisk

Brambles objective ts to maintamn adeguate bguidity to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due Brambles funds its operations
through existing equity retained cash flow and borrowings Funding 1s generally sourced from relabionship banks and debt capital market investors
on a medium to lorg term basis Bank credit facilities are generally structured on a committed multi-currency revolving basis and at balance date
had maturities ranging out to December 2613 Borroewings under the facilities are floating-rate, unsecured abligations with covenants and
undertakings typical for these types of arrangements

Borrowings are raised from debt capital markets by the issue of unsecured fixed interest notes with interest payable semt-annually

Brambles also has access to further funding threugh overdrafts uncommitted and standby Lines of credit, principally to manage day-to-day Liqurdity
To minimise foreign exchange risks borrawings are arranged in the currency of the relevant operating asset to be funded

Refer to Note 23a for borrowing facitities and credit standby arrangements disclosures

Maturities ot derivative financial assets and uabitities

The maturity of Brambles' contractual cash flows on net and gross settled derwative financial instruments, based on the remaining period to
contractual matunity date 1s presented below Cash flows on interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts are valued based on
forward interest rates applicable at reporting date

YEAR L QUER 3 YEARS ToTAL CARRYING
USSM USSM | CONTRACTUAL | AMOUNT ASSETS/
CASHFLOWS |  (LIABILITIES)
USsM ussM
2010
Net sattled
Interest rate swaps
- cash flow hedges (82) (51) (19) o1 - (151) {151)
- farr value hedges a4 70 45 (0 4) (2 6) 169 169

Gross settied

Forward fareign exchange contracts

~ Inflow 6480 - - - - 6480 20

~ {outflow) {646 0) - - - - (646 0) -
22 19 6 (03} (28} 38 38

2009

Net settled

Interest rate swaps {12 3) 4 4) (11) (@3} - {181) {18 1)

Gross settled

Forward foreign exchange contracts

- inflow 1899 - - - - 1894 05
- {outflow) {189 4) - - - - {189 4) -
{118) (44) {11} 03) - (176} {17 6)
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

¢} Liquidity risk — continued

Matunties of non-derivative financial liabtlities

The matunty of Brambles contractual cash flows on non-derivative financial Liabilities, based on the remaining period to contractual maturnity date
which incluges principal and interest is presented below Refer to Note 23b for borrowing facitities maturity profile

TOTAL CARRYING
CONTRACTUAL AMOUNT
CASH FLOWS ussM
USsM
2010

Financial Liabilities
Trade payables 3067 - - - - 3057 3057
Bank overdrafts 122 - - - - 122 122
Bank loans 256 8 1084 1234 1122 - 6008 564 8
Loan notes 920 2309 591 936 12801 17557 1,316 6
Finance tease Liabilities 06 05 01 - - 12 12
667 3 3338 1826 2058 1,2801 26756 22005
Financial guarantees! 888 - - - - 988 -
7661 3398 182 6 2058 1,2801 2,774 4 22005

2009

Financial Labilities
Trade payables 2871 - - - - 2871 2871
Bank overdrafts 360 - - - - 360 360
Bank loans 782 3916 4347 4114 5462 18621 16457
Loan notes 475 325 1951 233 4147 7131 5459
Finance lease Liabilities 06 1] 05 01 - 21 19
4494 4250 6303 4348 9609 2,900 4 25206
Financial guarantees! 838 - - - - 838 -
5332 4250 6303 4348 960 8 29842 252086

! Refer to Note 32a for details on financial guarantees The amounts disclosed above are the maximum amounts allocated to the earliest perrod In which the guarantee

could be called Brambles does not expect these payments to eventuate

d) Credit risk exposure

Brambles 1s exposed to credit risk on its financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents trade and other recevables and derivative
financial instruments This exposure to credit risks arises from the potential faillure of counterparties to meet thewr obligations The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date 15 the carrying amount of the financial instruments as set out in Note 28a There rs no significant
concentration of credit risk

Brambles trades only with recogmised creditworthy third parties Collateral 1s generally net obtained from customers

Customers are subject to credit verification procedures inciuding an assessment of thew independent credit rating, financial pasition, past
expertence and industry reputation Credit Llmits are set for each individual customer and approved by the credit manager in accordance with
an approved authority matrix These credit Umits are regutarly menitored and revised based on historic turnover activity and credit performance
In addition, overdue receivable balances are monitored and actioned on a regular basis

Exposure to credit nisk also arises from amounts receivable from unrealised gains on derwvative financial instruments At the reporting date this
amount was USS26 Imitbon {2008 USS1 1 million) Brambles transacts derivatives with promineat financial institutions and has credit limits in
place to lmit exposure to any potential non-performance by its counterparties
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e} Capital nsk management

Brambles' objective when managing capital s to ensure Brambles centinues as a geing concern as well as to provide a balance between financial
flexibiity and balance sheet effictency In determiming its capital structure Brambles considers the robustness of future cash flows potential
funding requirements for growth opportunities and acquisitions, the cost of capital and ease of access to funding sources

Brambles manages its capital structure to be consistent with a solid investment grade credit At 30 June 2010 Brambles held investment grade
credit ratings of BBB+ from Standard and Poor’s and Baal from Moody s Investor Services

Initiatives available to Brambles to achieve its desired capital structure include adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
returning capital to shareholders buying-back share capital, 1ssuing new shares, selling assets to reduce debt and varying the maturity profile
of its borrowings

Brambles considers its caprtal to comprise

| 2010 2008

Us5M UssM
Total borrowings 1,884 8 22335
Less cashand cash equivalents 1355 901
Net defdt 1,758 3 21434
Total equity 1,6326 14293
Total capital 33919 35727

Brambles has adopted a financial policy to target a net debt to EBITDA ratic of less than 1 75 to 1 Brambles 1s compliant with this financial policy
at 30 June 2010

Under the terms of its major borrowing facilities Brambles i1s required te comply with the following financial cevenants
— theratio of net debt to EBITOA1ste bene more than 35to 1 and
— the ratio of EBITDA to net finance costs 1s to be no less than 35to 1

Brambles has complied with these financial covenants for 2010 and prior years At balance date based on the definitions below, the ratios were

Total borrowimgs 1,8948 22335
Less fair vatue adjustments due to hedge accounting 144 -
Less cash and cash eguivalents 1355 901
Net debt 1,744 9 21434
EBITDA 11716 12078
Net finance costs 1096 1209
Net debt/EBITDA (times) 15 18
EBITDA/net finance cost (himes] 107 10¢

The following definstions apply in the calculation of these financial cavenants

— EBITDA means Brambles’ consclidated operating profit {excluding Significant items outside the ordinary course of business) before depreciation
amaritsation, impairment, profit of joint ventures and associates and certain fair value adjustments in respect of financial derivatives, and

— net debt means Brambles consclidated total borrowings excluding the impact of fair value adjustments in relation to hedge accounting less
cash and cash equivalents
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 30 CASH FLOW STATEMENT - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
a) Reconcibiation of cash

For the purpose of the cash flow statement cash comprises

2010
USSM

Cash at bank and in hand (Note 13} 1202 550
Short term deposits [Note 13) 153 351
Bank overdraft {Note 23) 122) (36 0}
1233 541
b) Reconciliation of profit after tax to net cash flows from operating activities
Profit after tax 4488 4526
Adjustments for
- depreciation and amortisation 4440 4246
— irrecoverable pooling equipment provision expense 1112 978
- net gains on disposals of property, plant and equipment {26 4) 219
— impairment of pooling equipment - 336
~ foreign exchange gain on capital repatriation - {773}
= pther valuation adjustments (11) [1L9)
- net gains on disposal of businesses and investments - (08)
- net gans after tax on compteted disposals of discontinued operations (75) (170}
- |0t ventures 01 Z1
— equity-settled share-based payments 107 145
- finance revenues and costs 79 (30)
Movements in operating assets and Liabilities net of acquisitions and disposats
— (increase}/decrease in trade and other recevables (19 3) 563
- {increase} in prepayments (08) 60}
— decrease th inventories 221 73
— |decrease}/increase in deferred tax {451) 497
- increase/ (decrease) in trade and other payables 155 (31 9)
— in¢rease/ [decrease) in tax payables 353 {19 0)
— {decrease)/increase In provisions {41) 535
- other {10} (Q4)
Net cash inflow from operating actvities 9903 10230
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¢) Reconcibiatton of movement in net debt

| 20t0 2008
uSSM ussMm
Net debt at beginning of the year 2,143 4 24262
Net cash inflow from operating activities (9903) (10230}
Net cash outflow from investing activities 440 4 606 6
Net {inflow)/outflow from hedge instruments (35 8) 79
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 27) 08}
Dividends paid, net of Dividend Reinvestment Plan 2045 2776
Interest accruals finance leases and other 260 (75}
Foreign exchange differences (26 2) {143 6)
Net debt at end of the year 1,7593 21434
Being
Current borrowings 2760 680
Non-current borrowings 1,6188 21655
Cash and cash equivalents (135 5) {90 1}
Net debt at end of the year 1,7593 21434

d) Non-cash financing or investing activities

Dividends of US$120 2 million were satisfied by 1ssues of shares under the Dividend Reinvestment Ptan There were no cther financing or investing
transactions during the year which have had a material effect on the assets and Labilities of Brambles that dtd not involve cash flows
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 31 COMMITMENTS
a) Capital expenditure commitments
At 30 June 2010, Brambles had commitments of US$41 1 million {2009 US$29 2 million) priacipally relating to property plant and equipment

Capital expenditure contracted for but net recogrised as liabilsties at reporting date were as follows

2010 2009
USsM USSM
Within one year 322 292
Between one and five years g9 -
411 292

b} Operating lease commitments
Brambles has taken out operating leases for offices operational locations and plant and equipment The leases have varying terms, escalation
clauses and renewal rights Escalation clauses are rare and any wnpact 1s considered immaterial

The future minsmum Lease payments under such non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

USSM ussM
Within one year 236 331 1572 1404
Between ore and tive years 284 595 4527 464 1
After five years - 43 3023 3637
Minimum lease payments 520 969 9122 968 2

During the year operating lease expense of US$205 2 millian {2009 US$$185 0 miltion} was recogrised in the inceme statement

c) Finance lease commitments
Finance leases of plant and equipment are not a matenal feature of Brambles funding arrangements Finance lease commitments are payable

as follows

Within one year 06 05
Between ane and five years 06 14
Minimum lease payments recognised as a liaility 12 19
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NOTE 32 CONTINGENCIES

a) Subsidiaries of Brambles Limited have contingent unsecured biabiliies 1n respect of guarantees given relating to performance under contracts
entered inta totalling USS98 8 miltien (2008 US$83 8 milkion), of which USS$92 7 milien (2009 US$79 4 mullion) 1s also guaranteed by Brambles
Limited and 1s included in Note 37b

b) A subsidiary has provided guarantees on a several basis in relation to a reductton i the share premium account of a subsidiary of Brambtes in
favour of certain creditors which amounts to US53 3 nullion {2009 USS5 4 mitlion)

c) A subsidiary has guaranteed certamn lease obligations of third parties totallng US$15 3 mullion (2009 USS21 7 million) A subsichary of Brambles
Limited has provided guarantees to support lease facilities entered into by certain Brambles subsidraries Total facilities availabte amount to
US$11 7 million (2009 USS13 9 milbion} of which USS$11 7 mitlion {2009 US$13 8 miltion) has been drawn

d} Environmental contingent Liabilities
Brambles' activities have included the treatment and disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous waste through subsidiaries and corporate
joint ventures In addition other activities of Brambtes entast using handling and storing matertals which are capable of causing
environmental impairment

As a consequence of the nature of these activibies, Brambles has incurred and may continue to incur environmental costs and Labilities
associated with site and facility operation, closure remediation aftercare monitoring and Licensing Provisions have been made in respect
of estimated environmental babilitres at all sites and facilities where obligations are knawn to exist and can be reliably measured

However additional Liatnlities may emerge due to a number of factors including changes in the numergus laws and regulations which govern
envirpnmental protection Liability, land use planming and other matters in each jurisdiction in which Brambles operates or has operated
These extensive laws and regulations are continually evolving in response to technological advances, scientific developments and other
factors Brambles cannot predict the extent to which it may be affected in the future by any such changes in legislation or regulation

e} In the ordinary course of business, Brambtes becomes involved in liigation Pravision has been made for known obligations where the existence
of the Liability 1s probable and can be reascnably quantified Recewvables have been recognised where recoveries, for example from insurance
arrangements, are wirtually certain As the outcomes of these matters remain uncertain contingent Liabilities exsst for possible amounts
eventually payabte that are in excess of the amounts provided

f} Brambles has given vendor warranttes in retation to businesses seld in prior years Brambies has recognised the financial impact of such vendor
warranties and adjustments on the basis of information currently avalable A contingent lrability exists for any amounts which may uttimately
be borne by Brarnbles which are in excess of the amounts provided at 30 June 2010
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 33 AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

2010 2009
US$'000 US5'000

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) earned the following remuneration from Brambtes during the year

Amounts received or due and receivable by PwC (Australia) for

Audit services

— audit and review of Brambles financial reports 1,338 1252

— ather assurance services 256 K

' 1,594 1283

Other services

— tax adwisory services 33 37
— other - 22

33 59
Total remuneration of PwC {Austratia) 1,627 1342

Amounts receved or due and receivable by related
practices of PwC {Australia) for
Audit services

— audit and review of Brambles financial reports 2,531 3209
- other assurance services 53 B
2,584 3215

Other services
— tax advisory services 43 51
—other 108 -
151 51
Total remuneration of related practices of PwC (Australia) 2,735 31266
Total auditors remuneration 4,362 4,608

From time to time Brambles employs PwC on assignments additional to their statutory audt duties where PwC through their detailed knowledge
of the Group are best placed {o perform the services from an effictency effectiveness and cost perspective The performance of such non-audit
related services is always balanced with the fundamental objective of ensuring PwC's objectiity and independence as auditors To ensure this
balance the Audit Committee has established a policy whereby its approval is required wherever management recommends that PwC undertake
non-audit wark Valuation services, actuarial services and internal audit services will not be performed by PwC

In 2010 and 2009 non-audit assignments primarily related to imptementation of a compliance tracking system and tax consulting advice

NOTE 34 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
a) Key management personnel compensation

Short term employee benefits 12,269 7722
Post employment benefits 594 397
Qther benefits 126 B4
Termination/sign-onfretirement benefits 5172 631
Share-based payments 2,012 4,885

20,173 13709
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b} Equity instruments disclosure relating to key management persornel
The number of ordinary shares and options/share rights in Brambles held during the financial year by each key management personnel, including
therr related parties are set out below

NAME AND HOLDINGS BALANCE GRANTED EXERCISED LAPRSED CHANGES BALANCE VESTED ANO
AT START OF DURING OURING DURING OurING ATEND GF EXERCISABLE

THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEARL AT END OF
THE YEAR

2010

Executive Directors

T J Gorman

Ordinary shares 245 - - - 685 930 -
Share rights 219688 326 994 - - - 546 682 -
G J Hayes

Ordinary shares - - - - - - -
Share rights - 405 870 - - - 405870 -
Former Executive Directors

M F Ihlein

Ordinary shares 783,524 - - - 489 784,013 -
Share rights 809 734 483 - 110038 - 700179 68713
M E Doherty

Ordinary shares 10,15t - - - 441 10592 -
Share nights 246,453 440 - - - 246,893 -
Current Key Management Personnel

JL Intnger

Ordinary shares - - - - 135 135 -
Share nghts - 128717 - - - 128717 -
JRA Judd

Ordinary shares 50 580 - - - 14 809 65 399 -
Share rights 177446 84 345 13931 28 668 - 219192 -
P 5 Mackie

Ordinary shares 245 - - - 609 854 -
Share rights 110,041 53,701 6278 17701 - 139,763 -
E E Potts

Ordinary shares 50689 - - - 7437 58,126 -
Share rights 210,106 103,662 9,955 27108 - 276,704 ~
J D Ritchie

Ordinary shares - - - - 39,941 39941 -
Share rights 123,368 65,450 58718 37538 - 92,602 -
K J Shuba

Ordinary shares 28033 - - - 18419 46 452 -
Optionsishare nghts 334421 111645 134534 28136 - 283 396 -
N P Smith

Ordinary shares 292 - - - 754 1,046 -
Share rights 97,463 97926 - - - 195,389 -
R JWesterbos

Ordinary shares - - - - - - -
Share rights - - - - - - -
Former Senior Executive

C A van der Laan

Ordinary shares 15000 - - - 34,779 49,779 -
Share nghts 442662 - 34,779 49507 - 358 376 -

1 Clesing balances are as the end of the year for ongong employees and a5 at cessation of employment far those whose employment ended during the year
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 34 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL - CONTINUED
b) Equity instruments disclosure relating to key management personnel

NAME AND HOLDINGS BALANCE GRANTED EXERCISED LAPSED CHANGES BALANCE VESTED AND
AT START OF DURING DURING DURING QURING AT END OF EXERCISANLE

THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR AT END OF
THE YEAR

2009

Executive Directors

M F Ihlein

Ordinary shares 646 470 - - - 137054 783524 -
Share rights 602,526 461 376 136,762 117406 - 809,734 -
M E Doherty

Ordinary shares - - - - 10151 10151 -
Share rights 28,406 218,047 - - - 246 453 -
Current Key Management Personnel

T J Gorman

Ordinary shares - - - - 245 245 -
Share rights 36,365 183 323 - - - 219688 -
JR A Judd

Ordinary shares 69,654 - - - (19 064) 50580 -
Share rights 142 669 93647 30785 28085 - 177 446 -
E E Potts

Ordinary shares 45,000 - - - 5689 50689 -
Share rights 166 238 90 926 25436 21,620 - 210106 -
K J Shuba

Ordinary shares 27780 - - - 253 28033 -
Options/share nghts 244519 133832 23,745 20,184 - 334,421 125208
N P Smith

Ordinary shares - - - - 292 292 -
Share rights - 97 463 - - - 97463 -
C A van der Laan

Ordinary shares 130,882 - - - 115 862) 15000 -
Share nghts 371 080 188 344 64,490 52,252 - 442 662 -
Former Semor Executive

C M Norin

Ordinary shares - - - - 115 115 -
Share nghts 164,292 78251 35896 90324 - 116,323 58,485

c} Other transactions with key management personnel
Other transactions with key management personnel are set out in Note 35d

Further remuneration disclosures are set out in the Directers Report on pages 31 to 44 of the Annuat Report

NOTE 35 RELATED PARTY INFORMATION
a) Brambles
Brambles comprises Brambles Limited and the entities which it controls

Borrowings under the bilateral bank credit facilities are undertaken by a imited number of Brambles subsidiaries Funding of other subsidiaries
within Brambles 1$ by way of ntercompany loans all of which are documented and carry commercial interest rates applicabte to the currency and
terms of the loans

Brambles Limited charges Brambles' borrowers a commercially-determined guarantee fee for the guarantees and cross-guarantees it has given in
relation to borrowing facilities as described in Note 37b
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Dividends are declared within the group only as required for funding or ether commercial reasens
Brambles also has in place cost sharing agreements te ensure that relevant costs are taken up by the entities receiving the benefits
All amounts recevable and payable by entities within Brambles and any interest thereon are eltminated on consaldation

b) Material subsidianes
The principal subsidharies of Brambles during the year were

€ INTEREST HELD AT

REFORTING DATE

NAME PLACE OF TNCORPORATION m

CHEP

CHEP USA USA 100 100
CHEP Canada, Inc Canada 100 100
CHEP UK Limted ux 100 100
CHEP France SA France 100 100
CHEe® Deutschland GmbH Germany 100 100
CHEP Espana SA Spain 100 100
CHEP Mexico SA de CV Mexico 100 100
CHEP Benelux Nederland BV The Netherlands 100 100
CHEP Italia SRL Ttaly 100 100
Brambles Enterprnses Limited UK 100 100
CHEP South Africa {Proprietary) Limited South Africa 100 100
CHEP Australia Limited Australia 100 100
CHEP {Shanghai} Campany Lirmited China 100 100
CHEP Technology Pty Lirmitedt Australia 100 100
CHEP India Pvt Limuted India 100 100
LeanLogsstics Inc USA 100 100
Recall

Recall Limited UK 100 100
Recall France SA France 100 100
Recall Corporation Inc USA 100 100
Recall do Brasil Ltda Brazil 100 100
AUSDOC Holdings Pty Limited Austrabia 100 100
Recall Information Management Pty Limited Austratia 100 100
Recall Deutschland GmbH Germany 100 100
Brambles HQ

Brambles Industries Limited Australia 100 100
Brambles Holdings (UK) Limited UK 100 100
Brambles Internationat Finance BV The Netheriands 100 100
Brambles USA Inc USA 100 100
Brambles North America Incorporated USA 100 loc
8rambles Finance plc UK 100 100
Brambles Finance Limited Australia 100 100

In addition to the list above there are a number of other subsidianies within Brambles which are mostly intermediary holding companies

or are dormant

Investments in subsidiaries are primarily by means of ordinary or comman shares All subsiciaries prapare accounts with a 30 June balance date
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

NOTE 35 RELATED PARTY INFORMATION - CONTINUED
¢} Joint ventures
Brambles’ share of the net results of joint ventures i1s disclosed in Note 18

d) Other transactions

Qther transactions entered into during the year wath Directors of Brambles Limited, with Director-related entities with key management personnel
(KMP, as set out in the Directors Report}, or with KMP-related entities were on terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to
other employees, custemers or suppliers and include transactions (n respect of the employee option plans contracts of employment and
reimbursement of expenses Any other transactions were trivial ar domestic in nature

e) Other related parties

A subsithary has a non-interest bearing advance outstanding as at 30 June 2010 of US51 201 million {2009 USS1 099 million) to Brambles
Custodians Pty Limited the trustee under Brambles employee toan scheme This scheme enabled employees to acquire shares i BIL and has
been closed to new entrants since August 2002

f) Directors’ indemnities
Under 1ts constitution to the extent permitted by law Brambles Limited indemnifies each person who s or has been a Diractor or Secretary of
Brambles Limited against any liability which results from facts or circumstances relating to the person serving or having served in the capacity
of Director Secretary other officer or emptoyee of Brambles Limited or any of «ts subsidiaries other than
(aa) nrespect of a bability other than for legal costs
{iy  alablity owed to Brambles Limited or a related body corporate
(1} aliabiity for a pecumary penalty order under section 1317G of the Act or a compensation order under section 1317H of the Act or
{n) abability that s owed to spmeone {other than Brambles Limited or a related body cerporate) and did not arise out of conduct in good
faith, and
{bb)} inrespect of a Uability for legal costs
(1) indefending or resisting proceedings 1n which the person is found to have a lability for which they ceuld not have been indemnified under
paragraph {aa} (1) above
(n)  sndefending or resisting criminal proceedings in which the person (s found guilty
(m} i defending or resisting proceedings brought by ASIC or a Uiguidator for a court order If the grounds for making the order are found by
the Court to be established or
(v) i connection with proceedings for relief to any persons under the Act in which the Court denies the rebief

Paragraph {bb} () abave does not apply to costs incurred in responding to actions brought by ASIC or a liguidator as part of an investigation before
commencing proceedings for the Court order

As allowed by its constitution Brambles Limited has provided indemmities from time to time to Directors Secretaries or ather Statutory Officers of
its subsidiaries {Beneficiaries) aganst all loss cost and expenses (collectively Loss) caused by or arising from any act or ormission by the relevant
person in performance of that person's role as a Director Secretary or Statutory Officer

The indemmity given by the Company excludes the fotlowing matters

{a) anyLoss ta the extent caused by or arising from an act or omission of the Beneficiary prior to the effective date of the indemnity

(b}  any Loss to the extent indemnity in respect of that Loss I1s prohibited under the Corporations Act {or any other law},

{c} anyLoss te the extent It arises from private or personal acts or omissions of the Beneficiary,

{d) any Loss compnsing the reimbursement of normal day-to-day expenses such as travelling expenses

(e} any Loss to the extent the Beneficiary failed to act reasonably to mitigate the Loss

(£}  any Loss to the extent it 15 caused by or arises from acts or omissions of the Beneficiary after the date the indemnity is revoked by the
Company In accordance with the terms of the indemmity

(g) anyLass to the extent it 1s caused by or arises from any breach by the Beneficiary of the terms of the indemmity

Insurance policies are in place to cover Directors Secretaries and other Statutory Officers of Brambles Limited and its subsidianies however
the terms of the policies prohubit disclosure of the details of the insurance cover and the premiums paid

NOTE 36 EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE
Other than those gutlined in the Directors Report there have been no events that have occurred subsequent to 30 June 2010 and up to the date
of this report that have had a matenal impact on Brambles' financial performance or position
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NOTE 37 PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATICQN
a) Summansed financial data of Brambles Limited

PARENT ENTITY

(Loss)/profit for the year (8.5733) 3471
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 6651 [2718 0}
Total comprehensive income (79082) (23709
Current assets 17 185
Non-current assets 6,6425 19,2677
Total assets 6,6442 192862
Current Liabilities 215 268
Non-current biabilities 466 46038
Total Labiities 681 46306
Net assets 65761 146556
Contributed equity 139796 138476
Share-based payment reserve 282 273
Foreign curvency translation reserve 1,061 5 396 4
Retained earnings (8,493 2) 3843
Total equity 6,5761 14,6556

1 The parent entity 5 loss for 2010 includes a charge of USS9 1 billon after tax against the parent entity s investrment in subsidianes The price of Brambles shares as
quoted on the Australian Secunities Exchange at 30 June 2010 has been used to determine the new carrying value of these investrents This non-cash charge s
reversed on consolidation and does not impact the consolidated financial statements

b} Guarantees and contingent habitibes

Brambles Limited and certain of its substdiaries are parties to a deed of cross-guarantee which supports global financing credit facilities avatlable
to certain Brambles’ subsidiaries Total facilities available amount to USS$2,459 9 miltion {2009 US$2,826 6 million) of which US$527 4 multion
{2009 USS1,640 9 million) has been drawn

Brambles Limited and certain of its subsidiaries are parties to guarantees which support US Private Placement borrowings of US$535 0 million
{2009 LSS535 0 millon) by a subsidiary

Brambles Limited and certain of its subsidiaries are parties to a guarantee which suppart notes of US$750 O million {2008 nil} 1ssued by a
subsidiary to qualified institutional buyers in accordance with Rule 144A and Regulation S of the United States Securities Act

Brambles Limited has guaranteed repayment of certain faciltties and financial accommodations made available to certain Brambles' subsidiaries
Total facilities available amount to US$327 2 million {2009 US$315 9 millon), of which US$130 1 milbion (2009 US$98 8 million) has been drawn

Other than these guarantees the parent entity did not have any contingent liabrlities at 30 June 2010 or 30 June 2009

¢} Contractual commitments
Brambles Limited did not have any contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment at 30 June 2010 or 30 June 2009
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DIRECTORS'
DECLARATION

In the opimon of the Directers of Brambles Limited
{a} the financial statements and notes set out an pages 53 to 113 are in accordance with the Corperations Act 2001 wncluding

() complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professionat reporting
requirements and

(1) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Brambles as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year
ended on that date

{b} there are reasonable grounds to believe that Brambles Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable

A statement of comptiance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
1s inctuded within Note 1 to the financial statements

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by section 295A of the
Corporations Act 2001

This declaration 1s made in accordance with a resclution of the Directors

A

G J KRAEHE A0 T J GORMAN
Chairman Chief Executive Officer
19 August 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF BRAMBLES LIMITED

PRICEAATERHOUSE(COPERS

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52780433757

Darling Park Tower 2

201 Sussex Street

GPQ BOX 2650

SYDNEY NSW 1171

DX 77 Sydney Australia
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999
wWww pwe.com/au

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL REPORT

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Brambles Limited (the Company}, which comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2010
and the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on
that date a summary of significant accounting policies other explanatory notes and the Directors' geclaration for Brambles Brambles comprises
the Company and the entities it controlled at the yesr s end or from time to time during the financial year

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report

The Directors of the Company are respensible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financsal report in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards (inctuding the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001 This respansitility inctudes
establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable inthe circumstances InNote 1 the Directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements that the financial statements comply with Enternational Financial Reporting Standards

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsitlity 15 to express an opwion on the financial report based on our audit We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant eth:cal requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report 1s free from material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report The procedures selected
depend on the auditor s judgement, including the assessment of the rnisks of material misstatement of the financial report whether due to fraud or
error In making those risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an ocpinion en
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control An audit also includes evaluating the apprepriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Oirectors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it contains any maternal inconsistencies with
the financial report

Qur audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by Directors or management
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtamed is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for pur audit epmnions

Independence
In conducting our audit we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001

Auditors’ opimon
In our optmon

{a} the financial report of Brambles Limited 15 1n accordance with the Corporatrons Act 2001, meluding

{0 gwing a true and fair view of Brambles financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year ended on that date and
() complying with Australian Accounting Standards {including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations
Regulations 2001 and
{b} the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT - CONTINUED
TO THE MEMBERS OF BRAMBLES LIMITED

REPORT ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 31 to 44 of the Directors Report for the year ended 30 June 2010 The Directors of
the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporotions
Act 2001 Qur responsibility 15 to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian
Auditing Standards

Auditors’ opinion
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Brambles Limited far the year ended 30 June 2010 complies with section 300A of the Corporations
Act 2001

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

me/’fm W

M G JOHNSON M DOW
Partner Partner
Sydney

19 August 2010
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AUDITORS' INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

PRICEAATERHOUSE( COPERS

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52780433757

Darting Park Tower 2

201 Sussex Street

GPOBOX 2650

SYDNEY NSW 1171

DX 77 Sydney Australia
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999
wwwpwc.com/au

As lead auditor for the audit of Brambles Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, I declare that to the best of my knowledge
and belief, there have been

{a} no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 i relation to the audht and
{b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit

This declaration is in respect of Brambles Limited and the entities it controlled during the pencd

Mok Jebunonn

M G JOHNSON

Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Sydney

19 August 2010
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

Continuing operations

2010
USsM

2009
USSM

2¢08
ussM

2007
Ussm

W0s
ussM

Sales revenue 4,1468 40186 4,3586 38688 3,5221
QOperating profit 7245 7182 10306 7960 7011
Net finance costs {109 6} (120 9) {149 5) {59 9} {111 8)
Profit before tax 6149 5973 8811 7361 589 3
Tax expense {1710} {163 3) {234 2) {302 4) (226 7)
Profit from continuing operations 4439 4340 6469 4337 3626
Profit from discontinued operations 49 186 18 8576 11018
Profit for the year 448 8 452 6 6487 12913 1,464 4
Depreciation and amortisation

Continuing operations 444 0 4246 45886 4043 4120
Discontinued operations - - - - BO7
Capex on property, plant & equipment

Continuing operations 4588 6724 8492 6957 5817
Discontinued operations - - - 247 1828
Cash flow

Cash flaw from operations 8823 7224 8100 8383 7626
Free cash flow 5486 4195 4126 4902 5587
Dividends paid 2045 2776 444 8 6040 2967
Free cash flow after dividends 3441 1419 (322) {113 8) 2630
Balance sheet

Capital employed 33915 35727 39697 34196 46431
Net debt 17593 21434 2,426 2 19969 16901
Equity 16322 14283 1,5435 1,4227 29530
Employees

Continuing operations 12714 12,785 12305 12327 12,249
Discontinued operations - - - 1841 14043
Earnings per share (US cents)

Basic ns 326 460 834 867
From continuing operations 315 313 459 280 215
On Underlying profit after finance costs and tax 319 385 454 373 253
Dividend declared per share {Australian cents)

Intenim and finat 250 300 345 170 250
Special - - - - 345
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GLOSSARY

2001 Option Plans

The Brambles Industries Limited 2001 Executive Share Option Plan and the Brambles Industries
plc 2001 Executive Share Option Plan incorporating Brambies Limited rollover amendments of
22 August 2006

2001 Share Plans The Brambles Industrnes Limited 2001 Executive Performance Share Plan and the Brambles
Industries ple 2001 Executive Performance Share Plan, incorporating Brambles Lirmted rollover
amendments of 22 August 2006

2004 Share Plans The Brambles Industries Limited 2004 Performance Share Plan and the Brambles Industries
ple 2004 Performance Share Plan, mcorporating Brambles Limited rollover amendments of
22 August 2006

2006 Share Plan The Brambles Limited 2006 Performance Share Plan, as amended on 25 Novemnber 2008 and
18 November 2009

Act The Cerporations Act 2001 (Cth)

Actual rates

In the statutory financial statements results are translated into US dollars at the applicable actual
manthly exchange rates ruling in each period '

AGM

Annual General Meeting

ASX

Austrabian Securities Exchange

Average Caprtal Invested

Average Capital Invested or ACI1s a 12 month average of Capital Invested

Capital Invested 1s calculated as net assets before tax balances, cash and borrowings but after
adjustment for accumulated pre-tax Significant items, actuarial gains or losses and net equity
adjustments for equity-settled share-based payments

BIL

Brambies Industries Limited which was one of the two Listed entities in the previously dual-lsted
companies structure

BIP

Brambles Industries plc which was one of the two listed entitees in the previously duat-bsted
companies structure

Board

The Board of Brambles Limited

Brambles or Group

Brambtles Lirmted and all of its related bodies corporate

BVA

Brambles Value Added or BVA represents the value generated over and above the cost of the caprtal
used to generate that value

It 1s calculated using fixed June 2008 exchange rates as

— Underlying profit, plus

— Significant items that are part of the ordinary activities of the business, less

— Average Capital Invested adjusted for accurnulated pre-tax Sigmficant items that are part of the
ordinary activities of the business multiplied by 12%

CAGR

Compound Annual Growth Rate The CAGR of sales revenue 1s the annualised percentage at which
sales revenue would have grown over a penod if it grew at a steady rate

Cash flow from operations

Cash flow generated after net capital expenditure but excluding Significant items that are outside
the ardinary course of business

CGPR The Austraban Securities Exchange Corporate Governance Council Corporate Governance Principles
and Recommendations

Company Brambtes Limited {ACN 118 896 021)

Constant currency Constant currency results are presented by translating both current and comparable periad results

into US dollars at the actual monthly exchange rates applicable i the comparable persed so as to
show retative performance between the two periods before the translation impact of currency
fluctuations

Continuing cperations

Continuing operations refers to CHEP, Recall and Brambles HQ

Discontinued operations

Operations which have been divested or which are held for sale

DLC

Dual-listed companies structyure - the previous contractual arrangement between Brambles
Industries Linuted and Brambles Industries plc under which they operated as if they were a single
economic enterprise whilst retaining thewr separate legal identities tax residences and stock
exchange listings BIL and BIP operated as a DLC from August 2001 to December 2006
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GLOSSARY - CONTINUED

DMS Document Management Solutiens, a Recall service Line

OPS Data Protection Services a Recall service line

EBITDA Earnings hefore interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation EBITDA s defined as Operating profit
from continuing operations after adding back depreciation and amortisation and Significant items
outside the ordinary course of business

EPS Earmngs per share

Free cash flow

Cash flow generated after net capital expenditure, finance costs and tax but excluding the net cost
of acquisitions and proceeds from business disposals

fx Foreign exchange

FY10 or Year The 2010 financial year commencing 1 July 2009 and ending 30 June 2010

FY11 The 2011 financial year commencing 1 July 2010 and ending 30 June 2011

Group or Brambles Brarmbles Limited and all of 1ts retated bodies corporate

IBC Intermediate Bulk Container, for the transport and storage of bulk products

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards Brambles reports its financial results under Australian
Accounting Standards which are compliant with IFRS

IPEP Irrecoverable pooling equipment provision

KPI(s) Key Performance Indicator(s)

LSE London Stock Exchange

LTI Long Term Incentive

LTIFR Lost Time Injury Freguency Rate

LTISR Lost Time Injury Severity Rate

OHS&E Occupational Health Safety and Environment

MyShare The Brambles Limited MyShare Plan an all employee share plan under which employees acquire

ordinary shares by means of deductions from their after-tax pay and must hold those shares for a
twao year period If they hold those shares and remain employed at the end of the two year period,
then Brambtes will match the number of shares they hotd by 1ssuing or transferring to them the same
number of shares which they held for the gualifying penod at no additional cost to the employee

Net new business wins

The change n sales revenue In a peried resulting from business won or lost in that period and the
previous 12 months Net new business is calcutated on a censtant currency basis

PAT Profit After Tax

RFID Radio Frequency Ldentification

ROCI Return on Capital Invested or ROCI 1s calculated as Underlying profit divided by Average Capital
Invested

RPC Reusable Ptastic Container generally used for shtpment and display of produce items

SDs Secure Destruction Services a Recall service line

Significant items

Sigmficant items are items of ncome or expense which are, either individually or in aggregate,

matenal to Brambles or to the relevant business segment and

- outside the ordinary course of business {e g gams or losses on the sale or termination of
operations the cost of sigmficant resrganisations or restructuring) or

- part of the ordinary activities of the business but unusual due to ther size and nature

STL Short Term Incentive
TFR Totat Fixed Remuneration
TSR Total Sharehotder Return TSR measures the returns that a company has provided for its shareholders,

reftecting share price movements and reinvestment of dividends over a specified performance
period Under the 2006 Share Plan, TSR 1s normally calculated on the average daily closing share
prices n the three months immediately preceding the start of a period and the end of a period

Underlying profit

Undertying profit 1s profit from continuing operations before finance costs tax and Significant items

Unification

The unification of the dual-lsted companies structure which eperated between Brambtes Industries
Limited and Brambles Industries plc under a new single Australian halding company, Brambles
Limited, which took place in December 2006
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Insight Creative Limited Auckland Wellington Sydney BRAMOZ1

INVESTOR
INFORMATION

BRAMBLES LIMITED
Level 40 Gateway

1 Macquarie Place

Sydney NSW 2000

Australia

Telephone 61 {Q) 9256 5222
Facsimile 61 () 9256 5299
Website www brambles com

Brambles Limited has a primary lsting on the
Australian Securities Exchange The globat
headquarters of Brambles 1s in Sydney,
Australia

All currency amounts in this report are in
US dollars unless otherwise specified

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The AGM will be held at 2 00pm {AEDT)
on Thursday 18 November 2010 at

The Wesley Theatre
Wesley Conference Centre
220 Pitt Street

Sydney NSW 2000

A Live webcast of the meeting wilt be
broadcast on www brambles com

DIVIDEND

The Directors have declared a final dividend
of L2 5 Australian cants per share which will
be 20% franked The dividend will be paid on
Thursday, 14 October 2010

Sharehotders may elect to receive dividend
payments in Australian dollars or Pounds
sterling by contacting Brambles share
registry Link Market Services Limited

The relevant contact details are set out

in Shareholder Information on page 50

BRAMBLES BUSINESS UNITS

CHEP Americas

8517 South Park Circle

Orlando FL 32819-9040

United States of America
Telephone 1 407 370 2437
Facsimile 1 407 363 5354

Email chep_americas@chep com
Website www chep com

CHEP EMEA

Weybridge Business Park
Addlestone Road Addlestone
Surrey KTL5 2UP

United Kingdom

Telephone 44 (0) 1832 850 085
Facsimile 44 (0) 1932 850 144
Email infc emea@chep com
Website www chep com

CHEP Asia-Pacific

Level 6, Bullding C

11 Talavera Road

North Ryde NSW 2113
Australia

Telephone 61 (Q) 2 9856 2437
Facsimile 61 {0) 2 9856 2404
Email ap marketing@chep com
Website www chep com

Recall

One Recall Center

180 Technology Parkway
Norcross GA 30092

United States of America
Telephone 1770 776 1000
Facsimile 1770 776 1001

Email recall communicatiens@recall com

Website www recall com
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